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OUR REPORT

About the annual report

Legislative requirements
This report has been prepared to meet the requirements of section 28 of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA), section 11 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and Part 9 of the 
Information Act 2002 and contains information about the department’s: 

 – primary functions and objectives

 – activities undertaken during the year against budget outputs

 – significant initiatives, achievements and outcomes

 – financial management and performance

 – compliance and risk management.

Report structure 

The report contains a message from the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and comprises 5 key sections:

1

2

3

4

5

Our department
Outlines the department’s vision, purpose, priorities, governance and structure.

Our achievements
A summary of the department’s progress and achievements against the planned outcomes 
outlined in  Budget Paper No. 3 and the department’s Strategic Priorities.

Our people
An overview of the department’s people, human resource management and compliance  
with legislative requirements.

Our financial overview
The department’s financial statements and related disclosures.

Appendices
Additional information that is adjunct to the main report.

The report is published online at industry.nt.gov.au

Alternative document formats are available upon request from the department.

The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade (DITT) Annual Report 
summarises our activities in the 2020–21 financial year, and our achievements 
against Budget Paper No. 3 and the department’s Strategic priorities.
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OUR REPORT

Message from the CEO

To realise this ambitious target, the new department was 
formed in September 2020. Achieving this economic 
growth, has and will continue to be, the focus of the 
department’s work. 

The Territory is currently a $26 billion economy. Achieving 
this target is possible if we grow at an average of 5 per cent 
annually. This will in turn create 35,000 new jobs and drive the 
population above 300,000, delivering a strong economy that 
supports a safe and healthy community for all Territorians.

The new department brings together functions from a 
number of former agencies, to foster a greater level of agility, 
flexibility and quicker decision making across government. 

To create a $40 billion economy by 2030, the department 
will support our key industries to grow including mining, 
defence, primary industries, tourism, renewable energy, 
screen and international education.

Bringing the licensing functions to this new department 
will help to achieve our target of having the most efficient 
approval processes in Australia for business licensing and 
approvals to start and grow a business.

I am extremely proud of what our team produced in  
2020-21 and how quickly the team adapted, and responded 
to Coronavirus (COVID-19), to support Territory businesses 
and workers. We also delivered new initiatives and 
projects and promoted and advocated for new investment 
opportunities, while our new department evolved. 

The Territory’s Department of Industry, 
Tourism and Trade is on a mission – to 
help business and industry recover 
from the economic impacts of the global 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) crisis and 
create a $40 billion economy by 2030.

I would like to recognise the 
tremendous amount of hard 
work and progress achieved 
by our staff. 

Our teams continually show a dedication and a commitment 
to the Territory and its sustainable growth. I am very proud 
of their achievements and know they will continue to do a 
tremendous job as we move towards an exciting future. 

Shaun Drabsch  
Chief Executive Officer  
30 September 2021

I would like to acknowledge some of the standout 
achievements of the department this past year: 

 – authorised 5 major mine approvals over 12 months to help 
strategically position us as a globally significant industry hub

 – began developing the Agribusiness Strategy in 
collaboration with industry, recognising that agriculture is 
Australia’s fastest growing sector

 – delivered 20 economic response and ongoing grant 
programs to provide targeted support to Territory 
businesses throughout the pandemic, as well as during the 
current rebound period

 – provided support for the hospitality and tourism sector by 
generating $26.7 million in gross sales through delivery of 
the highly successful Territory Tourism Voucher across  
3 rounds, and with another still to come

 – supported delivery of the Can-Do Territory portal, making 
it easier to seek licences and renew certain businesses as a 
first step in a longer-term project

 – increased our biosecurity capabilities with the launch of the 
new level 3 biosecurity containment Molecular Laboratory 

 – showcased the Territory’s unique attributes and our 
industry capabilities at key events and programs both 
locally and nationally such as the Australian Petroleum 
Production & Exploration Association oil and gas 
conference and the Northern Territory Cattlemen’s 
Association conference (NTCA).



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade8 

OUR REPORT



1 Our department

About us 10

Our Ministers 10

Our vision and key principles 10

Our strategic priorities 11

Our corporate governance 12

Internal audits 13

External audits 13

Freedom of Information applications  14 
under the Information Act 2002

Work health and safety 15

Our structure      16



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade10 

OUR DEPARTMENT

Our Ministers

At 30 June 2021, the department reported to the following Ministers:

About us

The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade (DITT) was 
established by the Northern Territory Government (NTG)
in September 2020. The department supports industry 
development through globally competitive strategy, policy 
and promotion and delivers a regulatory framework that 
enables responsible growth, market access and  
stakeholder certainty.

Our vision and key principles 

The Hon Natasha Fyles, MLA
 – Minister for Tourism and Hospitality
 – Minister for Major Events
 – Minister for Racing, Gaming and Licensing
 – Minister for Alcohol Policy

The Hon Paul Kirby, MLA
 – Minister for Small Business
 – Minister for Jobs and Training
 – Minister for Recreational Fishing
 – Minister for Veterans Affairs'

The Hon Nicole Manison, MLA
 – Minister for Mining and Industry
 – Minister for Northern Australia and Trade
 – Minister for Defence Industries
 – Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture
 – Minister for International Education

The Hon Eva Lawler, MLA
 – Minister for Renewables and Energy
 – Minister for Essential Services

OUR VISION

To support achievement of ‘a $40 billion economy by 2030 through 
the growth of sustainable and competitive industries’.

KEY PRINCIPLES 

 – focus on outcomes and responsibly engage with risk 

 – collaborative and solutions focused 

 – customer, client and commercial focus 

 – driven by science, evidence and strategy 

 – value diversity and catalyse strengths 

 – improving productivity 

 – pursue and capture opportunities 

 – proactive, responsive and adaptive in our approach 

 – build trust in our integrity 

 – informed, accountable and influential leadership,  
and an empowered workforce.

The department also fosters capability and capacity of 
business to be profitable, resilient and sustainable, advances 
research and innovation to bridge knowledge gaps, 
identifies opportunities and brokers solutions, harnesses 
opportunities to attract visitors, trade and commerce 
and proactively promotes the value and strengths of the 
Territory, its people and regions. 
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OUR DEPARTMENT

Our strategic priorities

Support and advocate industry development through globally 
competitive strategy, policy and promotion.

Deliver a regulatory framework that enables responsible growth, 
secures market access and provides certainty and timeliness for 
stakeholders to increase the ease of doing business.

Grow a skilled, agile and capable workforce to meet business  
and community needs now and for future demand.

Foster and build capability and capacity of businesses  
to be profitable, resilient and sustainable.

Advance research and innovation to bridge knowledge gaps, identify 
opportunities and broker solutions to secure the Territory’s future.

Harness opportunities to attract visitors, trade and commerce, building 
on competitive advantages and strategic relationships.

Proactively market and promote the value and strengths  
of the Territory, its people and regions.

Deliver valued services through a highly skilled, professional, engaged 
and trusted workforce.



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade12 

OUR DEPARTMENT

Our corporate governance

The DITT governance framework guides the agency to 
deliver the expected public standards of accountability, 
probity and transparency in our day-to-day operations. It also 
outlines the mechanisms and processes necessary to achieve 
robust and sound public sector corporate governance and in 
turn, ensure effective decision making to meet our service 
delivery, corporate and legislative obligations. 

Risk  
Management  

and Audit 
Committee

Information  
Management 
Committee

Work Health  
and Safety 
Committee

 – Workplace 
Committees

 – Tourism NT

 – NT Major Events 
Company

 – NT Build Register

 – Critical Goods  
and Services 
Functional Group

 – Biosecurity and 
Animal Welfare 
Funcional Group

Emergency  
Management  
Committee

People, Culture  
and Change 

Management 
Committee

Executive 
Management 

Group

Tourism, Services 
and Hospitality

Strategy  
and Policy

Agriculture, 
Fisheries and 

Defence

Mining  
and Energy

Business and 
Workforce

Governance  
and Finance

St
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Policies, system and processes

V
ision, purpose and values (incl. key principles - how

 w
e do business)

Hon Natasha Fyles Hon Eva Lawler Hon Paul KirbyHon Nicole Manison

Board of ManagementShaun Drabsch 
Chief Executive Officer

OUR PEOPLE

Our corporate governance framework is based on the 
department’s responsibilities under the Administrative 
Arrangements Order and our accountability and compliance 
with the financial management frameworks. 

The department is also responsible for the administration 
of a number of statutory and non-statutory authorities and 
boards as detailed at Appendix C.

DITT GOVERNANCE
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Internal audits

The department provides objective assurance of its activities 
through the internal audit function, with reports provided to 
the Risk Management and Audit Committee (RMAC).

The internal audit program is designed to provide assurance 
to the CEO that the department’s systems and its internal 

Audit Scope/Objective

Compliance with NT Procurement Rules  
and Value for Territory Assurance Program

Review of the department’s compliance with the Procurement Rules and  
Buy Local Plan as part of the Value for Territory assurance program.

Management of negotiable instruments Assess compliance with Treasurer’s Directions and review internal controls 
for the management of departmental negotiable instruments. 

Management of departmental registered 
firearms 

Assess the management of firearm acquisitions, possession, use and disposal 
of registered firearms as required by the Firearms Act 1997 and departmental 
policy and procedures. 

Territory Voucher Program – Round 3 Assess processes, risk mitigation, strategies and compensating controls to 
ensure the program’s objectives are being met economically, efficiently and 
effectively. 

External audits

The Northern Territory Auditor-General conducted audit 
reviews on our compliance, internal controls, procedures 
and practices in accordance with the Audit Act 1995. 

controls (designed to manage the department’s risk and 
achieve its objectives) are operating in an efficient and 
effective manner.

A summary of internal audits undertaken during the  
2020-21 year are below:

A summary of external and performance management 
system audits undertaken during the 2020-21 year are 
below:

Audit Scope/Objective

2019-20 End of Year Review The objective of the review was to review the adequacy of the selected 
aspects of end of year controls over reporting, accounting and material 
financial transactions and balances of the audit.

2020-21 Agency Compliance Audit The audit examined selected aspects of systems in use by the department, 
as required by Treasurer’s Direction Part 3, Section 1 and Procurement 
Governance Policy and Procurement Rules which set out the Accountable 
Officer’s responsibilities in respect of the financial management of the 
department, with the objective of obtaining reasonable assurance that those 
requirements were being achieved. 

Performance Management System Audit 
COVID-19 Stimulus Initiative – Gaming Tax

To assess the performance management systems and processes implemented 
to manage the waived gaming machine tax initiative implemented as part of 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) recovery measures. 

Performance Management System Audit 
COVID-19 Stimulus Initiatives 
Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan

To assess the performance management systems in place at the former 
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation (DTBI) that enable it to manage 
the stimulus initiatives implemented as part of Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
recovery measures.
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Freedom of Information applications under the Information Act 2002

For further information about FOI requests, please contact 
the department’s Information Officer:

Information Officer 
Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade

GPO BOX 3200 
DARWIN NT 0801

08 8999 2314

FOI.DITT@nt.gov.au

Type of application 2020–21
Applications received 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 32

Applications carried over from previous year 13

Applications finalised 31

Applications transferred 5

Applications carried forward into the following year 9

Internal review of department’s decision finalised 4

Privacy complaints received 1

The Information Act 2002 combines laws relating to Freedom 
of Information (FOI), privacy, and records. It also establishes 
the framework by which the department collects and 
handles personal information.

During 2020-21, the department managed 45 FOI 
applications for government or personal information under 
the Information Act 2002. 

The table below provides information about FOI applications 
for 2020-21.

The department has a dedicated FOI Officer
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Work health and safety 

The department recognises health and wellbeing within our 
workplaces is critical. We understand our responsibility to 
provide a safe and healthy working environment for all our 
employees, contractors and visitors.

The department promotes a proactive health and safety 
management system based on effective communication, 
assessment and control of hazards, and the active promotion 
of safety leadership and personal accountability for work 
health and safety (WHS) at all levels of the workforce.

The highest standards of WHS practices are integrated 
into all work areas, management systems and operations 
to prevent injury and illness, and promote wellbeing in the 
workplace.

The DITT WHS Management Committee, as a subcommittee 
of the Board of Management (BOM), oversee the 
development of policies, procedures and strategies to 
manage WHS risks across the department and provide 
guidance to workplace committees. The Committee’s role 
also includes the monitoring of reported incidents and the 
implemented controls.

Gallagher Bassett is the workers compensation agent 
that manages all workers compensation claims across the 
Northern Territory Public Sector (NTPS). The number of 
workers compensation claims for 2020-21 is listed below.

Reported incidents and hazards 2020–21
Being hit by objects 5

Body stress 4

Chemicals and substances 3

Environmental factors 2

Hitting objects 2

Mental factors 1

Slips, trips and falls 11

Vehicle incidents / other* 16

Total incidents reported 44

Total hazards identified 20

*includes non-work related injuries and incidents.

Workers compensation claims 2020–21
Number of cases open at the start of the 
reporting period

13

Number of new cases 10

Number of reopened claims 3

Number of cases closed 15

Number of cases open at the close of 
reporting period

11

Total cost of claims $419,267

Angelo Razafimamonjy from the department’s mining team at 
drone training
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OUR DEPARTMENT

DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY, TOURISM AND TRADE
Shaun Drabsch
Chief Executive Officer
Senior Executive Assistant: Ben Richardson

OUR STRUCTURE as at 30 June 2021

BUSINESS  
AND WORKFORCE

Catherine White
General Manager

Executive Assistant: Suzanne Milford 

Business and Workforce  
Management Team
Engagement and Delivery
Bill Sankey
Executive Director Territory Engagement 
and Delivery

Stephen Gelding
Executive Director Occupational Licensing  
and Associations

Workforce
Tracy Clark
Executive Director Strategy and Partnerships

Business
Julie Jenkins
Executive Director Business

The Business and Workforce 
division works with local 
businesses and organisations to 
upskill and train current and new 
employees. 
The division delivers practical 
tools to help local businesses and 
organisations plan, start and grow. 
A range of funding and grants 
are available to support local 
businesses.

MINING  
AND ENERGY

Anne Tan
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Executive Assistant: Sarah Robinson

Mining and Energy 
Management Team
Mines
Armando Padovan
Senior Executive Director Mines

NT Geological Survey
Ian Scrimgeour
Senior Executive Director  
NT Geological Survey

Energy Development
James Pratt
Senior Executive Director 
Energy Development

Office of Sustainable Energy
James McKay
Executive Director Sustainable Energy

The Mining and Energy division 
facilitates the sustainable 
development of Territory resources 
and renewable energy initiatives.
The division delivers the Territory 
Government’s commitment to 
reduce energy costs, improve 
energy reliability and reduce 
emissions from power generation.
The division plays a crucial role 
in developing and delivering the 
Northern Territory’s energy policy 
and regulation requirements.

AGRICULTURE, 
FISHERIES  

AND DEFENCE
Luke Bowen

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Executive Assistant: Vanessa McCall 

Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Defence  
Management Team
Fisheries
Ian Curnow 
Senior Executive Director Fisheries

Biosecurity and  
Animal Welfare
Lorraine Corowa
Senior Executive Director  
Biosecurity and Animal Welfare

Agriculture
Phillip Hausler
Senior Executive Director Agriculture

Civil and Defence
Vacant
Senior Director Civil and Defence Industry

The Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Defence division is responsible 
for supporting and protecting 
the Territory’s agriculture and 
fishing industries and provides 
information on defence projects 
and presence.
This division has important 
linkages to other sectors of the 
economy, including retail and 
wholesale trade, manufacturing 
and transport.
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DEPARTMENT OF INDUSTRY, TOURISM AND TRADE
Shaun Drabsch
Chief Executive Officer
Senior Executive Assistant: Ben Richardson

TOURISM, SERVICES  
AND HOSPITALITY

Andrew Hopper
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Executive Assistant: Glynis Abbott 

Tourism, Services and 
Hospitality  
Management Team
Services and Hospitality
Philip Timney
Executive Director Liquor Licensing, 
Racing and Gaming

Jennie Hughes
Director Screen Territory

Rachael Shanahan
Director StudyNT

Tourism
Tony Quarmby
Executive Director Marketing

Valerie Smith
Acting Executive Director 
Industry Development

The Tourism, Services and 
Hospitality division is responsible 
for promoting the Territory as a 
must-do, unique holiday and study 
destination. 
The division also works to 
strengthen the workforce by 
delivering industry development 
for the tourism, hospitality and 
screen sectors. 
The division is also responsible for 
delivering appropriate licensing 
regulation.

GOVERNANCE  
AND FINANCE

Ben Tuffnell
Acting Executive Director 

Executive Assistant: Vacant

Governance and Finance  
Management Team
Finance
Joanna Frankenfeld
Chief Financial Officer

Strategy, Performance and 
Governance
Toni Cutler
Acting Director Strategy, Performance and 
Governance

Emergency Management and 
Work Health and Safety
Graeme Steer 
Director Emergency Management and Work 
Health and Safety 

Office of the Chief Executive 
Officer
Andrew Hurwood
Acting Director Office of the  
Chief Executive Officer

The Governance and Finance 
branch includes Finance, 
Strategy Performance and 
Governance, Emergency 
Management and the Office of the 
Chief Executive Officer.

STRATEGY  
AND POLICY

Scott Lovett
Acting General Manager

Executive Assistant: Krystine Paice-Brown 

Strategy and Policy  
Management Team
Strategic Policy and Reform
Philip Chang
Executive Director Economic Reform

Strategic Engagement
Wendy Pritchard
Senior Director Strategic Engagement

Industry Strategy
Joseph Kuhn
Senior Director Industry Strategy

The Strategy and Policy division 
delivers whole-of-government 
economic development policies, 
strategies and projects.
The key focus of division is to 
inform and influence government 
decision-making and implement 
strategies to drive economic 
reform, industry development, 
strategic trade and investment. 
The division works collaboratively 
with other Territory Government’s 
departments to ensure 
consistency. 
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OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Support and advocate industry development through globally competitive 
strategy, policy and promotion.

 – advanced industry strategies, including: 
 · release of the Territory’s first ever Renewable Hydrogen Strategy
 · release of tourism destination management plans for the Big Rivers, Barkly, Alice Springs and 

MacDonnell Ranges, and Lasseter regions
 · delivery of the Territory Space Investment 2020 Action Plan  
 · finalised Value for Territory Framework changes to support Buy Local initiatives 

 – delivered a range of business events and forums including October Business Month, NT Training 
Awards, the Annual Geoscience Exploration Seminar (AGES) Conference and the Barkly Mining 
and Energy Services Forum.  

Deliver a regulatory framework that enables responsible growth, secures 
market access and provides certainty and timeliness for stakeholders to 
increase the ease of doing business.

 – established the Petroleum Regulations 2020, providing clarity for Territory landholders and the 
petroleum industry through land access agreements

 – implemented the Liquor Act 2019, so that a digital driver’s licence can be used with the Banned 
Drinkers Register (BDR) when purchasing alcohol 

 – continued work on business policy and legislation reforms to streamline regulatory processes. 

Grow a skilled, agile and capable workforce to meet business and 
community needs now and for future demand.

 – support for registered training organisations (RTOs) to upgrade their Vocational Education  
and Training (VET) facilities  

 – funded 2250 apprenticeship and traineeship commencements

 – support for international students 

 – advocated to support more places for skilled workers in the Territory.  

Foster and build capability and capacity of businesses to be profitable, 
resilient and sustainable.

 – assisted in significant economic development initiatives through ‘Local Decision Making’ 
agreements with Aboriginal communities 

 – one-on-one engagement with businesses through Small Business Champions  

 – assistance for export businesses with international marketing activities 

 – support for Aboriginal people interested in starting or expanding their existing businesses.  

Our highlights
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ICON

ICON

ICON

ICON

Advance research and innovation to bridge knowledge gaps, identify 
opportunities and broker solutions to secure the Territory’s future.

 – increased our biosecurity capabilities with the completion of the new Molecular Laboratory at the 
Berrimah Farm Science Precinct in partnership with the Australian Government

 – the completion of the field services building at Berrimah Farm Science Precinct

 – led the Women’s Innovation Pitch, a first-of-its-kind innovation competition designed to encourage 
and support more women to develop and commercialise their business ideas in the Territory 

 – supported Health in trialling use of drones to deliver health care in remote communities,  
a first for the Territory.

 – supported the innovation games

 – provided opportunities to connect businesses with innovative technologies and networks.

Harness opportunities to attract visitors, trade and commerce, building on 
competitive advantages and strategic relationships.

 – delivered with agility and flexibility, the tourism destination marketing campaign

 – improved visitor experiences through visitor experience enhancement program projects and 
roadhouse to recovery projects 

 – supported the NT Major Events Company (NTMEC) to use events as a trigger to grow holiday 
visitation 

 – progressed development of the International Engagement, Trade and Industry strategy. 

Proactively market and promote the value and strengths of the Territory, 
its people and regions.

 – supported population growth through the Worker Attraction Programs including initiatives  
to target specific workforce shortages such as melon farmers and hospitality workers  

 – raised the Territory’s profile as a trade and investment destination through a number of 
delegations, including the high-level European Union delegation to the Territory in 2021 and a 
joint seminar with the Japanese Consulate-General of Japan, in Sydney.  

Deliver valued services through a highly skilled, professional, engaged  
and trusted workforce.

 – implemented significant agency reform to deliver Machinery of Government (MoG) changes 

 – established new organisational structure aligned with the strategic priorities for the new agency 

 – delivered a wide variety of services, programs and support to industry within budget

 – rapidly developed and implemented 20 grant programs to support business through impacts of 
Coronavirus (COVID-19).
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COVID-19 response

The department delivered a range of immediate 
support packages for businesses affected by 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) to protect Territorians 
– their health, their jobs, their businesses and the 
economy. 

The department continued its role in leading 
business recovery initiatives and provided 
information to businesses as changes occurred. 

Emergency operations centre 
The department contributed to the ongoing NTG 
Emergency Operations Centre delivering ‘Critical 
Goods and Services’, ‘Biosecurity and Animal 
Welfare’ functions to ensure continuous operation 
of supply chains for critical goods, including food 

and medical supplies, into and within the Territory and to 
those most isolated and vulnerable. This included ensuring 
that animals were cared for during emergencies such as the 
Jilkminggan and Daly River floods and the support of animals 
affected as a result of Coronavirus (COVID-19) Top End and 
Alice Springs lockdown.

Jobs First Plan – delivering programs to 
support business recovery
As a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) restrictions upon 
travel, the Territory Government delivered the Jobs First 
Plan offering subsidies to support businesses in the Territory, 
with the aim of protecting existing jobs, creating new 
jobs, and preparing Territorians for the jobs of the future. 
Initiatives included:

JobMaker Booster 

To supplement 
and extend the 

Commonwealth’s 
JobMaker hiring credit

Roadhouse 
 to Recovery Fund 

To help upgrade 
infrastructure and 

amenities at roadhouses 
and wayside inns

Territory Small 
Business Saver Grant 

To help businesses 
reduce their  

ongoing costs

Territory  
Small Business Customer 

Experience Grant 

To help small businesses 
looking to enhance their 

customer experience

Territory Small Business 
Pivot Grant 

To help businesses adapt 
to the new economic 

environment

Territory Small Business 
Financial Fitness Fund

Helping businesses 
improve their financial 

knowledge and 
sustainability

Territory Small Business 
Supply Chain Solver 

To help find solutions 
to supply chain issues 

affecting Territory 
businesses

Get SET in the NT program

Supporting school leavers 
to study in the Territory, 
earn in the Territory, and 

train in the Territory
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Home Improvement Scheme  $100M

Program launched in March 2020 – all vouchers were 
processed by December 2020

To support trades and contractors, and to help small 
business survive, by progressing around 20,000 
screwdriver-ready projects in Territory homes.

Small Business Survival Fund  $50M

Program launched in March 2020 across 3 phases  
– the final phase was launched in May 2020 (rebound 
grants) all processed by September 2020

To help small business survive the unprecedented 
economic impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19) and pivot 
to accommodate the new operating environment.

Business Improvement Grants  $20M

Program launched in March 2020 – all vouchers were 
processed before December 2020 

To support trade and contractors, and keep cash 
flowing, through grants of up to $20,000 to businesses 
to make improvements to commercial premises.

Immediate Work Grants  $5M

The first round ($5 million) was launched in March 2020 – 
applications were processed by August

The second round ($10 million) was launched in September 
2020 – applications were processed by March 2021 

To support trades and contractors, and keep cash 
flowing, through grants of up to $100,000 to not-for-
profit organisations to make permanent improvements 
to their premises.

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Value of 
approved works 

in 2019-20

Approved  
funding in  
2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2019-20

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2019-20

Number of supported 
businesses in  

2020-21

12,414

542

509

170

111$106.6 M

$11.5M

$10.2M

$10.3M

$2.7M$178M

$21.6M

$17.1M

$19.3M

Home and Business Battery Scheme
Funding for the installation of batteries and inverters 
to create local jobs while moving towards the plan for 
50 per cent renewables by 2030.

In addition, the dramatic reduction in international migrants 
due to Coronavirus (COVID-19) meant the bulk of the 
workers for the Territory needed to come from within 
Australia, which was impacted by significant competition 
with other States and Territories. As a result, a $2 million 
critical worker support package to support the hospitality 
and tourism industries was initiated to alleviate pressures 
around a worker shortfall as well as a $745,000 package 
to support melon farmers, who were equally impacted 
by a worker shortfall, traditionally filled by overseas and 
seasonal workers.
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Territory’s Jobs First Plan 
The focus of the plan is on protecting existing jobs, creating new jobs and preparing Territorians for the jobs of the future. 

 

The JobMaker Booster  $7.8M
Initiative opened on 15 December 2020 - applications  
still open 
To supplement and extend the Commonwealth’s 
JobMaker hiring credit scheme providing small 
businesses with funding to employ people.

The Roadhouse to Recovery Fund   $4M
First round closed in January 2021 with successful 
recipients announced in February 2021

Second round opened in June 2021 with applications 
accepted until 30 August 2021

To support regional roadhouses, wayside inns and 
remote caravan parks to improve the visitor and 
tourism experience with upgrades to infrastructure 
and amenities. 

Value of approved 
works in 2020-21 

Approved applications  
in 2020-21 

35 $7.41M

*Please note that 3 of the projects are not proceeding.

  

The Territory Small Business Saver Grant  $5M
Applications opened 15 February 2021 and closed on  
28 March 2021

To help local small businesses impacted by Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) to reduce overall ongoing costs.

The Territory Small Business  $5M 
Customer Experience Grant  
Applications opened on 15 January 2021 and closed on 28 
February 2021
A one-off grant for businesses looking to enhance  
the customer experience they offer for locals and 
visitors alike.

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

6 128$124,463 $3.48M$232,746 $6.51M

Parap Markets
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– Workforce Development  $5.2M

– NTG graduate program 

– Get SET in the NT program 

Launched on 13 November 2020. EOIs for the training 
element closed on 31 December 2020

To support 2020 Year 12 school leavers to study in 
the Territory, earn in the Territory, and train in the 
Territory in 2021.
education.nt.gov.au/school-programs-and-initiatives/ 
get-set-in-the-nt

Continuing with  
on-the-job 

 paid training 

Supported traineeships 
with the NTPS

100 31

 

 

The Territory Small Business Pivot Grant   $4M
Opened in November 2020 - applications closed  
February 2021

Matched funding to help small businesses build 
capability and profitability through improved business 
performance and access to new markets.

The Territory Small Business $2M  
Financial Fitness Fund 
Applications are still open

To help businesses build a better understanding of  
their financial position and develop strategies to 
improve sustainability including financial fitness 
training.

Value of 
approved works 

in 2020-21

Approved 
funding

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

Approved 
applications 
in 2020-21

128

11

$1.66M

$2M

$3.11M

 

The Territory Small Business Supply  $2M 
Chain Solver
Applications opened in February 2021 and closed in  
March 2021
To assist Territory businesses experiencing difficulties 
with supply chain challenges to target localised solutions.

Applications submitted 
(2 have been cancelled and the other  

7 require further information)

9

Small hospitality businesses benefit from small business grants
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Hospitality and tourism support  
and engagement 
The Territory’s Tourism, Services and Hospitality industries 
have been devastated by the impact of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19). Along with the cessation of international 
travel due to the closure of Australia’s international borders 
to protect the Australian community, ongoing hotspot 
declarations in domestic jurisdictions have, and will continue 
to disrupt interstate travel and consumer confidence.  
This landscape is expected to remain for much of 2021-22 
until borders open and stay open.

Despite the challenges, the department took an adaptive and 
innovative approach, with a clear objective of delivering on 
annual goals while evolving longer-term plans to suit.  
A range of specific programs were also introduced to support 
the sector.

In round 1, which ran from 1 July – 31 October 2020:
 – 24,703 vouchers were redeemed

 – $9.7 million was generated into the economy

In round 2, which ran from 2 November – 31 January 2021:
 – 20,006 vouchers were redeemed

 – $7.6 million was generated into the economy

The Territory tourism  
voucher scheme was a   $16.2M 
package initiated to support the Northern 
Territory’s tourism and hospitality industry, 
generating $26.7 million in gross sales.

Tourism voucher scheme

Hot air ballooning in Alice Springs
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In round 3, which ran from 1 February – 30 April 2021:
 – 24,317 vouchers were redeemed

 – $9.4 million was generated into the economy

Across all 3 rounds, $26.7 million was generated in gross sales.

Business and industry support and 
engagement 
A dedicated team from across the department continued to 
provide support to businesses from all sectors, to navigate the 
operating and economic impacts of Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
restrictions. 

 – The Territory Business Centres, as the front-line contact 
centre for the Jobs First programs, processed 7,688 calls. 

 – Worked with the Chamber of Commerce and Business 
Enterprise Centre NT to expand the reach and access 
and enable additional support and professional advice to 
small to medium enterprises impacted by Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) 

 – Worked closely with hospitality and tourism industry 
representatives and the Department of Health to 
understand and champion the needs of these businesses

 – 455 businesses were approved under the Business 
Hardship Register program, to apply for financial relief, 
including relief from charges by government, local councils 
and some utility providers. 

Workforce support 
To support impacted and displaced workers and provide 
upskilling and reskilling opportunities for workers to meet 
the changing needs of Territory employers in response to 
Coronavirus (COVID-19), the department: 

 – Rapidly delivered the Territory Jobs Hub to connect 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) impacted workers with new 
jobs, with a total of 300 successful connections between 
job seekers and NT employers. Since its launch in March 
2020, the Territory Jobs Hub has provided services to 
2,823 Territory job seekers and 209 Territory employers 
over a 12-month period. 3,203 connection requests sent 
by employers and 1,286 of them have been accepted by 
job seekers.

 – In partnership with registered training organisations, 
developed 70 free or low-cost short courses to upskill 
and reskill workers displaced as a result of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) or supporting critical worker shortages.

 – In partnership with the Australian Government, worked 
with 9 local registered training organisations to develop 
a low-cost infection control training program which 
continues to be rolled out across the Territory. 

 – Provided further financial support to the Australian 
Apprenticeships Support Network to ensure additional 
servicing was provided to employers and apprentices so 
that the commencement, retention and completion of 
apprentices and trainees in the Territory could continue. 

 – Increased advocacy on behalf of temporary migrants 
and international students for support services 
through StudyNT. In 2021, the Australian Government 
announced a temporary relaxation of restricted hours for 
international students working in the hospitality sector. 

Critical worker support package for 
hospitality and tourism industries ($2 million)
Launched April 2021

To attract hospitality and tourism workers to the Territory to 
alleviate pressures around a worker shortfall. 

 – Free short courses for Responsible Service of Alcohol 
(RSA), housekeeping and tour guiding, increased 
opportunities to match apprentices to employers through 
apprentice fairs and English literacy training for hospitality 
and tourism workers

 – The ‘Territory - Stay, Work and Play’ initiative to help local 
businesses cover costs associated with attracting a new 
employee intrastate or interstate. 

 – At 30 June:

 · 121 businesses registered or commenced an application 
for support under ‘Work, Stay, Play’

 · Total funding approval is $33,750 and covers 45 
approved workers

 · 26,673 views to the website.

Critical worker support package for melon 
farmers ($745,000)
Launched April 2021

Campaign to support the Territory’s $70 million melon 
industry and ensure farmers have the workforce they need to 
pick more than 75,000 tonnes of valuable produce this season.

 – Support package to give businesses access up to $1,000 
per worker for up to 200 workers and a loyalty bonus to 
retain workers

 – Funding to market and advertise the roles

 – 142 melon industry were jobs listed on harvest trial

 – 272 job enquires were received about the Melon Industry 
Support Program.



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade28 

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Territory Economic 
Reconstruction Commission

In May 2020, the department led the development of the 
Operation Rebound Green Paper, highlighting the need for 
the Territory economy to be positioned to effectively respond 
to a new global and national operating environment to sustain 
businesses and jobs.

As an initiative of the Green Paper, the Territory Economic 
Reconstruction Commission (TERC) was established 
to provide advice to the Territory Government on the 
acceleration of the Territory’s economic rebound and 
positioning the Territory for growth. 

The final report of the TERC was released in December 
2020, advocating for a Territory-wide step-change to win 
more private investment and create more jobs – requiring 
the public sector, the private sector and the non-government 
sector to work together.

The Commission identified priority industries that are critical 
to grow our economy, attract private investment and create 
jobs and these sectors are a key focus for the department: 

 – Energy, including renewables and gas for manufacturing

 – Resources and agribusiness

 – Tourism

 – Defence and maritime

 – Digital and space industries.

Key highlights

Established the Sustainable Agribusiness Precincts team, to develop pastoral and Aboriginal Land in partnership with land 
owners and stakeholders.

Commenced consultation with industry to co-design an Agribusiness Strategy which will underpin the economic contribution 
 of the sector.

Continued delivery of the Resourcing the Territory initiative grants program to support brownfield exploration, noting that  
at 30 June 2021, there were 19 mining projects working towards a Final Investment Decision in the Territory with a combined 
value of $5.8 billion.

Completed the mapping of regulatory processes for hospitality and retails sectors.

Collaborated with the Department of the Attorney-General and Justice (DAGJ) the Omnibus Bill development to address 
regulatory inefficiencies identified through the mapping process.

Began a review of the NT Regulatory Making Framework.

Worked with the DCDD to deliver the Can-Do Territory portal.

DITT is also supporting a number of recommendations both directly and indirectly to support business and industry.

Satellite dishes
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What we achieved  
by output group

Output Group: Agriculture and Fisheries
OUTCOME

Increased economic growth and viability of 
existing and emerging primary industries.

Agriculture
In partnership with industry promote and enable economic 
growth through research, development, and capacity-building 
projects, undertaking activities that support new and existing 
agribusinesses. Secure sustainable markets for Territory 
produce across agriculture, horticulture, forestry, cattle and 
buffalo businesses. 

Fisheries
Work in partnership with industry and the community 
to ensure sustainability, best use and fair access to the 
Territory’s aquatic resources for the economic benefit and 
enjoyment of all Territorians. 

Biosecurity and Animal Welfare
In partnership with national agencies, industry and 
community, support primary industries’ growth, supply chain 
integrity, and market access for key agricultural products by 
providing research, extension and diagnostic functions, and 
through excluding, eradicating and managing plant pest and 
animal disease risks. Work with stakeholders to respond to 
animal cruelty complaints and ensure best practice animal 
welfare standards are adhered to within the Territory. 

Projects to facilitate  
Aboriginal economic 

development opportunities

20

Research, 
development 
and extension 
publications  
and events 
delivered

108

Increased  
economic growth and 

viability of existing 
and emerging 

primary industries

Identification of biosecurity risks  
through delivery of quality laboratory 

services to industry and business client

95%

KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Research, development and extension publications  
and events delivered

116 87 108

Projects to facilitate Aboriginal economic development 
opportunities

20 12 20

Capacity building visits to Aboriginal communities 62 54 54

Fish stocks assessed as sustainable/recovering 20 39 39

Identification of biosecurity risks through delivery of quality 
laboratory services to industry and business clients within 28 days

>95% 95% 95%
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Key achievements in 2020-21:

Agriculture
 – Commenced the Central Australian self-herding project, 
funded by Meat and Livestock Australia

 – Supported a new training centre at Ali Curung, established 
by Centrefarm, for training local residents in horticulture 
through the trial production of mangoes in the Western 
Davenport region

 – Delivered 37 research, development, extension and 
advisory services projects in livestock industries including 
use of digital technology for northern Australian livestock 
research, such as GPS tracking, remote detection of 
calving cows, drones and data analysis

 – Provided assistance to 5 Aboriginal pastoral businesses 
with funding applications and project management for 
pastoral infrastructure, business diversification and land 
management activities

 – Provided technical support  to the emerging Territory 
cotton industry through on-farm commercial research and 
development trials aligned with the Cooperative Research 
Centre for Developing Northern Australia project 
‘Potential for broadacre cropping in the NT’

 – Improved yield predictions for mangoes via remote 
sensing to around 90 per cent accuracy enabling 
businesses to improve forecasting of labour, transport, 
consumables and other logistics

 – Strengthened relationships in the Big Rivers regions 
through collaborative work with the Change to Arnhem 
Land Fire Abatement, NTCA, Northern Australia 
Quarantine Strategy and Landcare, and hosted 8 
veterinary students from Charles Sturt University and 
schools promoting agriculture

Fisheries
 – In a world first, successfully bred the Black Jewfish at 
Darwin Aquaculture Centre

 – Strengthened partnerships with Aboriginal communities 
on oyster aquaculture with a trial farm at Groote Eylandt, 
building on the initial South Goulbourn site, and led the 
national development of the new industry with improved 
hatchery protocols, baseline biosecurity screening and 
partnering with experts to develop tropical oyster food 
safety protocols

 – Finalisation of Ecological Risk Assessments for the 
Offshore Net and Line, Spanish mackerel, and aquarium 
fisheries and a draft management framework for the 
Coastal Line Fishery 

 – Increased recreational fishing opportunities through 
supporting the Million Dollar Fish competition, stocking 
of Palmerston Lakes and Manton Dam, and assessment of 
the reef fish protection zones 

 – Delivered the Darwin recreational fishing survey showing 
that the experience of recreational anglers on the new 
artificial reefs are increasing angler participation in the 
fish-tagging program 

 – Delivered regulation amendment to the Aboriginal 
Coastal Licence to enhance cultural and economic 
opportunities for Aboriginal communities 

 – Introduced the Aboriginal Fishing Mentor Program and 
developed 8 animated training videos to promote safe 
fishing practices in both English and Aboriginal languages 

 – Increased capacity of marine ranger groups through 
training and support, appointment of 2 Aboriginal fisheries 
inspectors, and a program review to ensure delivery of 
needs for ranger groups 

 – Progressing digital transformation to provide online 
capability for external access to Fisheries services including 
all licensing functions, catch records and quota holdings

Biosecurity and Animal Welfare
 – Eradicated the bacterial pathogen and high-priority pest, 
citrus canker, from the Territory 

 – Successfully trained 2 odour detection dogs to detect 
citrus canker under field conditions, enhancing the 
capability for early detection and responsiveness to  
high-priority plant pests

 – Established the Wild Dog Management Working Group, 
aimed at establishing an integrated and collaborative 
approach to dog management in the Territory  

 – Implemented the response to Ehrlichia canis to engage 
stakeholders and transition to management of the  
tick-borne disease in the Territory

 – Attended and resolved approximately 500 animal welfare 
complaints and continued to improve relationships with 
key stakeholders enhancing a collaborative approach to 
animal welfare

 – Delivered a holistic review of the bee regulations in 
the Territory in partnership with industry to minimise 
biosecurity risks 

 – Established Taskforce Starlight to collaborate with the 
NTCA and Northern Territory Police, Fire and Emergency 
Services (NTPFES) to combat stock theft and  
stock-related crime
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Future priorities Agriculture
 – Provide technical information and pastoral enterprise development advice and 
assistance to the Northern Land Council (NLC) and Traditional Owners to facilitate 
primary industry development on Aboriginal lands

 – Support new horticultural plantings in the Ali Curung region and technical support to 
de-risk investments and support Aboriginal enterprises

 – Deliver research and extension services for development of the horticulture industry in 
the Western Davenport Region, expected to support several new farms with a range of 
new crops

 – Build on existing extension work to support cattle producers in the southern and Barkly 
regions, increasing drought resilience through assessment of carrying capacity, planning 
for seasonal variations in pasture growth and adopting new satellite technology for  
real-time pasture assessment

 – Provide ongoing support to the functioning of regional beef industry advisory committees 
in the Katherine, Barkly and Alice Springs regions, and trial of a Top End committee

 – Identify opportunities to support the plantation forestry through strategic research and 
development partnerships.

Fisheries
 – Develop a harvest strategy to support the Barramundi Fishery

 – Increase usage of electronic monitoring and reporting of fishing activity

 – RecFish Futures: Construction of a new car park at the Daly River boat ramp and 
commencement of the upgrade of the Point Stuart Road

 – Develop a new compliance model in cooperation with NTPES and the Australian 
Fisheries Management Authority

 – Expansion of the black-lip tropical rock oyster experimental farms at Goulburn Island 
and Groote Eylandt

 – Continue mentoring support for Aboriginal Coastal Licence holders and build Aboriginal 
marine ranger capacity 

 – Undertake a comprehensive scientific survey of the offshore snapper stocks.

Biosecurity and Animal Welfare
 – Eradicate the browsing ant from the Territory 

 – Develop and implement an Ehrlichia canis management plan

 – Work with Australian Government, States and Territories to develop the new National 
Biosecurity Strategy and build the capacity of industry, the community, government 
and staff to enhance our surveillance, diagnostics, early detection, and preparedness to 
respond to future biosecurity risks

 – Deliver research projects for fruit fly, cucumber green mottle mosaic virus, invasive ants, 
vegetable diseases, and fall armyworm

 – Continue to promote animal welfare outcomes in the Northern Territory 

 – Review the Livestock Act 2008 and Regulations for implementation in 2022. 
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Output Group: Mining and Energy
OUTCOME

Minerals and petroleum project development 
is facilitated through quality geological 
information, efficient and effective 
administration of laws regulating land tenure 
and titles, exploration and production activities. 
Territory energy is transformed, to be more 
sustainable and agile, to support government 
outcomes now and into the future.

Resource Industry Development Services
Northern Territory Geological Survey supports resource 
exploration through the acquisition, management, delivery 
and promotion of geoscience information and data. 
The business unit also manages statutory reporting of 
exploration and production, and provides access to industry 
reports, data and drill core. 

Mine Services
Mines Services ensures that mines are sustainably developed 
and operated in accordance with the Mining Management Act 
2001 and the Mineral Titles Act 2010, through efficient and 
effective regulation of mineral titles, mining activities from 
mineral exploration to production and closure, and addressing 
legacy issues from past mining activities. 

Territory 
energy is 

transformed, 
to be more 
sustainable 

and agile103 
Geoscience products  
developed or updated

Energy Development
Energy development advances the Territory’s economic 
development and energy security through administration 
of exploration applications and permits, licences, resource 
management, operational approvals and regulatory 
activities, including monitoring and compliance under the 
Petroleum Act 1984 and Energy Pipelines Act 1981. 

Office of Sustainable Energy
Develops and coordinates delivery of energy policies and 
strategies to deliver the government’s target of 50 per cent 
renewables by 2030. The Office is also tasked with delivering 
electricity market reforms which provide long-term efficient 
renewable, secure and cost-effective energy in support of 
industry and the community.

KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Geoscience products developed or updated 86 100 103
Target rating for Fraser Institute Annual Survey geological database 15th 7th 7th

Promotional and industry engagement events 12 11 91

Mines services
Mineral exploration licences granted within 9 months ≥85% 23% 23%2

Mine management plans determined within 90 days ≥85% 85% 87%
Mine site inspection days 200 200 198

Energy Development
Energy titles applications and report assessments completed within 60 days ≥85% 77% 75%3

Regulatory inspections for petroleum and pipeline operations 36 22 204

Energy and renewables policy advice provided within agreed timeframes ≥85% 75% 75%

1 Some planned promotional and industry engagement events did not occur due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

2 Timelines for the granting of a mineral title were heavily impacted by external factors, in particular the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic.

3 13 applications were submitted that required additional information from the applicant before it could be considered, which resulted 
in extended timeframes for assessment.

4 The number of expected exploration activities was significantly reduced due to the restrictions and impacts of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19), including Biosecurity Act 2015 declarations, which did not allow persons to travel in and out of remote areas of the 
Territory. This decrease in planned activity reduced the number of inspections that took place.
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Key achievements in 2020-21:

Resource Industry Development Services
 – Delivered AGES in Alice Springs, attracting 260 delegates, 
the highest number since 2012

 – Collaborated with Geoscience Australia and the MinEx 
Collaborative Research Centre on an 11 hole research 
drilling program in the Barkly Tableland, including the 
1700m Carrara-1 well

 – Released an updated NT Geochemistry and Drilling data 
package with 300,000 new data points covering the 
Tennant Creek and Barkly region

 – Commenced the Brunette Downs gravity survey, covering 
57,000 square kilometres of the Barkly region with new 
gravity data at a 2 x 2 km or 1 x 1 km spacing

 – Released the first Northern Territory SEEBASE® 
and Geological information system, providing a high-
resolution map of the depth of sedimentary basins across 
the Territory

 – Managed round 13 of the Geophysics and Drilling 
Collaborations grants program, with 9 co-funded 
exploration programs successfully completed

 – Upgraded the Resourcing the Territory website to provide 
a regular news flow to the exploration industry.

Mine Services
 – Administered mineral titles, including:

 · 826 granted exploration licences

 · 1,223 other granted mineral titles (including extractive 
mineral exploration licences)

 · progressing 586 mineral exploration licence 
applications

 · progressing 734 mineral title applications

 –Released the Code of Conduct 
for mineral explorers in the 
Territory on 10 February 2021 
which seeks to strengthen 
relationships between explorers 
and pastoralists and clearly 
outlines expected behaviours  
for explorers

 –Assessed 129 Mine 
Management Plans (MMP) for 

exploration, extractives and mining activities

 – Completed the review of exploration and extractive MMP 
guidelines and templates in consultation with industry.

 – Completed assessment of the following major projects: 
McArthur River Mine Overburden Management Project; 
KGL Resources Jervois Base Metal Project; and Vista Gold 
Australia Mount Todd Gold Project

 – Utilised the Mining Remediation Fund to progress the 
small mines safety program in the Tennant Creek region 
and remediation planning works for the former Redbank 
mine. This financial year $583,278.97 (excluding GST) 
has been expended from the Mining Remediation Fund, 
compromised of:

 · $365,348.47 (excluding GST) for works at the forming 
Redbank mine site, including an independent review and 
gap analysis to identify knowledge gaps, progress of a 
mine waste characterisation program, a lidar survey and 
works to facilitate remediation planning; and

 · $218,930.50 (excluding GST) for safety works at Pup 
and Dolomite near Tennant Creek

 – Started Stage 2B remediation works at the former 
Rum Jungle Mine which includes the employment of 11 
Aboriginal trainees, and commenced preparation for Stage 
3 complete full site remediation works.

 – Collaborated with Department of Environment, Parks 
and Water Security (DEPWS) in the development of 
Environmental Reforms which will see the transfer 
of mining related environmental provisions to the 
Environment Protection Act 2019.

Energy Development
 – Assessed and/or approved activities as required under 
legislation for petroleum exploration, production and 
pipeline operations including:

 · 5 well operations management plans authorising:

 – Imperial Oil and Gas to successfully drill its 
Carpentaria 1 in the Beetaloo Sub-basin in October 
2020 and conducting fracturing activities and flow 
testing in June 2021

 – Santos to commence drilling of 2 horizontal wells in 
the Beetaloo Sub-Basin in May 2021

 – Central Petroleum to commence a recompletion and 
drilling program in the Mereenie Field during 2021

 – 2 airborne aerial surveys for Mossman Oil and Gas 
and Armour Energy to enhance their geological 
understanding of their permit areas.

 · 1 exploration permit renewal

 · 1 production licence and 2 production lease transfers

 · 14 annual reports for permit and licence holders 
activities on their tenure

826 
granted 
exploration 
licences
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 · 10 variations of work programs

 · 42 suspensions and/or extensions of work programs.

 – Received and assessed the initial petroleum discovery 
notice from Origin Energy from the Kyalla 117 N2-1H 
well in January 2021, with further testing of the well to 
commence mid-2021

 – Received and assessed the initial petroleum discovery 
notice from Imperial Oil and Gas for hydrocarbons from 
the Carpentaria 1 well in June 2021, with further testing 
of the well to continue in July 2021

 – Provided reporting and information regarding the 
implementation of recommendations from the Final 
Report of the Scientific Inquiry into Hydraulic Fracturing 
(Inquiry) to the Independent Officer.

 – Commenced the Petroleum Regulations 2020 on 
1 January 2021 that require statutory land access 
agreements between pastoral lessees and petroleum 
permit or licence holders

 – Commenced an onshore petroleum acreage release process 
for 2 areas covering 30,780 square kilometres within the 
southern Georgina Basin in June 2021. Applications for the 
areas from petroleum companies and submissions from the 
community close in November 2021 

 – Represented the Territory Government on the 
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation (CSIRO) Gas Industry Social and 
Environmental Research Alliance NT Regional Research 
Advisory Committee 

 – Contributed to the development of a publicly accessible 
onshore petroleum information portal to provide 

data in accordance with 
recommendations from the 
Inquiry, which went live on  
17 February 2021 

 –Worked collaboratively with 
the Australian Government on 
the development of the Beetaloo 
Strategic Basin Plan (January 
2021); a strategy for unlocking 
the resource potential of the 
region, including $50 million 
co-operative drilling grants for 
permit holders and funding for 
critical road infrastructure.

Office of Sustainable Energy
 – Developed and 
consulted on a draft 
policy framework for the 
efficient procurement 
and provision of essential 
system services in the 
Territory’s regulated 
electricity systems

 – Advanced development 
of the Territory’s first 
Darwin-Katherine 
System Plan to support 
the efficient uptake of 
renewable energy in the 
Darwin and Katherine 
regions

 – Refined the Home and 
Business Battery Scheme 
to improve the equity, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
scheme in contributing to affordable, clean, reliable and 
stable energy supply

 – Facilitated establishment of an innovative  
renewable-hydrogen technology trial in Tennant Creek

 – Advanced planning work for an open and contestable 
delivery framework to facilitate external investment in 
remote power system services. 

$50M 
co-operative 
drilling grants 
for permit 
holders and 
funding for 
critical road 
infrastructure

Advanced 
development of 
the Territory’s 
first Darwin-
Katherine 
System Plan 
to support the 
efficient uptake 
of renewable 
energy in the 
Darwin and 
Katherine 
regions

Solar panels at sunset
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Future priorities Resource Industry Development Services
 – Deliver a Strategic Plan and forward work program for expanded Resourcing the Territory 
initiative, in consultation with industry

 – Implement Round 14 of the Geophysics and Collaborations grants program, delivering on 
the TERC recommendation to expand the program into brownfields areas

 – Promote the Territory’s resource potential and opportunities to the exploration industry 
through a range of domestic, interstate and international events, including delivery of 
AGES 2022

 – Deliver new geological mapping products from central Australia, eastern Arnhem Land 
and the South Nicholson Basin region

 – Collaborate with the Australian and South Australian Governments on studies to enhance 
knowledge of the resource potential of the Territory’s sedimentary basins.

Mine Services
 – Progress related recommendations across Mines Branch from the TERC final report 
Agency Implementation Plan

 – Declare new fossicking area near Tennant Creek Township
 – Complete Mineral Titles Act 2010 review
 – Complete MMP review
 – Complete development of the Mining Remediation Fund strategic plan with industry, 
and ongoing rollout of small mine safety works and remediation planning for the former 
Redbank mine site

 – Progress rollout of Rum Jungle Stage 2B and Stage 3 work program

 – Continue to assist the DEPWS to develop the Environmental Reform agenda.

Energy Development
 – Finalise the implementation of remaining recommendations from the final report of the 
Scientific Inquiry into Hydraulic Fracturing (Inquiry), which includes further amendments 
to the Petroleum Act 1984. Completion of all 135 Inquiry recommendations in 2022 will 
allow applications for production approvals to be considered 

 – Progress applications and submissions received for the southern Georgina Basin acreage 
release for Ministerial consideration

 – Continue monitoring and compliance activities, including field inspections, ensuring 
operations are conducted in accordance with regulatory frameworks

 – Support the Australian Government’s Beetaloo Strategic Basin Plan to accelerate 
exploration activities and provide critical infrastructure to the region and progression to 
petroleum production

 – Undertake digital transformation activities to improve the functionality and capacity of 
existing digital business systems and to enable a client portal interface for petroleum 
companies to assist with legislative requirements, including the lodgement and tracking 
of applications and payment of fees.

Office of Sustainable Energy
 – Position the Territory for the emerging hydrogen industry through the finalisation of a 
renewable hydrogen master plan

 – Ensure the Territory’s energy systems are agile and support economic growth through 
finalisation of the Darwin-Katherine System Plan

 – Finalise a framework for the provision of essential system services
 –  Progress planning and design for external investment in renewables for remote communities
 – Conduct a review of institutional arrangements in the Northern Territory to work towards 
improving governance frameworks and facilitate new investment.
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Output Group: Business, Innovation  
and Workforce

OUTCOME 

A diversified and growing Territory economy 
with capable businesses and a skilled workforce 
that meets the current industry needs and future 
economic opportunities. 

Business and Innovation NT

Foster increased competitiveness and productivity, including 
Aboriginal and regional enterprises and priority industry 
sectors, by building capability through targeted grant 
programs, business services and advice, and supporting 
business incubation and innovation.

Grants and Business Performance
The Grants and Business Performance team developed and 
rolled out more than 20 economic response and ongoing 
grant programs worth over $200 million to provide 
targeted support to Territory businesses throughout the 
pandemic, as well as during the current rebound period. 

Territory Engagement and Delivery
The Territory Engagement and Delivery (TED) teams 
provide workforce, small business and industry 
development services across the Northern Territory with 
offices located in Alice Springs, Tennant Creek, Katherine, 
Nhulunbuy and Darwin. Also in the TED team are the 
Territory Business Centres which provide information about 
starting a business, licensing requirements and government 
assistance programs.

The TED team administers a number of grant programs 
designed to strengthen small and medium enterprises, a 
range of workforce development and training programs to 
increase employment opportunities for Territorians and a 
number of industry development services to build diversity 
and resilience in regional economies. 

Workforce NT

Administer the VET system to ensure the skill requirements 
of the Territory economy are met through responsive 
programs and systems aligned to the needs of Territory 
employers through workforce growth and skilled migration 
initiatives.

StudyNT
Promotes the Territory as a study destination for 
international students. Working with education providers, 
and business and local communities, it assists international 
students to achieve academic success and discover new 
pathways to their future in the Territory.

Northern Australia Development, Market Engagement  
and Trade

Drive the development and implementation of the Northern 
Australia policy agenda. 

Lead the Territory Government’s international engagement 
agenda, through the development of diplomatic relationships 
and partnerships, and the coordination of international 
engagement policy. 

Promote and secure international trade and investment 
opportunities in the Territory by building strong 
international relationships to the mutual benefit of local 
businesses and partners. 

Civil and Defence
Working with the Department of Defence, prime 
contractors and local industry to maximise the involvement 
of Territory businesses in the defence and national security 
supply chain. Working to attract a greater share of Defence 
investment to the Territory. Work with large oil and gas 
companies to facilitate the growth of local services and 
supply businesses operating in this sector. 

Develop and implement initiatives and programs for 
serving and ex-servicing Australian Defence Force (ADF) 
personnel, their families and the NT veterans’ community; 
commemoration of military anniversaries and the 
facilitation of military history study tours. 

Business grants issued
475

Apprenticeship 
and traineeship 

completions Successful VET training 
completions

A diversified and growing Territory 
economy with capable businesses 
and a skilled workforce that meets 

the current industry needs and future 
economic opportunities 

84%

872
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KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Business and Innovation NT

Contacts with Territory Business Centres for licence  
and business services

75,000 75,000 84,3121

Businesses engaged or supported to develop 500 1,200 1,2971

Business grants issued 325 400 4751

Participants reporting business grants are useful for their business ≥85% 95% 99%1

Businesses supported through the innovation program 150 150 219

Workforce NT

Apprenticeship and traineeship commencements 2,000 2,100 2,2501

Apprenticeship and traineeship completions 1,050 900 8722

Training participation rate ≥10% 9% 9%

Improved employment outcomes for workforce project participants 70% 70% 0%3

Apprentices and trainees who are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ≥30% 31% 30%

Successful VET training completions ≥81% 84% 84%

Apprenticeship and traineeship graduates in employment or  
further study

90% 82% 82%2

Aboriginal Employment Program:
 – supported businesses and organisations
 – additional people supported in jobs

 
120

1,000

 
60

600

 
54

5302

Business and skilled migration visas assessed 1,000 1,000 1,208

Northern Territory Designated Area Migration Agreement endorsements 80 60 482

Northern Australia development, market engagement and trade

Stakeholder satisfaction with Trade Support Scheme ≥85% 100% 100%

Advice on Northern Australia development issues provided within 
agreed timeframes

≥85% 85% N/A4

1 Increase due to additional support provided for Coronavirus (COVID-19) impact

2 Decrease due to impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19)

3 Training still in progress

4 Limited formal requests for advice on Northern Australia Development issues were received from the Australian Government 
over 2020-21 as resources were shifted to Coronavirus (COVID-19) relief and response initiatives and implementation of 
recommendations arising from Conran Review of Council of Australian Governments (COAG) Councils and Ministerial Forums.
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Key achievements in 2020-21:

Grants and Business Performance
 – Delivered more than $200 million in Territory 
Government economic stimulus response programs, 
including the Jobs Rescue and Recovery and the Jobs  
First Plans

 – Under the Home Improvement Scheme, 19,425 vouchers 
were issued to home owners, resulting in an estimated 
$260 million in works for more than 1,655 Territory 
businesses

 – Developed and rolled out the ‘Work, Stay, Play’ program, 
aimed at helping Territory businesses attract workers 
during a period of severe shortage.

Territory Engagement and Delivery
 – Through a Territory-wide network of offices, delivered 
a range of workforce, business and industry services, 
including:

Territory Business Centres 

Emails sent 15,612 

Enquiries 5,249 

Applications lodged 19,445 

Calls answered 44,006 

Total 84,312 

 
Central Australia

 – A ‘Workforce Capacity Analysis’ report was prepared to 
identify skilled workforce development opportunities in 
relation to potential mining development in the region

 – Supported NTCA with a feasibility study into the 
development of a Central Australia Beef Brand

 – Conducted the Alice Springs Mining Services Expo with 
32 organisations profiling their goods and services to 
attendees at the AGES.

Barkly Region
 – A very successful ‘Barkly Futures Forum’ was held over 
2 days in Tennant Creek helping to map the future 
development of economic opportunities in the region.

 – A Regional Workforce Plan was developed to help build 
a skilled and capable workforce throughout the Barkly 
region.

Big Rivers 
 – Projects in Big Rivers include the commercialisation of 
cultural bush products, the establishment of Katherine’s 
first collaborative business hub and new tourism product 
offerings at Nitmiluk National Park. 

East Arnhem
 – Helped build a stronger visitor/tourist experience in 
Nhulunbuy by supporting infrastructure to service 22 
powered sites at Manyimi Campgrounds  

 – Increased capability in Galiwin’ku with the provision 
of video conferencing facilities for training and 
program delivery at Yalu Marnggithinyaraw Indigenous 
Corporation

 – The Buku-Larrnggay Mulka Art Centre used their 
Aboriginal Business Development Program grant to install 
technology and water infrastructure to support the use of 
the training centre as a business hub in Yirrkala.

Top End
 – Marrawuddi Gallery in Jabiru run by Gundjeihmi 
Aboriginal Corporation received an Aboriginal Business 
Development Program grant for landscaping and shade 
sails. The new gallery opened in September 2020

 – Watjan Tours in the West Daly region was awarded 
funding to install critical infrastructure on their land to 
enable the conduct of tag-a-long tours and bush camping 
in the region. 

Greater Darwin
 – Supporting Moo Pty Ltd (an National Disability Insurance 
Scheme (NDIS) provider) progressed from basic referrals 
in 2019 to a company which now employs 12 staff and 
operates out of commercial premises in Berrimah 

 – Family Planning Welfare Association NT received an 
Industry Build-skills grant (workforce) to support 10 
Aboriginal Health Practitioners working in Aboriginal 
Community Controlled Health Organisations. The 
program allowed the participants to undertake nationally 
accredited training to provide improved women’s health 
knowledge and clinical skills.

More than $200M delivered in 
Territory Government economic stimulus 
response programs
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4,274
Community 

Services, 
Health and 
Education

Business  
and Clerical 1,940

1,901 Building and 
Construction

Primary 
Industry 1,664

1,252 Engineering 
and Mining

 

Business Innovation
 – The first Territory Business Innovation Strategy was fully 
implemented with reporting at https://innovation.nt.gov.au/

 – The Business Acceleration Program reported strong 
growth for the 2019-20 financial year despite the impacts 
of Coronavirus (COVID-19) including an increase in 
revenue, profit and growth

 – 3 businesses graduated from the Business Innovation 
Program, successfully commercialising their innovative 
business concepts

 – Delivered the Digital Partnerships Program in partnership 
with 5 projects delivering digital innovation across a 
range of sectors including a new computing capability 
for the Territory, interactive virtual reality platform for 
engagement with remote locations, and a water saving 
sensor network

 – 4 successful new innovation networks established for 
Women in Innovation and STEM, Drone Technology, 
Energy Innovation, Youth Innovation and Innovation 
Network.

Workforce
 – Through the JobTrainer joint initiative with Australian 
Government, an additional $9.5 million was injected 
into the skills budget to provide job seekers and young 
Territorians with access to 55 free or low-fee training 
courses

 – Supported the launch of 
the Juno Jobs Apprenticeship 
Model in the Barkly region by 
enabling an apprentice support 
organisation to place a dedicated 
program manager in Tennant 
Creek. Juno is a flexible and 
adaptive training model with 
multiple access points designed 
to increase employment of 
Territorians living in remote areas

 – Acted on the call of critical 
worker shortages in Hospitality and Tourism by supporting 
free, short course training and by holding employer, 
apprentice and trainee matching fairs in regional centres

 – Over 80 RTOs were directly contracted by DITT between  
1 July 2020 and 31 May 2021; 34 of these RTOs have their 
head office in the Territory

 – Funded 16,869 VET students, in conjunction with the 
Australian Government, in the reporting period 1 January 
to 31 December 2020.

VET students - regional locations 

Darwin  
10,867

West Arnhem 
259

Katherine
1,103

Barkly
636

Alice Springs
2,899

Interstate
114

Total

16,869

East Arnhem
991

 

An additional 

$9.5M 
was injected 
into the 
skills budget 
infrastructure

VET students - top 5 industries 
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Our commitment to the VET sector has benefitted the 
Territory in many different ways, including:

 · facilitating growth in sectors like construction through 
apprenticeship and traineeship programs

 · enhancing partnerships with peak-industry bodies 
through research into skills development in the 
maritime and aviation industries, including funding  
25 students to undertake their Certificate II in Aviation, 
and linking with future employment through the Alice 
Springs Asia Pacific Aircraft Storage Facility, which is 
growing on a regular basis. 

 – Invested $1.7 million in Charles Darwin University (CDU) 
to boost training for the next generation of aged care 
workers through construction of a new Training Centre for 
Aged Care at CDU’s Casuarina campus

 – In an immediate response to the impact of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19), delivered and managed the Territory Jobs 
Hub to connect job seekers with potential NT employers. 
Over the 12-month period of operation, the platform 
connected 1,286 job seekers with Territory employers

 – MigrationNT supported Territory employers with relevant 
and up to date information on visa issues emerging 
from the impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19), and 
increased advocacy to Commonwealth bodies for flexible 
arrangements to support, attract and retain temporary 
visa holders in the Territory 

 – MigrationNT launched the inaugural Digital Worker 
Attraction Campaign in target markets in Australia and 
New Zealand to raise the profile of the Territory and 
promote it as a desirable and attractive place to live and 
work. The campaign attracted 262,747 views within 
Australia and 72,363 views in New Zealand.

 India (26%)

 Nepal (18%)

 China (8%)

 Phillippines (8%)

 Pakistan (7%)

 Sri Lanka (4%)

 

Bangladesh (4%) 
Vietnam (3%)

 United Kingdom (2%)

 Nigeria (2%)

 Other (18%)

 India

 Bangladesh

 Nepal

 Hong Kong

 Pakistan 

 Iran

 Sri Lanka

 Egypt

 China

 Philippines

 Other

Source country of overseas skilled workers nominated through the General Skilled Migration Program
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StudyNT
 – Delivered pilot plan to return international students – 
63 students successfully arrived in Darwin during 
November 2020 from China, Vietnam, Hong Kong, 
Indonesia and Japan

 – Developed employment portal and campaigns to promote 
the employment of international students to Territory 
employers

 – Delivered domestic and social media campaigns 
promoting study in the Territory to prospective students 
in Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne and Vietnam

 – Hosted virtual booths at ICEF Virtual Anza, ICEF Virtual 
Berlin and Study Australia Virtual Fair to increase 
awareness by agents and prospective students of the 
Territory as a study destination.

Northern Australia Development
 – Appointed a Northern Territory representative based in 
Singapore, with remit for both Singapore and Malaysia, 
to engage with external stakeholders to support new and 
existing opportunities, and create strategic-long term 
partnerships

 – As part of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) response, 
Territory aquatic ornamentals and seafood including mud 
crab fisheries were able to access dedicated flights from 
Darwin to international markets 

 – Partnering with the Chamber of Commerce NT resulted 
in the delivery of a number of key activities including:

 · 2020 Chief Minister Export and Industry Awards 
program, with the 2020 Resilient Territory Business 
of the Year Darwin Aboriginal Art Fair recognised 
at Austrade’s 2020 National Recognition Awards 
Program in Canberra (virtually) in November 2020

 · A series of dedicated trade events in Darwin and 
Alice Springs from February to June 2021 to engage, 
promote and collaborate on matters affecting Territory 
export businesses and industries, including supply 
chains and support programs, and

 · Start of the 2021 Chief Minister Export and Industry 
Awards program.

   

 

 

  

   

Accountant (General)

Electrical engineer

Nurse

Software engineer

Mechanical engineer

Other

CookChef
Cafe and restaurant 

manager

29%

3%

8%

3%

6%

38%

3%3%3%

 

Civil engineer
4%

Top 10  
occupations 
supported through 
a migration 
pathway to  
the Territory

 

Welfare worker
3%
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 – Due to the sustained 
travel international travel 
restrictions in place and 
other ongoing impacts of 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) on 
businesses, the department 
committed to providing a 
new round of Trade Support 
Scheme grant support, 
launching the 2021 Trade 
Support Scheme COVID-19 
Quick Response Grants 
Program on 3 March 2021

 – Successfully lobbied the Australian Government 
to broaden operations of the Northern Australia 
Infrastructure Facility to accelerate lending and enable 
more Territory businesses to access project funding 
through a more streamlined approvals process, increased 
risk appetite and more flexible financing mechanisms

 – Hosted international delegations (virtually and in person) 
providing sector specific roundtable meetings, and a number 
of private sector trade and investment.

Civil and Defence
 – Facilitated 2 industry showcases to enable senior regional 
tri-service Defence officers  to learn about the Territory’s 
innovative businesses either in, or aspiring to enter the 
defence supply chain

 – Worked with Industry Capability Network - Northern 
Territory to identify businesses who have capability 
to provide ground support equipment support for the 
arrival of the F-35A Joint Strike Fighter to be based at 
Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) Base Tindal; assisted 
representatives of Lockheed Martin, who travelled from 
Texas, to undertake key meetings with government, 
industry associations and businesses

Supported 
Navy to 
commence 
its marine 
on-board 
training with 
safety training 
specialists

Japan
United 
States

Eurpoean 
Union

South Korea

Nepal

Norway

United 
Kingdom

Singapore

Canada

 – Assisted innovative Eastern-states company Ocius to 
identify opportunities for local industry to support the 
future increased presence of Ocius unmanned surface 
vessels across the Northern Australia

 – Supported Navy to commence its marine on-board 
training (including firefighting training) with safety 
training specialists ‘ERGT Australia’ (Registered Training 
Organisation) at their training facilities based at CDU

 – Promoted local company SPEE3D’s metal printing 
technology to Defence which has now been  deployed by 
the Royal Australian Army, Mount Bundy Training Area to 
design, print and finish approximately 50 ground-breaking 
3D printed parts in the field 

 

International delegations
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 – Promoted the Australian Military Sales Catalogue to local 
industry and worked with companies to put in applications. 
14 Territory businesses were included in the 2021 edition 
of the catalogue, which is distributed globally

 – Developed and facilitated the onshore and offshore supply 
chain working groups to maximise opportunities for 
Territory businesses in the oil and gas industry. An Offshore 
Procurement Workshop was held in Perth in January 2021 
engaging Territory gas producers (INPEX, Santos, Eni and 
Shell) and primary contractors to deliver a roadmap to 
achieve a 50 per cent local content goal by 2025

RAN vessel in Darwin Harbour

 – Maintained strong relationships with the NT veterans’ 
community and ensured Territory Government 
representation at military commemorative events

 – Facilitated Mates4Mates access to appropriate 
information sources and subject matter experts in the 
Territory Government and with veterans’ community 
stakeholders, supporting the establishment of a Veterans 
Family Wellbeing Centre in Darwin in 2022

 – Supported the Northern Territory Veterans Affairs 
Ministerial Advisory Council.
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Future priorities Territory Engagement and Delivery
 – Collaborate with stakeholders such as the Chamber of Commerce NT, Business Enterprise 
Centre NT and industry associations to gain a holistic approach to supporting businesses

 – Support businesses who are working as NDIS providers and those new businesses that are 
entering the sector

 – Implement and create new regional strategies such as the Barkly Business Hub and Mining 
and Energy Services Hub

 – Continue to support existing and potential Local Decision Making processes and work with 
Aboriginal people and businesses to develop capacity and create jobs

 – Work with a range of stakeholders to build resilience across Aboriginal business and 
workforce by strengthening and expanding relevant skills, capabilities, access to markets 
and supply chains

 – Create a business concierge service, delivered by the Territory Business Centre that will 
connect business with further support and information

 – Introduce a satellite model to expand Territory Business Centre services into new locations.

Business Innovation
 – Launch the Territory Innovation Strategy 2.0 to deliver innovation as a driver to achieve 
$40 billion Territory economy by 2030 by accelerating commercialisation of innovation, 
advancing public sector innovation and activating our Territory innovation ecosystem

 – Deliver new and improved programs to support Territory business to commercialise 
innovation, including Business Innovation Program 2.0, Business Acceleration Program 5.0 
(incorporating an Aboriginal Business Acceleration Program) and the Territory Innovation 
Challenges Program

 – Support innovative industry development, prioritising science and research, including 
stronger collaboration between industry and research organisations, and support for 
commercialisation in innovative sectors including hydrogen, drones, and 4.0 technology as 
well as TERC priority sectors 

 – Expand the Innovation Playground model to include Central Australia, the regions and establish 
a permanent Science and Technology Experience space in Darwin, launch the Aboriginal 
Business Innovation Network, and deliver Public Sector Innovation training and support. 

Workforce
 – With the Australian Government, negotiate a new National Skills Agreement to ensure 
that the VET system can deliver high-quality, accessible and relevant training that benefits 
students and employers, businesses and the economy; supported by increased investment

 – Through a joint initiative between the Chamber of Commerce NT and the Territory Aviation 
Skills Centre meet growing demands in the aviation sector by supporting infrastructure 
upgrades at the Darwin Airport and attracting private investments to support the 
Territory’s economy

 – Undertake a review of the Aboriginal Employment Program in partnership with Industry 
Skills Advisory Council NT

 – Invest apprenticeship and traineeship grant funding to support a NTPS target of 500 extra 
Aboriginal employees in Health, Education, and Justice

 – Work with training providers and the Australian Government to develop a national data 
collection framework and new system that will provide stakeholders access to more 
comprehensive and timely VET data

 – Deliver a business and skilled migration strategy for the Territory to respond to new 
opportunities and adapt to the changing international environment

 – Co-ordinate the Pacific Labour Mobility project to enable Territory employers to fill critical 
shortages in the tourism, hospitality and aged care sectors
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 – Finalise negotiations and execute a new deed with improved settings for the NT Designated 
Area Migration Agreement 

 – Implement the MigrationNT Worker Attraction Campaign, targeting skilled interstate and 
overseas migrants.

StudyNT
 – Progress the Northern Territory International Student Arrivals plan for scaled return of 
international students to the Territory

 – Continue to connect international students to Territory employers and increase the 
recruitment of internships in the Territory Government

 – Continue to promote the Territory as a study destination with awareness campaigns, 
promotions and hosting conferences to increase international students choosing to study in  
the Territory.

Northern Australia Development
 – Delivery of the International Engagement, Trade and Investment Strategy 2022-2026

 – Continue to explore and facilitate business opportunities and business matching between 
organisations in the Territory with international partners

 – Continue working with the Australian Government on the delivery of the International Freight 
Assistance Mechanism in response to Coronavirus (COVID-19) related freight disruptions, 
which prioritises high-value perishable agricultural and fisheries products 

 – Further enhance partnerships with Austrade and TradeStart to facilitate and promote available 
services, advice and programs to Territory businesses looking to export

 – Supporting the delivery of the Northern Territory Industry Export Strategy Grants to develop 
opportunities in a post Coronavirus (COVID-19) rebound environment for the seafood 
industry, Aboriginal businesses and storage and processing facilities for export products

 – Implementing the TERC recommendations, including:

 · enabling the creation of new industries and markets for Northern Australia
 · progressing the Developing Northern Australia policy agenda and achieving increased 

private sector investment, economic diversification and sustainable jobs growth.

 – Supporting the Australian Government to deliver Our North, Our Future: 2021-26 – Next 5 
Year Plan for Northern Australia, comprising a suite of initiatives building on actions delivered 
under the 2015 Our North, Our Future: White Paper on Developing Northern Australia.

Civil and Defence
 – Identify opportunities in the 2020 Defence Strategic Update and Force Structure Plan and 
develop Capture Plans to strategically pursue targets through defined actions and engagement, 
with the aim of attracting new defence projects and work to the Northern Territory 

 – Work with interstate and international businesses including the aviation and maritime sectors 
to assist them in establishing a presence in the Territory, attracting significant economic benefit

 – Identify and facilitate export opportunities for defence-related manufacturing, products and 
services, with a particular focus on the Asia-Pacific region. Work with the Global Supply Chain 
Program prime contractors to understand their requirements

 – Implement the Offshore Procurement Roadmap to meet the Territory Government’s Gas 
Service and Supply Plan target of 50 per cent local content by 2025. 

 – Finalise the DefenceNT Rank to Grade Guide, an initiative which supports employment of  
ex-serving personnel

 – Develop the NT Veterans Strategy 

 – Deliver the Chief Minister’s Military History Study Tour, for Territory high school students.
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Output Group: Industry  
and Economic Analysis

OUTCOME

Private investment, job creation and a growing 
and diversified Territory economy is facilitated 
through the delivery of whole-of-government 
economic and industry development policies, 
strategies and projects.

Economic Reform

Economic reform identifies and drives economic 
development and regulatory reform initiatives, and 
undertakes economic analysis to support and inform the 
advice provided.

Industry Development

Industry development drive strategies and initiatives that 
support growth in key industry sectors. Responsible for the 
whole-of-government procurement framework, including 
strategic procurement governance, reform and capability 

Government tenders awarded 
to Territory enterprises

82%

KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Economic reform

Labour market and economic factsheets issued 65 65 74

Preliminary regulatory impact statements processed within 10 
business days

≥90% 90% 79.2%1

Industry development
Government tenders awarded to Territory enterprises ≥82% 82% 82%

Formal industry and business procurement information sessions 
delivered across all regions

12 12 20

NTPS employees participating in whole-of-government 
procurement training

200 200 250

Studies of potential facilitated investment projects completed 2 2 2

1 Variances from previous actual financial years are due to 2020 MoG and staff changes.

leadership. Develop and provide advice on infrastructure 
policies and strategies, and undertake preliminary 
planning for major infrastructure projects and commercial 
opportunities to support private investment. 
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Key achievements in 2020-21:
 – Published 74 economic-related publications to support 
industry and business planning and development, 
including monthly labour market briefs, quarterly business 
confidence survey results, business count snapshots, key 
business statistics and economic infographics

 – Supported evidence-based decision making, completed a 
review of the NT Regulation Making Framework targeted 
at benchmarking against best practice regulation principles

 – Mapped regulatory approval processes to start and grow 
a business in the retail and hospitality sectors in the 
Territory, and identified improvements to processes that 
will increase efficiency

 – Completed studies into future potential facilitated 
investment projects including a Seafood Processing 
Facility Scoping Study and Opportunities to Grow the 
Drones Industry

 – Delivered the Preliminary Assessment into the Darwin 
Region Water Supply Business Case (Part A)

 – Delivered an assessment of the Maritime Industry’s 
Repair and Maintenance Demand

 – Supported the Chamber of 
Commerce NT to deliver a 
report into the NT steel sector

 – Continued to identify private 
investment opportunities in 
the space and waste industry, 
including a paper processing facility

 – Advocating for the Territory space industry through 
submissions to the: 

 · Australian House of Representatives Standing Committee 
Inquiry into Developing Australia’s Space Industry

 · Australian Space Agency’s draft cost recovery 
implementation statement and proposed legislative 
amendments

 – Supporting the first official visit to Darwin by the new 
Head of the Australian Space Agency, Enrico Palermo

 – Finalised the development and trial of the Value for 
Territory Assessment Framework

 – Development of a dedicated procurement landing page 
for business on NT.GOV.AU and published new guides for 
tendering, competitive neutrality and complaints.

Future priorities  – Streamline regulatory processes to make it easy to do business in the Territory – map 
regulatory processes and identify opportunities to streamline 

 – Deliver an updated Regulatory Making Framework and conduct outreach campaigns to raise 
awareness

 – Develop and grow a pipeline of facilitated projects through the identification of new projects 
and the development of business cases to leverage private sector investment 

 – Provide microeconomic analysis and advice to inform policy and industry development activities 
 – Deliver strategic infrastructure policy and program support with specific reference to the 
future Darwin water supply

 – Reinvigorate the Northern Australia agenda through a focus on the outcomes of the TERC
 – Deliver the Darwin Region Water Supply Detailed Business Case Assessment (Part B)
 – Deliver the Territory Space Strategy 2021-2025
 – Support the development of a Minerals Industry Development Strategy 
 – Support the Centre for Appropriate Technology to develop a masterplan for their space 
ground station precinct

 – Support the development of an Agribusiness Industry Growth Strategy
 – Develop a Strategic Plan for drones
 – Lead the development of a Digital Industry Growth Strategy
 – Support the development of a Maritime Industry Development Plan
 – Support the development of an industry strategy for the circular economy
 – Deliver an updated Territory Benefit Policy internal toolkit
 – Implementation of the Value for Territory Assessment Framework
 – Development and implementation of an Aboriginal Procurement Policy
 – Evaluation and refresh of the Procurement Capability Development Framework

Advocating for 
the Territory 
space industry 
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Output Group: Tourism, Services  
and Hospitality 

OUTCOME

Increased visitation to the Territory. 

Tourism

Markets the Territory as a desirable visitor destination,  
and encourages and facilitates sustainable growth of the 
tourism industry. 

NT Business Events
Positions the Territory as a competitive, distinctive and 
meaningful destination to stage business events and grow 
the value of business events through the attraction of 
domestic and international business events. 

Events

As the peak body for events in the Territory, commercial 
organisation NTMEC strives to grow industry capability 
and deliver world-class events to boost visitation and 
ultimately strengthen the Territory’s economy. Supported by 

grant funding from the department to deliver government 
priorities, NTMEC operates under an independent 
governance structure with its annual activities captured in 
its own annual report.

Screen sector

Screen Territory is the Territory Government agency 
responsible for supporting, developing and promoting the 
screen industry in the Territory. 

KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Holiday visitors:
 – intra-Territory
 – interstate

 
235,000 
200,000

 
394,000 
200,000

 
368,000 
242,000

Holiday visitors expenditure:
 – intra-Territory
 – interstate

 
$84.2M 

$327.8M

 
$203M 
$133M

 
$252M 
$464M

Increased 
visitation 

to the 
Territory Market the Territory as a 

desirable visitor destination

Key achievements in 2020-21:

Tourism
 – Received 66 applications for the NT Business Events 
Support Fund. Since its inception in early 2018, the fund 
has attracted 262 applications and committed over  
$3.3 million to 94 confirmed business events, generating 
$63 million in estimated delegate expenditure through to 
2025 and with visitation from 25,510 delegates.

 – Commenced implementation of Destination Management 
Plans for the Lasseter, Alice Springs and MacDonnell 
Ranges, Big Rivers (Katherine and surrounds) and Barkly 
regions ensuring a coordinated approach to tourism 
between business, government, the tourism industry and 
communities

 – Delivered a dedicated drive market strategy identifying 
key product and marketing opportunities; prioritised and 
advocated for required investments in key drive touring 
routes 

 – Delivered key tourism grant programs to support local 
tourism businesses, including round 4 of the Visitor 
Experience Enhancement Program (VEEP), the Territory 
Tourism Voucher Scheme, round 2 of the Aboriginal 
Tourism grant program, the Book Now digital support 
program and Roadhouse to Recovery grant program

 – Implemented the ‘The Territory is the answer’ national 
recovery marketing campaign to drive awareness and 
demand for Territory visitation from interstate leisure 
travellers prior to domestic borders reopening

 – Created significant awareness and demand for the 
Territory tourism industry by delivering the national ‘Seek 
Different’ brand campaign and a number of sector specific 
marketing initiatives including drive, mountain biking, art 
trails, youth and events



Annual Report 2020-21 49 

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

 – Partnered with 5 major media broadcasters including 
The Amazing Race; Taste of Australia with Hayden Quinn; 
Travel Guides; MasterChef and The Living Room to 
distribute the Northern Territory’s unique offerings in 
an engaging manner to a mass audience and converted 
that audience through 34 cooperative sales marketing 
campaigns with travel trade and airline partners.

NT Business Events
 – In partnership with industry, retained approximately  
60 per cent of business events impacted by Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) that are now rescheduled to be staged 
through to 2025

 – Delivered a record 3 familiarisation programs to the 
incentive and Professional Conference Organisers 
markets in April 2021, generating immediate outcomes  
for industry

 – Developed a new, bespoke, cross platform digital app to 
deliver NTBE-owned familiarisation programs

 – Partnered with key stakeholders in March 2021 to 
deliver in-market events to corporate and association 
markets to stimulate domestic demand

Events

In 2020-21, NTMEC delivered:
 – 5 events in the Top End which attracted over 101,753 
attendances and returned $88.2 million of economic 
stimulus to the Northern Territory economy 

 – 3 events in Alice Springs which attracted over 50,366 
attendances and returned an economic stimulus of  
$21.68 million.   

 – NTMEC was instrumental in securing elite sporting 
fixtures for Territorians with 3 blockbuster AFL clashes 
including the first ‘Dreamtime in Darwin’ AFL game and 
the signature NRL ANZAC round.

 – NTMEC’s event funding program plays a significant role 
in supporting events across the Territory; through the 
competitive grant process 28 events were supported in 
2020-21.

Screen sector
 – Screen Territory invested $1.115 million in Territorian 
screen productions bringing in $4.215 million of external 
investment, generating an additional $5.330 million of 
production spend in the Territory on employment, goods 
and services

 – Completed filming 
of MaveriX, a 10 x 
30-minute premium 
live action children’s 
series for the ABC and 
Netflix, in the Territory 
mid-June 2021. With 
a direct $5 million 
production spend 
including employing up 
to 400 Territorians in Alice Springs, the series generated 
an estimated $1 million of in-direct tourism spend from 
non-Territory cast and crew during the production period 

 – Outback Ringer, a 10 x 30 minute observational 
documentary series, was broadcast on the ABC from 
October to December 2020. The series received over 
7 million views across ABC platforms and has been 
commissioned by the ABC for a second series which has 
been sold internationally

 – High-end Aboriginal 10 x 30 minute children’s series 
Barrumbi Kids commenced pre-production in mid-June 
2021 in Katherine and the Beswick community. The series 
will employ 150 Territorians and inject a minimum  
$2.8 million into the Territory economy 

 – SBS commissioned a major high-end 4 x 1 hour drama 
series True Colours, set in the Territory and co-produced 
by the Central Australian Aboriginal Media Association. 
The Territory Government invested $370,000 into the 
production which commenced pre-production in and 
around Alice Springs in June 2021.  
The series will generate $2.34 million production spend in 
the Territory 

 – Major Territory feature film High Ground launched on 
14 January 2021 at a red carpet gala event at the Darwin 
Entertainment Centre. Released Australia-wide on  
27 January 2021, the film generated more than $3 million 
at the Australian box office. 

$88.2M 
of economic 
stimulus through 
5 top end events
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Future priorities Tourism
 – Deliver Destination Management Plans for the Greater Darwin and Arnhem Land regions 
and oversee implementation of the existing Destination Management Plans for the 
Lasseter, Alice Springs and MacDonnell Ranges, Big Rivers (Katherine and surrounds) and 
Barkly regions 

 – Establish a Project Implementation Team to deliver, monitor and evaluate the actions of the 
dedicated tourism drive strategy, including working with the Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics (DIPL) on the business case to seal the Mereenie Loop Road

 – Continue to implement the NT’s Aboriginal Tourism Strategy 2030, including addressing 
gaps and fostering development in Aboriginal tourism product

 – Continue to support tourism operators through the Tourism Enterprise Development 
Program, with a renewed focus on industry engagement and business development

 – Deliver round 5 of VEEP and round 2 of the Roadhouse to Recovery grants

 – Manage, develop and grow new and existing co-operative travel trade marketing 
partnerships with airlines, wholesalers, trade and media to deliver conversion campaigns 
that make Territory product more accessible and desirable to book

 – Continue to grow consumer data acquisition amongst a changing digital environment and 
deliver data driven marketing initiatives to keep the Territory top of mind. 

NT Business Events
 – Increase awareness and consideration of the Territory as a competitive destination for 

domestic business events through delivery of familiarisation programs
 – Support the Territory business events industry to convert leads by administering the 

NT Business Events Support Fund that aims to attract eligible organisations to stage 
their business events in the Territory

 – Generate qualified and high-yielding business events leads through targeted and 
engaging trade activities including trade events and strategic partnerships

 – Deliver engaging and emotive marketing content via digital platforms and trade media 
that position the Territory as different in every sense for business events

 – Develop and implement a reporting framework for the NT business events sector that 
will accurately reflect the value of business events to the Territory economy to ensure 
appropriate levels of ongoing funding. 

Events

NTMEC
 – Implement NTMEC’s Playbook: Strategic Plan 2021 – 2032 to position the Territory as 
Australia’s leading events destination, offering unique visitor experiences

 – Improve economic outcomes for the Territory through a compelling events portfolio by 
increasing the 2020-21 economic stimulus by 7.5 per cent across 4 events

 – Ensure funding is secured to at least same level and for a 4 year funding cycle

 – Support a balanced portfolio of events to attract visitors year-round by introducing an 
incentive scheme to attract event organisers to host events in the shoulder or wet season. 
The aim is to support at least 10 events through this program 

 – Integrate the Territory’s unique selling points into event offerings by securing and 
promoting packaging options for at least 3 key major events. 

For more information please read the NTMEC annual report at  ntmajorevents.com.au

Screen Territory
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 – Maximise outcomes through investment in screen programs and productions to provide 
increased financial, training and employment benefits to Territory screen practitioners 
and related stakeholders

 – Foster productive relationships with practitioners, screen guilds, industry organisations 
and commercial partners to ensure that the agency is responsive and adaptive to the 
changing needs and trends in the broader screen industry

 – Attract interstate and international screen productions to the Territory to increase 
business and employment opportunities

 – Continue development of the ‘Film Friendly’ strategy with local councils, Aboriginal Land 
Councils, NT Parks and Wildlife and other relevant stakeholders to streamline permit 
processes to minimise barriers for filming in the Territory.

Behind the scenes on the Maverix movie 
production, Alice Springs

Parrtjima 2021
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Output Group: Licensing
OUTCOME

A policy and regulatory framework that balances 
industry, business and community needs.

Licensing NT
 – Oversee the Territory’s licensing regime for a range of 
liquor, gaming and racing functions and occupational 
activities 

 – Balancing the regulatory environment through targeted 
compliance, effective and appropriate enforcement and 
harm minimisation programs 

 – Provision of secretariat, administrative and investigative 
support to multiple statutory and delegated functions as 
well as several statutory commissions and boards  

 – Administer funding support for gambling related research, 
amelioration programs and community non-profit groups.

Established and reviewed  
80% of all licenses

80%
Community 

Benefit Fund 
monies paid to 
not-for profit 
or community 
organisations

Note that the other 4% 
was allocated to Gambling 

Amelioration and research grants.

Oversee the 
Territory’s 

licensing regime

A policy and regulatory framework 
that balances industry, business 

and community needs

96%

KPIs
2020–21 

Budget
2020–21 
Estimate

2020–21 
Actual

Community Benefit Fund monies used to benefit community  ≥90% 96% 96%

Active licences administered  ≥80% 76% 80% 

Compliant liquor licensed premises  ≥90% 98% 98% 

Compliant incorporated associations  ≥70% 70% 70% 

Key Achievements in 2020-21: 

Liquor and Tobacco
 – Delivery of digital applications in the ‘Can-Do’ portal for 
liquor licensing, enabling improved business practices and 
enhanced customer experience 

 – Increased compliance inspections and audits of liquor 
licensed premises across the Territory from 2,043 in  
2019-20 to 2,526 as of 2 June 2021 

 – Partnered with Hospitality NT to launch the free online 
RSA refresher course

 – Introduction of the risk-based liquor licensing fees

 – Introduction of Harm Minimisation Audits on Licensed 
Premises.

Racing and Gaming
 – Provided over $9.4m million in grant funding to not-for-
profit organisations through minor and major grants, 
community event grants, gambling research and gambling 
amelioration grants and vehicle gifts 

 – Supported responsible 
gambling by creating 
a secure, central self-
exclusion system to allow 
clients wanting to take 
a break from gambling 
to provide their details 
to nominated gambling 
operators 

 – Fostered key relationships 
in the online wagering 
industry resulting in an increased number of internet 
gaming licenses, which has an annual turnover in excess 
of $32.5 billion, resulting in taxes paid to the Territory  
of approximately $6.28 million 

 – Commissioned an independent investigation of the 
Darwin Greyhound Association 

 – Continued to support the NT Racing industry including 
annual weekend race meets at Harts Range and Brunette 
Downs, bringing regional communities and surrounding 
areas together to celebrate the Territory lifestyle. 

Provided over  

$9.4M  
in grant funding 
to not-for-profit 
organisations
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Occupational Licensing and Associations 
 – Established an electronic motor vehicle dealers' register, 
which has removed the need for licensed motor vehicle 
dealers to maintain hardcopy dealer registers 

 – Implemented updates to the Private Security and Building 
Practitioner qualifications as a result of changes to 
national training packages 

 – Successfully delivered 8 free Associations Act 2003 
training seminars across the Territory, providing 
extensive information about the legislative obligations 
of being involved in an association, the responsibilities of 

Successfully 
delivered 8 free 
Associations 
Act training 
seminars across 
the Territory

management committee 
members, how to handle 
disputes and how to run 
successful meetings. The 
training resulted in less 
disputes and stronger 
stakeholder engagement. 
Additionally, due to 
demand, delivered 12 
tailored seminars to 
individual organisations. 

Future priorities Liquor and Tobacco: 
 – Finalise and implement amendments to the Liquor Act 2019 and Regulations to ensure the 
legislation is operating as intended 

 – Review and update the CCTV guidelines for licensed premises 

 – Increase BDR compliance audit program across the Territory 

 – Develop an online training package for the BDR.

Racing and Gaming: 
 – In conjunction with the Racing Commission and the Darwin Greyhound Association, 
implement recommendations from the external investigation  

 – Review and modernise the Racing and Betting Act 1983 with a focus on best practice 
regulatory frameworks. 

Occupational Licensing and Associations: 
 – Review and modernise the Architects Act 1963 and the Plumbers and Drainers Act 1983 

 – Implement a uniform scheme to support widespread occupational mobility via automatic 
mutual recognition

 – Continue to provide training for associations across the Territory, with a further 8  
face-to-face sessions scheduled in 2022 and plans to develop accessible online training tools. 
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Output Group: Corporate and Shared Services
OUTCOME

Improved organisational performance and 
governance through strategic leadership and the 
provision of corporate support functions.

Corporate and Governance
 – Provide a range of corporate and governance services to 
support the agency’s functions.

Shared Services Received
 – Receive corporate services from the DCDD. Receive 
infrastructure services from the DIPL.

Improved 
organisational 

performance and 
governance through 
strategic leadership  

and the provision  
of corporate support 

functions

Key achievements in 2020-21:
 – Implemented the government’s MoG changes involving the 
consolidation of 4 agencies to create a single department 
focussed on industry and economic development  

 – Established governance arrangements to support the 
department’s operations including the development of 
the 2021 Strategic Plan and risk register and a range 
of corporate policies and procedures such as Gifts and 
Benefits and Code of Conduct   

 – Established a WHS Framework for the department to 
ensure the safety and well-being of our employees across 
our diverse business 

Future priorities  – Launch the 2021-24 Strategic Plan and support the development of individual business 
plans for each of the department’s divisions

 – Finalise the Disability Action Plan (DAP) in consultation with the DCDD
 – Implement the department’s People Matter Action Plan in response to the 2021 NTPS 
People Matter Survey 

 – Implement the online induction program for new departmental employees 
 – Conduct a review of the performance management system to finalise and implement a new 
and improved performance management system 

 – Establish an Emergency Management Framework for the department 
 – Finalise review of corporate policies to ensure currency and relevance of information to 
support the new department and its employees  

 – Support departmental workforce development and planning by partnering with DCDD to 
implement a strategic workforce plan

 – Develop a strategic ICT plan in partnership with DCDD to effectively support current and 
emerging ICT priorities for the department.

Established a 
Young Leaders 

Group

Established 
governance 

arrangements 
to support the 
department’s 

operations

 – Delivered a 2020-21 internal audit program to ensure the  
department’s risk management, control and governance 
processes are sound 

 – Implemented the special measures plan to improve 
employment outcomes for Aboriginal employees 

 – Established a Young Leaders Group to ensure engagement 
and information sharing with this important cohort across 
the department’s executive leadership. 
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Our staff profile

OVERVIEW 2020-21
Paid employees* 787

Average age 45

Aboriginal staff 70 (9%)

Staff with a disability 16 (2%)

Employees from culturally diverse backgrounds 84 (11%)

* Based on number of adjusted paid employees as at the last pay of the 
financial year and including NTMEC and NTBuild

787 
Paid employees

350 
Staff that have been 
with the department 
for over 10 years

584 
Permanent/ongoing 
employees

724 
Full time  
employees

Darwin

Outside the NT

Katherine

Kidman Springs

Batchelor

Douglas Daly

Daly River-
Nauiyu Namb

Middle Point

Tennant Creek

Alice Springs

Nhulunbuy648

7

4

3

29

3

11

3

1

6

72

Location of paid employees
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Staff by employment type

Staff by employment basis

Staff by classification

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Permanent / Ongoing 584 74%

  Temporary / Fixed Period 193 25%

  Casual 10 1%

TOTAL 787 100%
74%

25%

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Full time 724 92%

  Part time 63 8%

TOTAL 787 100%

92%

8%

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Employment Programs 12 1.5%

  Administrative Officer 389 49.4%

  Senior Administrative Officer 103 13.1%

  Executive Contract Officer 45 5.7%

  Professional 83 10.5%

  Senior Professional 39 5%

  Technical 109 13.9%

  Physical 2 0.3%

  Other 5 0.6%

TOTAL 787 100%

0.3%
0.6%
1.5%

49.4%

13.1%

5.7%

10.5%

5%

13.9%

1%
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Length of Service
Paid 

employees Percentage

  <1 year 90 11%

  >1 year <5 years 205 26%

  >5 years <10 years 142 18%

  >10 years 350 45%

TOTAL 787 100%

Years of service

* Average length of service 11 years

Service Milestones

11% 
Employees from 
culturally diverse 
backgrounds

9% 
Aboriginal staff 
employed in the 
department

2% 
Staff with  
a disability

3  
STAFF 

REACHED

4  
STAFF 

REACHED

21  
STAFF 

REACHED

10  
YEARS

9  
STAFF 

REACHED

20  
YEARS

30  
YEARS

+40  
YEARS

Diversity and inclusion

45%

18%

26%

11%
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Machinery  
of Government

On 7 September 2020, the Chief Minister announced a 
new Ministry and MoG changes which altered a number 
of the Territory Government’s reporting lines.

As part of these changes, the new DITT was established, 
incorporating:

1. The former Department of Primary Industry and 
Resources (DPIR)

2. Tourism and Screen Territory from the Department 
of Tourism, Sport and Culture (DTSC)

3. Licensing NT from the DAGJ

4. The DTBI, noting the Commercial Facilitation 
team from the Investment Territory division and 
civil space industry investment attraction from 
Economic Innovation has transferred to the 

Department of the Chief 
Minister and Cabinet.

The new department has the 
clear mandate of working 
to achieve the Territory 
Government’s goal to create a 
$40 billion economy by 2030.

Representatives from across 
section of the new department 

were appointed to the Change Implementation 
Committee to:

 – consult with staff on significant matters affecting 
employees

 – bring impartial knowledge of operational practice or 
expertise

 – provide advice, feedback and recommendations for 
consideration by the Executive Management Group 
(EMG), BOM and CEO as the decision-maker

 – act as change champions to promote the changes 
across the agency.

A significant change process to establish the 
department’s new organisation structure, develop 
strategic priorities and identify principles of operation 
was led through this group until February 2021.

Create a 

$40B 
economy  
by 2030

People, Culture and Change  
Management Committee

In 2021, the BOM approved the establishment of the People, 
Culture and Change Management Committee (PCCMC).

The PCCMC will play an important role in advising the BOM 
on internal employee communications, engagement and 
change management strategies, as well as identify and drive 
initiatives to build purpose and pride in the work of our 
people and department.

Further information is available at Appendix A.

People matter survey

In March 2021, 472 (53 per cent) department employees 
participated in the NTPS People Matter Survey.

The survey showed that our teams are engaged  
(64 per cent) and satisfied (70 per cent). The standout 
positive results show that our people are passionate about 
what we do and understand the value of our work.

Our people identified that we need to improve in the provision 
of performance feedback and 
career planning, keep them 
informed about what is going on 
in the department and asked that 
we act on the survey results.

Of greater concern was that 
95 people reported that 
they experienced bullying 
and harassment, including 
sexual harassment in the past 
12 months, and 129 people 
witnessed bullying/sexual 
harassment at work.

As a result, the BOM and PCCMC will focus on 3 key areas 
over the next 12 months:
1. professional development and performance management

2. bullying and harassment

3. removing unnecessary internal red tape.

Our 
people are 
passionate 
about what 
we do and 
understand 
the value of 
our work
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Developing our people 

myPerformance 
The department delivered 26 internal information sessions 
to 290 employees on the myPerformance performance 
development system.

The myPerformance annual cycle was delayed due to 
the change management process with 12 per cent of the 
agency completing their myPerformance for the 2020-21 
reporting year. 

Professional development 
The department supported employee professional 
development through the: 

 – study assistance policy

 – professional memberships

 – training opportunities

 – internal development opportunities (temporary transfers 
and promotions).

Internal training and development 
opportunities 
A total of 1082 eLearning modules were completed through 
the myLearning site, including: 

 – Cross Cultural, Aboriginal Land and Native Title (21)

 – Disability Support (9)

 – Drugs, Alcohol and Social Welfare (7)

 – Code of Conduct, Governance and Corporate Induction (20)

 – Procurement Modules 1-6 (815)

 – Merit Selection Training and Special Measures 
Recruitment (57)

 – Information Technology and NTG Systems (11)

 – Records Management (46)

 – Work Health and Safety Management (78)

 – Other (18).

122 employees undertook Office of the Commissioner for 
Public Employment (OCPE) courses.

External training and development 
opportunities
External non-accredited training was attended by 295 
employees. 

Topics included:
 – Business Acumen (1) 

 – Governance (4)

 – Leadership (19)

 – Mentoring/ Coaching (3)

 – Performance Management (5) 

 – Policy (10)

 – Project Management (3) 

Study assistance 
The department supports employees in gaining relevant 
professional and technical skills through higher education 
studies. 

Assistance to undertake study ranging from certificates to 
masters level programs was accessed by 9 employees for 
a total cost of $46,440 with $22,600 paid directly to the 
provided and $23,840 reimbursed to employee.

Areas of study supported included: 
 – Bachelor of Business

 – Bachelor of Environmental Science

 – Graduate Certificate in Business

 – Graduate Diploma of Chartered Accounting

 – Master of International Business/ Master of International 
Relations

 – Master of Business Administration

 – Master of Environmental Management and Development. 

Early careers programs 
The department employed 12 trainees under the NTPS 
Traineeship Program and 1 school-based apprentice.

Graduate Development Program – 3 (2 Fisheries, 1 
Agriculture)

Get Set in the NT provides Year 12s who completed school 
in 2020 access to opportunities to set themselves up for 
the future. DITT hosted 7 program participants/trainees to 
receive on-the-job paid training.

The department supports employees in 
gaining relevant professional and technical 
skills through higher education studies 
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Diversity and inclusion 

Our people have identified under the following diversity and 
inclusion profile:

 – culturally and linguistically diverse (84)

 – disability (16).

The department implemented inclusive workforce practices 
through: 

 – mental health and disability awareness training

 – promoting and encouraging use of flexible work 
arrangements as an option to support needs of people 
with disability and caring responsibilities

 – NAIDOC Week and Harmony Day celebrations

 – reasonable workplace adjustments to support people 
with a disability, such as workplace assessments, disability 
support services and office equipment

 – promoting special measures plan and Aboriginal 
employment and career development strategy.

Male to female ratio 
The ratio of males to females 
for the department was  
41 per cent (323) male and  
59 per cent (459) female. 

The ratio of males to females 
for executive roles (ECO1 and 
above) was 60 per cent (27) male 
and 40 per cent (18) female.

Aboriginal employees 
70 employees identify as 
Aboriginal with 3 in senior management roles. 

The department implemented the NTG Aboriginal 
Employment and Career Development strategy through: 

 – special measures recruitment applied across  
159 advertised vacancies

 – mentoring and coaching to Aboriginal employees

 – cross cultural awareness training (eLearning). 

David Barrett, newly qualified Northern Territory Fisheries Inspector, with Ian Curnow, Senior Executive Director Fisheries

         41%
Ratio of male  
to female  
staff

59%
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Health and wellbeing 

The WHS Management Committee continues to monitor 
compliance with WHS legislation and policy requirements to 
maintain a safe and healthy working environment for  
our people.

Flexible work arrangements 
The department supported family friendly and flexible 
working arrangements that met the operational needs of the 
department and its employees which impacted positively on 
employees’ health and wellbeing, commitment, productivity 
and engagement. 

A total of 213 flexible work arrangements were accessed 
employees, including: 

 – 22 averaging hours arrangements 

 – 72 individual flexible work agreement 

 – 44 part-time employment contracts 

 – 10 home-based work agreements 

 – 64 employees accessed recreation leave at half pay 

 – 1 employee purchased additional leave.

Flu vaccinations 
The department actively promoted the availability of the 
free annual flu vaccination program with 185 employees 
receiving the vaccination. 

Outside employment 
The department had policies and systems in place to 
supported the application and assessment of outside 
employment in line with the requirements of Section 19 of 
the Code of Conduct.

A total of 213  flexible work 
arrangements were accessed

Industrial relations 
The department is committed to working in partnership 
with employees and unions through change management 
process and employee relations matters, ensuring correct 
employee entitlements under the relevant Enterprise 
Agreement and employment legislation.

No industrial relation claims were lodged against the 
department in 2020-21.

Employee Assistance Program 
In 2020-21, the department continued to provide 
professional and confidential counselling services to 
employees and their immediate family members through 
the Territory Government’s Employee Assistance Program. 
Services included support for managing personal and 
workplace relationships, health, depression, substance 
misuse and trauma.  

Laura and Zoe
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Employment instructions 

The Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 
(PSEMA) requires performance to be reported against each 
Employment instruction.

Employment instruction Agency actions

1. Filling vacancies

Agency must develop a procedure for filling vacancies 
consistent with the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993 (PSEMA), its subordinate legislation 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement.

The department maintained streamlined recruitment 
processes and continued to mandate the Special Measures 
Plan, providing for priority consideration of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander applicants.

Agency recruitment actions:
 – 169 vacancies advertised 
(2 casual, 1 part-time fixed period, 66 full-time fixed period 
and 54 ongoing)

 – 129 new commencements to the NTG

 – 141 separations (resignations)

 – 104 transfers out (to other public employers)

 – 475 transfers in from other public employers  
(including MoG transfers).

2. Probation

Agency must develop a probation procedure consistent 
with the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation and any 
relevant award or enterprise agreement.

Probation guidelines and procedures are available on the 
department intranet.

3. Natural justice

The principles of natural justice are observed in all dealings 
with employees and are reflected in relevant policies and 
procedures.

Information on the application of natural justice is provided 
on the department intranet and through specific case 
management. Natural justice is applied to all appropriate 
processes.

4. Employee performance and development systems

Agency must develop and implement a performance 
development system consistent with the PSEMA, its 
subordinate legislation and any relevant award or 
enterprise agreement. Department to report annually 
to the OCPE on management, training and employee 
development programs.

The myPerformance is based on individual performance 
and development and establishes a link between individual 
performance, position responsibilities, department culture 
and values and the department’s strategic directions. The 
process allows for future planning activities and training to 
meet the needs of the individual and the work unit.

5. Medical examinations

Agency may engage a health practitioner in accordance 
with the PSEMA and Employment instruction Number 5.

Medical examinations may be arranged for a number of 
reasons under the PSEMA or relevant enterprise agreement. 
These referrals are managed by DCDD Workforce Relations 
as they relate to case management matters and are highly 
confidential.

All medical referrals are provided in writing to the employee.

There were 8 referrals for an independent medical 
examination in 2020–21.
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Employment instruction Agency actions

6. Performance and inability

Agency to provide OCPE with information relating to 
performance and inability.

The department supports employees through the 
performance framework, which includes regular performance 
feedback and development. Information on the performance 
framework is available on the intranet.

Formal performance and inability is managed through Human 
Resources in relation to case management matters and are 
highly confidential.

There was 1 formal performance and inability process 
instigated under Part 7 of the PSEMA during 2020–21.

7. Discipline

Agency may develop discipline policy consistent with 
the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation and any relevant 
award or enterprise agreement, and to provide OCPE with 
information relating to disciplinary processes.

Agency information on managing employee performance is 
available on the staff intranet. 

Disciplinary matters are resolved through appropriate 
management actions with the support of DCDD Workforce 
Relations and in accordance with department procedures and 
OCPE advice.

There were 5 formal discipline processes undertaken during 
2020–21.

8. Internal department complaints and Section 59

Agency will develop an internal employee grievance 
handling policy and procedure consistent with the PSEMA, 
its subordinate legislation and any relevant award or 
enterprise agreement.

The department’s Resolution of Grievances Policy and 
related procedures are available to staff and managers. 
Employees and managers are encouraged to resolve 
complaints informally through the internal process under an 
early intervention model.

There were 7 formal complaints lodged during 2020–21.

9. Employment records

Agency must comply with the requirements of the 
Information Act 2002 (NT) regarding correction, collection 
and handling of personal information contained in an 
employee’s employment record.

In conjunction with the Information Management Unit, 
DCDD Workforce Relations maintains an approved file plan 
and ensures that any information detailed under Employment 
Instruction number 9 is placed on an employee’s personnel 
file and access to personal information is restricted.

10. Equality of employment opportunity programs

Agency must develop an Equality of Employment 
Opportunity Program consistent with the PSEMA, its 
subordinate legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement.

Department to report annually to OCPE on programs and 
initiatives.

The department is developing a DAP for 2021 and supported 
employee participation in awareness training.

The NTPS Special Measures plan remains mandatory 
across the department to provide priority consideration to 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants.

11 Occupational health and safety standard programs

Agency must ensure the application of appropriate 
occupational health and safety standards and programs.

The department has a WHS Policy and WHS Management 
System that is monitored through the WHS Management 
Committee comprising of representatives from a range 
of workplace locations. WHS committees are established 
to assist the department to meet its workplace safety 
obligations and promote WHS awareness in the workplace. 
Information is available on the department intranet.
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Employment instruction Agency actions

12. Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct stipulates the basic level of conduct 
expected of public sector officers as defined in the PSEMA.

The department provides information on the Code of 
Conduct on the department intranet, online through the 
myLearning site, and through case management advice.

Breaches of the Code of Conduct are addressed immediately 
and appropriately.

13. Appropriate workplace behaviour

Agency must develop and implement a policy and 
procedure to foster appropriate workplace behaviour 
and a culture of respect, and to deal effectively with 
inappropriate workplace behaviour and bullying.

Information concerning appropriate workplace behaviours 
can be found on the department intranet.

Behaviours are reinforced through modelling responsible 
leadership behaviours aligned to values.

Inappropriate workplace behaviours are addressed 
immediately in collaboration with DCDD Workforce 
Relations, management and the employee/s.

14. Redeployment and redundancy procedures

Agency must ensure redeployment processes are 
consistent with the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement, and that 
redeployees are provided with an appropriate level of 
assistance and case management.

The department actively manages redeployees and 
unattached employees to find suitable ongoing positions. 
Where required, additional support is provided through 
development activities. Similarly, where the department 
employs a former redeployee, performance development is 
provided in the new role.

In 2020–21 the department had no redeployees.

There was 1 voluntary redundancy in line with legislative 
compliance due to departmental restructure.

15. Special measures

Agency must ensure the application of appropriate Special 
Measures Plans consistent with the PSEMA, its subordinate 
legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992 and any 
relevant award or enterprise agreement.

The department has a special measures plans in place, Special 
Measures Recruitment Plan (Aboriginal Applicants) and is 
developing DAP.

The department continued its special measures plan, 
approved by the Commissioner for Public Employment, 
which allowed Aboriginal applicants to be given priority 
consideration for assessment, in line with the Territory 
Government’s Aboriginal Employment and Career 
Development Strategy.
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Financial statement overview

The DITT was created as a result of Agency Administration Order (No.3) 2020. The department is an amalgamation of the 
functions of the former DTBI, former DPIR, Tourism NT, Licensing NT and Screen Territory. 

2020-2021

Operating Results
Actuals

$000
Budget

$000

  Income 505,816 511,108

  Expenses 471,221 526,389

  Operating Results 34,595 -15,281

   

 

 

  

Agriculture 
 and fisheries 

Mining  
and energy 

Business, innovation 
and workforce

Corporate and 
shared services

Licensing NT Tourism, services 
and hospitality 

 

Industry and 
economic analysis 

The outputs 
delivered by the 
Department are 
summarised into 
the following 
output groups:

Financial performance

In 2020-21, the department reported a net surplus of 
$34.59 million. This compares to a revised budget net deficit 
of $15.28 million.

The improved outcome was a result of savings achieved in 
employee costs from vacancies as the agency’s structure 
was being finalised following the administration order and 
various internal and externally funded projects not fully 
expended in 2020-21 which will be finalised in 2021-22.

$000

505,816 471,221

34,595

$000

511,108 526,389

-15,281

BudgetActual
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Amount
$000 %

  Taxation revenue 14,411 2.8%

  Grants and subsidies 2,357 0.5%

  Output appropriation 428,654 84.7%

  Commonwealth output appropriation 24,951 4.9%

  Sales of good and services 7,007 1.4%

  Goods and services received free of charge 23,052 4.6%

  Gain on disposal of assets 10 0.0%

  Other income 5,374 1.1%

Total 505,816 100%

Income

The department recorded total income of $505.82 million 
for 2020-21 which was $5.29 million less than the revised 
budget.

Output appropriation

The department is primarily funded through Territory 
parliamentary appropriations as output appropriation 
accounted for $428.65 million (84.7%) of the department’s 
total income for 2020-21. 

Commonwealth appropriation

Commonwealth appropriations totalled $24.95 million 
(4.9%) of the department’s total income for 2020-21. The 
appropriation received was for externally funded projects 
between the department and the Commonwealth related to 
various national partnership (NP) agreements and specific 
purpose payments.

Goods and services free of charge

Goods and services received free of charge totalled  
$23.05 million, incorporating $19.59 million from the  
DCDD for notional goods and services received and  
$3.46 million for DIPL repairs and maintenance program.

The difference between budgeted and actual income 
is predominantly due to the timing of receipts for 
commonwealth funded projects.

Taxation revenue

Taxation revenue totalled 
$14.41 million (2.8%) of the 
department’s total income for 
2020-21. Taxation revenue 
represents the receipts 
collected from the levy on 
electronic gaming machines in 
licensed venues.

Other sources of income totalled a combined $14.75 million 
(2.9%) of total income which was made up of: 

 – Sale of goods and services of $7.01 million 

 – other income $5.37 million

 – grants and subsidies income $2.36 million, and

 – gain on disposal of assets $0.01 million.

Total income  
of 2020-21

$505M

0.5%

84.7%

4.9%
4.6%

1.1%

1.4%

2.8%
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Expenses 

The department recorded total expenses of $471.22 million 
for 2020-21 which was $55.20 million less than the revised 
budget. The difference is predominantly due to various 
internal and externally funded programs not fully expended 
and are expected to be finalised in 2021-22.

Grants and subsidies

Grant and subsidies expenditure was the department's 
largest expense component which was $288.23 million, 
61.2% of the department’s total expenditure. The 
significance of grant expenditure is primarily related to the 
support and funding provided to Territory businesses and 
individuals to reduce the economic impact of COVID-19.

Employee expenses

Employee expenses was the second largest component at 
$99.30 million, 21.1% of the total expense. 

Purchase of goods  
and services

Purchase of goods and services 
totalled $48.17 million (10.2%) 
of the department’s total 
expenditure for 2020-21. 

Other sources of expenditure 
totalled a combined  
$35.52 million (7.5%) which 
was made up of:

 – other administrative expenses $25.96 million

 – depreciation and amortisation $6.48 million 

 – property management $3.04 million

 – foreign exchange losses $0.03 million

 – interest expenses $0.01 million

Total expenses  
for 2020-21

$244M

Amount
$000 %

  Employee expenses 99,299 21.1%

  Property management 3,039 0.6%

  Purchase of good and services 48,170 10.2%

  Depreciation and amortisation 6,478 1.4%

  Other administrative expenses 25,956 5.5%

  Grants and subsidies 288,230 61.2%

  Foreign exchange loss 31 0.0%

  Interest expenses 18 0.0%

Total 471,221 100%

61.2%

21.1%

10.2%

5.5%

1.1%
1.4%

0.6%

Laboratory staff
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Balance Sheet

The Balance Sheet provides a summary of the department’s 
balances at the end of the financial year for assets, liabilities 
and equity.

The department’s net assets as at 30 June 2021 were 
$145.08 million, comprised of $275.77 million in total  
assets offset by $130.69 million in total liabilities.

The department’s assets balance of $275.77 million  
consists of:

 – cash balances of $152.02 million, representing cash held 
in a financial institution and in trust, petty cash and floats

 – receivables of $11.40 million, representing the amount 
that is owed to the department for goods and services 
provided and delivered, goods and service tax refunds 
receivable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO) and 
prepayments made by the department

 – advances and investments of $0.23 million, representing 
the concessional loans approved under the Farm Finance 
Concessional Loan Scheme funded by the Australian 
Government

 – property, plant and equipment of $112.11 million, and 
heritage and cultural collection of $0.01 million.

In 2020-21, the department reported  

a net surplus of $34.59M

The department’s liabilities balance of $130.69 million 
consists of:

 – deposits held of $84.45 million, largely representing cash 
held in Accountable Officers’ Trust Accounts (AOTA)

 – payables of $24.35 million, representing the amount 
owed to creditors for goods and services purchased and 
received

 – borrowings and advances of $0.90 million, representing 
the lease liabilities and the concessional loans approved 
under the Farm Finance Concessional Loan Scheme 
funded by the Australian Government

 – provisions of $14.59 million, representing employee 
entitlements to be paid in the future

 – unearned revenue of $6.40 million, representing 
consideration received or due to receive in advance from 
customers in respect of research and services contracts.

Berrimah Farm Science Precinct 
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Certification of the financial statements

We certify that the attached financial statements for the Department of Industry, Tourism 
and Trade have been prepared based on proper accounts and records in accordance with the 
prescribed format, the Financial Management Act 1995 and Treasurer's Directions.

We further state that the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance 
sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to and forming part of the 
financial statements, presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 
30 June 2021 and the financial position on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Shaun Drabsch Joanna Frankenfeld
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 
30 August 2021 30 August 2021
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Comprehensive operating statement

For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021

$000
INCOME
Taxation revenue  14,411 

Grants and subsidies revenue 4a

Current  2,357 

Appropriation 4b

Output 428,654 

Commonwealth 24,951 

Sales of goods and services 4c 7,007 

Goods and services received free of charge1 5 23,052 

Gain on disposal of assets 6 10 

Other income 4d 5,374 

TOTAL INCOME 3 505,816 

EXPENSES  
Employee expenses  99,299 

Administrative expenses

Property Management  3,039 

Purchases of goods and services 7  48,170 

Depreciation and amortisation 15,16  6,478 

Other administrative expenses1  25,956 

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current  177,029 

Capital  111,201 

Foreign exchange loss  31 

Interest Expenses 8  18 

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 471,221 

NET SURPLUS 34,595 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

Changes in asset revaluation surplus (5,619) 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (5,619) 

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 28,976 

1 Includes DCDD service charges and DIPL repairs and maintenance service charges.  
The comprehensive operating statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

As at 30 June 2021

Note 2021

$000
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and deposits 10 152,022 

Receivables 12 11,397 

Advances and investments 13 234 

Total Current Assets 163,653 

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 15, 16, 24 112,105 

Heritage and cultural assets 17, 24 15 

Total Non-Current Assets 112,120 

TOTAL ASSETS 275,773 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Deposits held 84,447 

Payables 18 24,352 

Borrowings and advances 19 248 

Provisions 20 14,594 

Other liabilities 21 6,395 

Total Current Liabilities 130,036 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings and advances 19 656 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 656 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 130,692 

NET ASSETS 145,081 

EQUITY
Capital 71,222 

Reserves 23 39,264 

Accumulated funds 34,595 

TOTAL EQUITY 145,081 

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note
 Equity at  

1 July 
Comprehensive 

result

Transactions 
with owners in 

their capacity 
as owners

Equity at  
30 June 

  $000 $000 $000 $000
2020-21
Accumulated Funds

Accumulated funds 0 34,595 0 34,595 

Total Accumulated Funds 0 34,595 0 34,595 

Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve 23 0 (5,619) 0 (5,619) 

Transfer in from Administrative 
Arrangements

0 0 44,883 44,883 

Total Reserves 0 (5,619) 44,883 39,264 

Capital - Transactions with Owners

Equity injections

Capital appropriation 0 0 559 559 

Equity transfers In 0 0 56,801 56,801 

Other equity injections 0 0 18,866 18,866 

Transfer from Administrative 
Arrangments

0 0 25,435 25,435 

Total Equity Injections 0 0 101,661 101,661 

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawal 0 0 (30,439) (30,439) 

Total Equity Withdrawals 0 0 (30,439) (30,439) 

Total Capital 0 0 71,222 71,222 

Total Equity at End of Financial Year 0 28,976 116,105 145,081 

This Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Receipts

Taxes received 14,411 
Grants and subsidies received

Current 2,525 
Appropriation 

Output 428,654 

Commonwealth 32,656 
Receipts from sales of goods and services 26,088 
Total Operating Receipts 504,334 

Operating Payments
Payments to employees (91,185) 
Payments for goods and services (66,242) 
Grants and subsidies paid

Current (176,906) 
Capital (93,233) 

Interest paid (18) 
Total Operating Payments (427,584) 

Net Cash from Operating Activities 11 76,750

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing Receipts
Proceeds from asset sales 6 10 
Total Investing Receipts 10 

Investing Payments
Purchases of assets (699) 
Total Investing Payments (699) 

Net Cash (used in) Investing Activities (689) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing Receipts
Deposits received 9,590 

Equity injections
Capital appropriation 559 
Other equity injections 18,865 

Total Financing Receipts 29,014 

Financing Payments
Finance lease payments (15) 
Equity withdrawals (30,439) 
Total Financing Payments (30,454) 

Net Cash (used in) Financing Activities 11 (1,440) 

Net increase in cash held 74,621 
Cash at beginning of financial year 77,432 

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies (31) 

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 10 152,022 

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2021 

Note
1. Objectives and funding
2. Statement of significant accounting policies 
3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group

INCOME
4a. Grants and subsidies revenue 
4b. Appropriation
4c. Sales of goods and services 
4d. Other income 
5. Goods and services received free of charge 
6 Gain on disposal of assets

EXPENSES
7. Purchases of goods and services 
8. Interest expenses
9. Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex gratia payments

ASSETS
10. Cash and deposits
11. Cash flow reconciliation 
12. Receivables 
13. Advances and investments
14. Other assets
15. Property, plant and equipment 
16. Agency as lessee
17. Heritage and cultural assets

LIABILITIES
18. Payables
19. Borrowings and advances
20. Provisions
21. Other liabilities
22. Commitments

EQUITY
23. Reserves

OTHER DISCLOSURES
24. Fair value measurement
25. Financial instruments
26. Related parties
27. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
28. Events subsequent to balance date
29. Accountable officer’s trust account (AOTA)
30. Schedule of administered Territory items
31. Budgetary information
32. Budgetary information: administered Territory items
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1. Objectives and funding

The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade  
(“the department”) was established in September 2020 as 
the Northern Territory Public Sector's coordinating agency 
for economic and industry development.

The department comprises the former functions of the 
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation, Department 
of Primary Industry and Resources as well as Tourism NT, 
Licensing and Screen Territory to bolster agility, flexibility 
and quicker decision making across government.

Additional information in relation to the department  
and its principal activities can be found in the body of the 
annual report.

The department is predominantly funded and therefore 
dependent, on the receipt of parliamentary appropriations. 
The financial statements encompass all funds through which 
the department controls resources to carry on its functions 
and deliver outputs. For reporting purposes, outputs 
delivered by the department are summarised into the 
following output groups:

 – Agriculture and fisheries

 – Mining and energy

 – Business, innovation and workforce

 – Industry and economic analysis

 – Tourism, services and hospitality

 – Licensing NT

 – Corporate and shared services 

Note 3 provides summary financial information in the form 
of comprehensive operating statement by output.

a) Machinery of Government changes
TRANSFERS IN

Details of transfer:  Former functions from the Department  
 of Primary Industry and Resources  
 transferred into the Department of  
 Industry, Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer:  Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS

Cash 77,432

Receivables 11,886

Prepayments 352

Advances and investment 1,223

Property, plant and equipment 81,886

172,779

LIABILITIES
Deposits held 74,857

Payables 2,603

Provisions 8,144

Borrowings and advances 1,909

Other liabilities 2,738

90,251

Net assets 82,528

Details of transfer: Racing, gaming, licensing and alcohol  
 policy functions from the Department  
 of the Attorney-General and Justice  
 transferred into the Department of  
 Industry, Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS

Cash 2,866

Receivables 36

Property, plant and equipment 70

2,972

LIABILITIES
Payables 578

Provisions 1,115

Other liabilities 182

1,875

Net assets 1,097
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Details of transfer: Screen Territory function from the  
 Department of Territory Families,  
 Housing and Communities transferred   
 into the  Department of Industry,  
 Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 4) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS

Cash 52

Receivables 4

Prepayments 123

179

LIABILITIES
Payables 47

Provisions 42

89

Net assets 90

Details of transfer:  Staff seconded to the Northern Territory  
 Major Events Company from the  
 Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture  
 transferred into the Department of  
 Industry, Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS
Receivables 74

74

LIABILITIES
Payables 13

Provisions 199

212

Net assets (138)

Details of transfer:  Business and Innovation NT, 
 Procurement NT, Strategic Policy,  
 Workforce NT, corporate and governance  
 and components of the Northern Australia  
 Development and Trade function from the  
 Department of Trade, Business and  
 Innovation transferred into the  
 Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS

Cash 55,994

Receivables 2,022

Prepayments 266

Property, plant and equipment 15,810

74,092

LIABILITIES
Payables 38,288

Provisions 3,945

Other liabilities 775

43,008

Net assets 31,084
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Details of transfer: Corporate function from the Department  
 of Tourism, Sport and Culture transferred  
 into the Department of Industry, Tourism  
 and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
LIABILITIES
Payables 25

Provisions 285

310

Net assets (310)

Details of transfer: Tourism NT function from the  
 Department of Tourism, Sport and  
 Culture transferred into the Department  
 of Industry, Tourism and Trade

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
ASSETS

Cash 2,495

Receivables 94

Prepayments 271

Property, plant and equipment 365

3,225

LIABILITIES
Payables 458

Provisions 1,032

1,490

Net assets 1,735

TRANSFERS OUT

Details of transfer: Executive Officer function from the  
 former Department of Primary Industry  
 and Resources transferred to the  
 Department of the Chief Minister  
 and Cabinet

Basis of transfer: Administrative arrangements order  
 (No. 3) 2020

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:

Total $000
LIABILITIES
Payables 8

Provisions 65

73

Net assets (73)
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2. Statement of significant 
accounting policies

a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 
1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial 
Management Act 1995 requires the Department of Industry, 
Tourism and Trade to prepare financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2021 based on the form determined by 
the Treasurer. The form of department financial statements 
should include:

(i) a certification of the financial statements

(ii) a comprehensive operating statement

(iii) a balance sheet

(iv) a statement of changes in equity

(v) a cash flow statement and applicable explanatory notes 
to the financial statements. 

b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the effect of 
financial transactions and events when they occur, rather 
than when cash is paid out or received. As part of the 
preparation of the financial statements, all intra agency 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Except where stated, the financial statements have also been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

The form of the department financial statements is also 
consistent with the requirements of Australian accounting 
standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised 
standards and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for 
the current annual reporting period have been evaluated. 

Standards and interpretations effective from 
2020-21

Several amending standards and AASB interpretations have 
been issued that apply to the current reporting periods, but 
are considered to have no impact on public sector reporting.

Standards and interpretations issued but not  
yet effective

No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted 
for 2020-21. 

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations 
have been issued that apply to future reporting periods 
but are considered to have limited impact on public sector 
reporting.

c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the department as an 
individual reporting entity. 

The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade is a 
Northern Territory department established under the 
Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements 
Order. 

The principal place of business of the department is Charles 
Darwin Centre, 19 Smith Street, The Mall NT 0800.

d) Agency and Territory items
The financial statements of department include income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which the 
department has control (agency items). Certain items, while 
managed by the department, are controlled and recorded 
by the Territory rather than the agency (Territory items). 
Territory items are recognised and recorded in the Central 
Holding Authority as discussed below.

Central Holding Authority

The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that 
represents the government’s ownership interest in 
government-controlled entities. 

The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory 
items, such as income, expenses, assets and liabilities 
controlled by the government and managed by agencies 
on behalf of the government. The main Territory item is 
Territory income, which includes taxation and royalty 
revenue, Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as 
GST revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges. 

The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory 
assets not assigned to agencies as well as certain Territory 
liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign to 
individual agencies such as unfunded superannuation and 
long service leave.

The Central Holding Authority recognises and records all 
Territory items, and as such, these items are not included 
in the department’s financial statements. However, as 
the department is accountable for certain Territory items 
managed on behalf of government, these items have been 
separately disclosed in Note 30 – Schedule of administered 
Territory items.
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e) Comparatives
The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade was 
established under the Administrative Arrangements 
Order (no.3) 2020 and is an amalgamation of the former 
Departments and work units of the Department of Trade, 
Business and Innovation, Department of Primary Industry 
and Resources, Tourism NT, Licensing NT and Screen NT. As 
such there are no comparatives for the 2019-20 year. 

f) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars 
and have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, 
with amounts of $500 or less being rounded down to zero. 
Figures in the financial statements and notes may not equate 
due to rounding. 

g) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted 
in 2020-21 as a result of management decisions. 

h) Accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires the making 
of judgments and estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Judgments and estimates that have significant effects on the 
financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes to 
the financial statements. 

i) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services 
is not recoverable from the ATO.  

In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of 
GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net  
of the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless 
otherwise specified.

j) Contributions by and distributions  
to government

The department may receive contributions from government 
where the government is acting as owner of the department. 
Conversely, the department may make distributions to 
government. In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of 
contributions and distributions, including those relating 
to administrative restructures, have been designated as 
contributions by, and distributions to, government. These 
designated contributions and distributions are treated by 
the department as adjustments to equity.

The statement of changes in equity provides additional 
information in relation to contributions by, and distributions 
to, government.

k) Impact of Coronavirus (COVID-19)
The Territory Government modified its debt recovery 
process and postponed the payment date for a number of 
regulatory fees and charges to ease financial hardship faced 
by individuals and businesses as a result of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19).

In addition, the department provided various Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) stimulus grant programs in 2020-21.
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3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group 

Agriculture  
and 

fisheries

Mining 
and 

Energy

Business, 
innovation 

and 
workforce

Industry 
and 

economic 
analysis

Tourism, 
services 

and 
hospitality Licensing

Corporate 
and 

shared 
services Total

Note
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
INCOME 
Taxation revenue 0 0 0 0 0 14,411 0 14,411 
Grants and subsidies revenue              4a

Current 1,460 0 260 100 537 0 0 2,357 
Appropriation 4b

Output 30,596 23,985 242,179 7,098 90,887 24,179 9,730 428,654 
Commonwealth 2,310 1,251 18,815 400 0 2,175 0 24,951 

Sales of goods and services 4c 5,176 1,048 591 0 137 55 0 7,007 
Goods and services 
received free of charge1

5 0 0 0 0 0 0 23,052 23,052 

Gain on disposal of assets 6 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 
Other income 4d 3,299 472 719 87 222 529 46 5,374 
TOTAL INCOME 42,851 26,756 262,564 7,685 91,783 41,349 32,828 505,816 
EXPENSES 
Employee expenses 29,440 17,565 20,530 4,604 9,671 9,046 8,443 99,299 
Administrative expenses

Property Management 2,126 211 205 25 325 64 83 3,039 
Purchases of goods and 
services

7 9,035 6,406 4,933 1,678 22,868 2,000 1,250 48,170 

Depreciation and 
amortisation

15,16 4,389 682 1,171 0 119 18 99 6,478 

Other administrative 
expenses1 63 (192) 80 0 2,946 2 23,057 25,956 

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current 2,101 3,669 97,833 1,334 52,862 19,230 0 177,029 
Capital 0 0 102,490 0 3,112 5,599 0 111,201 

Foreign exchange loss 0 0 0 0 31 0 0 31 
Interest Expenses 8 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 
TOTAL EXPENSES 47,172 28,341 227,242 7,641 91,934 35,959 32,932 471,221 
NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) (4,321) (1,585) 35,322 44 (151) 5,390 (104) 34,595 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to  
net surplus/deficit
Changes in asset revaluation surplus (5,592) (846) 821 0 (2) 0 0 (5,619) 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

(5,592) (846) 821 0 (2) 0 0 (5,619) 

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (9,913) (2,431) 36,143 44 (153) 5,390 (104) 28,976 

1 Includes DCDD and DIPL service charges.
The Comprehensive Operating Statement by output group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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4. Revenue

a) Grants and subsidies revenue

2021
Revenue from contracts with customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000
Current grants 1,560 797 2,357 
Total grants and subsidies revenue 1,560 797 2,357 

Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the 
amount of GST.

Where a grant agreement is enforceable and has sufficiently 
specific performance obligations for the department to 
transfer goods or services to the grantor or a third party 
beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15. 
In this case, revenue is initially deferred as a contract liability 
when received in advance and recognised as or when the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 

The department’s contracts with customers are mainly for 
delivery of activity based services for the eradication and 
control of pests and diseases, including the National Citrus 
Canker and Browsing Ant eradication programs. These 
arrangements have been identified as having sufficiently 
specific performance obligations under enforceable 
agreements. Funding is generally received after the 
completion of performance obligations on a reimbursement 
basis, revenue is recognised over time because funding 
providers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits 
as the services are delivered. A contract asset representing 
the department’s right to consideration in exchange for the 
services transferred to the funding providers, is recognised 
for services rendered but unbilled at each reporting date.

A financing component for consideration is only recognised 
if it is significant to the contract and the period between the 
transfer of goods and services and receipt of consideration 
is more than 1 year. For the 2020-21 reporting period, there 
were no adjustments for the effects of a significant financing 
component.

Where grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is 
accounted for under AASB 1058 and income is recognised 
on receipt of funding except for capital grants revenue 
received for the purchase or construction of non-financial 
assets to be controlled by the department. Capital grants 
with enforceable contracts and sufficiently specific 
obligations are recognised as an unearned revenue liability 
when received and subsequently recognised progressively as 
revenue as or when the department satisfies its obligations 
under the agreement. Where a non-financial asset is 
purchased, revenue is recognised at the point in time the 
asset is acquired and control transfers to the department.

For constructed assets, revenue is recognised over time, using 
the percentage of completion method, measured as the costs 
incurred as a proportion of estimated total project costs.

Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory Government-
controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding 
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective 
of which revenue accounting standard it may fall under in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction on income.

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 
financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include a description of the type 
of product or service line, type of customer and timing of 
transfer of goods and services.

Grant agreements that satisfy recognition requirements 
under AASB 15 are disaggregated below.

Income

Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges of goods 
or services of the same nature and value without any cash 
consideration being exchanged are not recognised as income.
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2021

$000
TYPE OF GOOD AND SERVICE:
Service delivery 1,351 
Research services 209 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 1,560 

TYPE OF CUSTOMER:
Australian Government entities 427 
State and Territory Governments 1,121 
Non-government entities 12 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 1,560 
TIMING OF TRANSFER OF GOODS AND SERVICES:
Overtime 1,460 
Point in time 100 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 1,560 

b) Appropriation

2021
Revenue from contracts with customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000
Output 0 428,654 428,654 

Commonwealth 8,180 16,771 24,951 

Total appropriation 8,180 445,425 453,605 

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each 
department for the outputs they provide as specified in the 
Appropriation Act. It does not include any allowance for major 
non-cash costs such as depreciation. Output appropriations 
do not have sufficiently specific performance obligations and 
recognised on receipt of funds.

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the inter-
governmental agreement on federal financial relations, 
resulting in specific purpose payments and NP payments 
being made by the Commonwealth Treasury to state 
treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for GST 
payments. These payments are received by the Department 
of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the Central Holding 
Authority and then passed on to the relevant agencies as 
Commonwealth appropriation.

Where appropriation received has an enforceable contract 
with sufficiently specific performance obligations as defined 
in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and when goods and 
or services are transferred to the customer or third party 
beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when the 
department gains control of the funds. 

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 
financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include a description of the 
type of product or service line, type of customer and timing 
of transfer of goods and services.

2021

$000
TYPE OF GOOD AND SERVICE:
Service delivery 8,028 
Research services 152 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 8,180 

TYPE OF CUSTOMER:
Australian Government entities 8,180 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 8,180 
TIMING OF TRANSFER OF GOODS AND SERVICES:
Overtime 3,605 
Point in time 4,575 
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 8,180 
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c) Sales of goods and services

2021
Revenue from contracts with customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000
Sales of goods and services 5,163 1,844 7,007 

Total sales of goods and services 5,163 1,844 7,007 

Goods and services revenue is generated from the provision 
of goods and services and delivery of regulatory services.

Sale of goods 

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the 
department satisfies a performance obligation by transferring 
the promised goods. The department typically satisfies 
its performance obligations on transfer of the goods to 
the customers, which is the sole performance obligation. 
Payments are typically due when the goods are sold. 

Revenue from these sales are based on the price specified 
in the contract, and revenue is only recognised to the extent 
that it is highly probable a significant reversal will not occur. 
There is no element of financing present as sales are made 
with a short credit term.

Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when 
the department satisfies the performance obligation by 
transferring the promised services. 

The department typically satisfies its performance obligations 
upon the delivery of the services, at a point in time.

Regulatory fees

Revenue from regulatory fees is recognised when the 
department satisfies its performance obligations. These 
include fees for the issue of licences. The department’s sole 
performance obligations for the issue of a non-intellectual 
property licence is the issue of the licence, as such revenue is 
recognised upfront on issue of the licence. 

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 
financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include a description of the 
type of product or service line, type of customer and timing 
of transfer of goods and services.

2021

$000
TYPE OF GOOD AND SERVICE:
Regulatory services 1,205 

Service delivery 2,274 

Sale of goods 1,684 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 5,163 

TYPE OF CUSTOMER:
Australian Government entities 59 

State and Territory Governments 65 

Non-government entities 5,039 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 5,163 

TIMING OF TRANSFER OF GOODS AND SERVICES:
Overtime 383 

Point in time 4,780 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 5,163 
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d) Other income

2021
Revenue from contracts with customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000
Other income 3,176 2,198 5,374 

Total other income 3,176 2,198 5,374 

Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The department receives funding for the delivery of 
research, biosecurity surveillance and other services, 
from multiple public and private sources including 
Commonwealth, state governments and industries.

The majority of the research agreements have been assessed 
as meeting criteria under AASB 15, and revenue is generally 
recognised over time using the input method. This is on the 
basis that comprehensive research data and findings are 
being provided to the funding providers at least every 6 
months to allow contemporaneous publication of, or making 
available, research outcomes as the research is carried out. 

Most of the services contracts have also been assessed as 
having sufficiently specific performance obligations and are 
accounted for under AASB 15. The Department typically 
satisfies its performance obligations over time because the 
funding providers or third party beneficiaries simultaneously 
receive and consume the benefits as the services are 
delivered.

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2020-21 
financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include a description of the 
type of product or service line, type of customer and timing 
of transfer of goods and services.

2021

$000
TYPE OF GOOD AND SERVICE:
Service delivery 1,023 

Research services 2,153 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 3,176 

TYPE OF CUSTOMER:
Australian Government entities 446 

State and Territory Governments 605 

Non-government entities 2,125 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 3,176 

TIMING OF TRANSFER OF GOODS AND SERVICES:
Overtime 2,631 

Point in time 545 

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 3,176 
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5. Goods and services received free of charge

2021

$000
Corporate and information services 19,590 

Repairs and maintenance 3,462 

Total goods and services received free of charge 23,052 

Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue 
when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would have been purchased if they had not 
been donated. Use of those resources is recognised as an 
expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded as 
either revenue or gains depending on their nature. 

Repairs and maintenance expenses and associated employee 
costs are centralised and provided by the DIPL and forms 
part of goods and services free of charge of the agency. 

In addition, corporate services staff and functions are 
centralised and provided by DCDD and forms part of goods 
and services free of charge of the agency.

6. Gain on disposal of assets
2021

$000
Net proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets 10 

Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed 0 

Gain on the disposal of non-current assets 10 

Proceeds from sale of minor assets 0 

Total gain on disposal of assets 10 
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7. Purchases of goods and services

The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:

2021

$000
GOODS AND SERVICES EXPENSES:
Consultants 1 4,345 

Advertising 2 194 

Marketing and promotion 3,7 21,084 

Document production 144 

Legal expenses 4 842 

Recruitment 5 158 

Training and study 669 

Official duty fares 458 

Travelling allowance 388 

Information technology charges and communications 6,908 

Equipment expenses 6 965 

Motor vehicle expenses 1,848 

Laboratory expenses 1,289 

Regulatory, advisory boards and committees 1,104 

Access permit 1,027 

Research project costs 874 

Membership and subscriptions 403 

Insurance 448 

Survey, drafting and drilling expenses 402 

Other 4,620 

Total 48,170 

1 Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.

2 Does not include recruitment related advertising or advertising for marketing and promotion.

3 Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are 
incorporated in the consultants category.

4 Includes legal fees, claims and settlement costs.

5 Includes recruitment related advertising costs.

6 Includes multi-function devices charges and other equipment costs.

7 Excludes contributions paid under cooperative marketing agreements that are included in grant expenses of $5.995 million.

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations, including supplies and 
service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
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9. Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts  
and ex gratia payments

Agency Territory items
2021

$000
No. of 

Transfer

2021

$000
No. of 

Transfer
WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS AND WAIVERS UNDER THE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ACT 1995
Represented by:

Amounts written off, postponed and waived by delegates

Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency 
written off  21  7 0 0

Losses or deficiencies of money written off  0  1 0 0

Public property written off  3  1 0 0

Total written off, postponed and waived by delegates  24  9  0  0 

AMOUNTS WRITTEN OFF, POSTPONED AND WAIVED BY THE TREASURER 
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency 
written off  0  1 0 0

Total written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer  0  1  0  0 

Write-offs, postponements and waivers authorised under 
other legislation  0  0  0  0 

GIFTS UNDER THE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ACT 1995
Gifts by delegate

Office furniture  0  1 0 0

Other  1  2 0 0

Total gifts by delegate  1  3  0  0 

Gifts by Treasurer  0  0  0  0 

Gifts authorised under other legislation  0  0 0  0 

Ex gratia payments under the Financial Management Act 1995  0  0 0  0 

8. Interest expense
2021

$000
Interest from lease liabilities 18 

Total 18 
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10. Cash and deposits

2021

$000
Cash on hand 9 

Cash at bank 152,013 

Total cash and deposits 152,022 

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow 
statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and cash 
equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term 
investments that are readily convertible to cash. Cash at 
bank includes monies held in the AOTA that are ultimately 
payable to the beneficial owner – refer also to Note 29.

11. Cash flow reconciliation

a) Reconciliation of cash
The total of department's ‘cash and deposits’ of $152.022 
million recorded in the balance sheet is consistent with that 
recorded as ‘Cash’ in the Cash Flow Statement.

Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash From Operating Activities
2021

$000
Net surplus/deficit 34,595 

NON-CASH ITEMS:
Depreciation and amortisation 6,478 
Asset write-offs/write-downs 3,033 
(Gain) on disposal of assets (10) 
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies 31 

CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
Decrease in Receivables 840 
Increase in Payables 21,741 
Increase in Provision for Employee Benefits 5,345 
Increase in Other Provisions 1,040 
Increase in Other Deferred Income 3,657 
Net Cash from Operating Activities 76,750 

b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

2021

1 July

$000

Additions 
from 

administrative 
restructuring

$000

Cash Flow

30 June 
2021

$000

Deposits 
Received

$000

Lease 
liabilities 

repayments

$000

Total Cash 
Flows

$000
Deposits held 0 74,857 9,590 0 9,590 84,447 

Borrowings and advances 0 686 0 (15) (15) 671 

Total 0 75,543 9,590 (15) 9,575 85,118 



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade94 

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

12. Receivables
2021

$000
CURRENT
Accounts receivable 849 

Less: Loss allowance (390) 

Contract receivables 1,359 

Less: Loss allowance (10) 

Accrued contract revenue 3,137 

Less: Loss allowance 0 

4,945 

GST receivables 5,249 

Prepayments 877 

Other receivables 326 

Total receivables 11,397

Receivables are initially recognised when the department 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument and are measured at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Receivables include contract 
receivables, accounts receivable, accrued contract revenue 
and other receivables.

Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairments.

Accounts receivable and contract receivables are generally 
settled within 30 days.

The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses 
and represents the amount of receivables the department 
estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered 
doubtful.

Accrued contract revenue

Accrued contract revenue arise from contracts with customers 
where the department’s right to consideration in exchange 
for goods transferred to customers or works completed have 
arisen but have not been billed at the reporting date. Once 
the department’s rights to payment becomes unconditional, 
usually on issue of an invoice, accrued contract revenue 
balances are reclassified as contract receivables. Accrued 
revenue that does not arise from contracts with customers are 
reported as part of other receivables.

Credit risk exposure of receivables

Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. The department 
applies the simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance 
based on lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts 
receivables, contracts receivables and accrued contract 
revenue. To measure expected credit losses, receivables 
have been grouped based on shared risk characteristics and 
days past due. 

No loss allowance was recorded for receivables from entities 
controlled by the NTG or other government departments 
on the basis that any impairment would be immaterial due 
to their high credit ratings. The department has determined 
there are 3 receivables groups for measuring expected credit 
losses based on their risk characteristics and demonstrated 
loss patterns.

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed 
loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information, including macroeconomic factors and their 
expected impacts on the default rates of each group and the 
unemployment rate forecast. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 1995, receivables are written-off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery includes 
a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater 
than 90 days past due. 

As the department undertakes transactions with a wide 
range of entities, there is a minimal concentration of credit 
risk. The department’s credit risk exposure has not largely 
been affected by Coronavirus (COVID-19).

Prepayments

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt  
of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in  
1 accounting period covering a term extending beyond that 
period. 
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Loss allowance for receivables

The loss allowance for recievables and reconciliation as at the reporting date is disclosed below. 

Internal receivables
2021

Gross  
receivables

$000

Loss rate

%

Expected  
credit losses

$000

Net  
receivables

$000
Not overdue 269 0% 0 269 
Overdue for less than 30 days 0 0% 0 0 
Overdue for 30 to 60 days 0 0% 0 0 
Overdue for more than 60 days 0 0% 0 0 
Total 269 0 269 

External receivables – Commonwealth and State Departments
2021

Gross  
receivables

$000

Loss rate

%

Expected  
credit losses

$000

Net  
receivables

$000
Not overdue 3,987 0% 0 3,987 
Overdue for less than 30 days 0 0% 0 0 
Overdue for 30 to 60 days 0 0% 0 0 
Overdue for more than 60 days 0 0% 0 0 
Total 3,987 0 3,987 

External receivables
2021

Gross  
receivables

$000

Loss rate

%

Expected  
credit losses

$000

Net  
receivables

$000
Not overdue 611 0% 0 611 
Overdue for less than 30 days 44 2% 1 43 
Overdue for 30 to 60 days 3 0% 0 3 
Overdue for more than 60 days 431 93% 399 32 
Total 1,089 400 689 

Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables 2021

$000
INTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Opening balance 0 
Written off during the year 0 
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss 0 
Total internal receivables 0 
EXTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Opening balance 0 
Transfers from administrative restructuring 552 
Written off during the year (21) 
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss (131) 
Total external receivables 400 
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13. Advances and investments
2021

$000
Current
Advances paid 234 
Less: Loss allowance 0 
Total advances and investments 234

Advances paid

Advances paid are recognised initially at fair value plus 
or minus relevant transaction costs and are recognised in 
the balance sheet when the agency becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instruments. Where 
the advances are provided with interest free periods or at 
concessional interest rates, they are considered to have a 
fair value which is less than the amount lent. This fair value is 
calculated in accordance with Note 24.

Subsequently, advances paid are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

Loss allowances on advances paid reflect lifetime expected 
credit losses and represent the amount of advances paid 
estimated to be uncollectible and considered doubtful.

Credit risk exposure of advances paid

The advances paid recognised by the department 
relates to concessional loans approved under the Farm 
Finance Concessional Loan Scheme funded by the 
Australian Government. The Queensland Rural and 
Industry Development Authority (QRIDA) manages these 
concessional loans on behalf of the NTG.

QRIDA has conducted an impairment assessment in 
accordance with AASB 9 at the reporting date. No loss 
allowance was recorded for advances paid as a result of  
the review. 
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14. Other assets

a) Agency as a lessor
Leases under which the department assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 
classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

Subleases are classified by reference to the right-of-use 
asset arising from the head lease, rather than by reference 
to the underlying asset. A sublease is an arrangement where 
the underlying asset is re-leased by a lessee (intermediate 
lessor) to another party, and the lease (head lease) between 
the head lessor and original lessee remains in effect.

Finance leases

At the lease commencement date, the department 
recognises a receivable for assets held under a finance lease 
in its statement of financial position at an amount equal to 
the net investment in the lease. The net investment in leases 
is classified as financial assets amortised cost and equals the 
lease payments receivable by a lessor and the unguaranteed 
residual value, plus initial direct costs, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease initial direct costs.

Finance income arising from finance leases is recognised over 
the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic 
rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the lease.

The department does not have any finance lease or sublease 
arrangements.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 
Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the 
statement of comprehensive income due to its operating 
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the underlying asset and recognised over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent 
rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they 
are earned.

The department entered into a 30-year lease arrangement 
with a private entity to lease the Ti Tree Research Farm to 
support the establishment of a horticultural enterprise and 
economic development of the Ti Tree area.

The department also subleases floor space in the Darwin 
Aquaculture Centre, which is situated on the land leased 
under a 50-year head lease agreement. The lease payments 
are subject to CPI review. All subleases have lease terms of  
5 years or less and are classified as operating subleases.

The department is lessor to a number of peppercorn leases 
with various not-for-profit organisations. The purpose 
of these arrangements is to further the not-for-profit 
objectives of the lessee.

Future minimum rentals receivable (undiscounted) under 
non-cancellable operating lease as at 30 June are as follows

2021

$000
Not later than 1 year 208 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 40 
Later than 5 years 267 
Total 515

b) Contract cost asset
Costs to obtain a contract are expensed where goods and 
services will be transferred within 1 year or less and only 
capitalised if deemed material. Territory Government 
employee costs that satisfy the criteria for recognition as 
a cost to fulfil a contract are not capitalised and expensed 

immediately. Other costs to fulfil a contract are accounted 
for as a contract cost asset if deemed material. For the 2020-
21 reporting period, no costs were capitalised as a contract 
cost asset.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

a) Total property, plant and equipment

2021

$000
LAND
At fair value 21,698 

21,698 
BUILDINGS 
At fair value 142,047 
Less: accumulated depreciation (63,519) 

78,528 
INFRASTRUCTURE
At fair value 26,704 
Less: accumulated depreciation (19,648) 

7,056 
CONSTRUCTION (WORK IN PROGRESS)
At capitalised cost 43

43
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At cost 19,661 
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,609) 

4,052 
COMPUTER HARDWARE
At cost 425 
Less: accumulated depreciation (370) 

55 
TRANSPORT EQUIPMENT
At cost 3,620 
Less: accumulated depreciation (2,947) 

673 
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 112,105
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2021 Property, plant and equipment 
reconciliations

Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets 
under AASB 16 Leases. Further information on right-of-
use assets is disclosed in Note 16. A reconciliation of the 
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end year is set out below:

Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Infrastructure

$000

Construction 
(work in 

progress)

$000

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Computer 
Hardware

$000

Transport 
Equipment

$000

Total

$000
Carrying Amount  
as at 1 July 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 689 10 0 699 

Additions of right-of-
use assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions from 
administrative 
restructuring 23,176 65,753 2,863 0 5,359 102 858 98,111 

Additions from asset 
transfers 0 25,352 0 43 0 0 0 25,395 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (3) 0 0 (3) 

Depreciation 
expense – asset 
owned 0 (3,754) (467) 0 (1,993) (57) (185) (6,456) 

Amortisation 
expense – right-of-
use asset (22) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22) 

Revaluation 
increments/
decrements including 
remeasurement (1,456) (8,823) 4,660 0 0 0 0 (5,619) 

Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying amount  
as at 30 June 2021 21,698 78,528 7,056 43 4,052 55 673 112,105 



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade100 

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

b) Property, plant and equipment held and used by the department

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment held and used by the department is set out below:

Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Infrastructure

$000

Construction 
(work in 

progress)

$000

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Computer 
Hardware

$000

Transport 
Equipment

$000

Total

$000
Carrying Amount  
as at 1 July 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 689 10 0 699 

Additions of right-of-
use assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions from 
administrative 
restructuring 22,984 48,437 812 0 5,359 102 858 78,552 

Additions from asset 
transfers 0 25,244 0 28 0 0 0 25,272 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (3) 0 0 (3) 

Depreciation 
expense – asset 
owned 0 (3,209) (50) 0 (1,993) (57) (185) (5,494) 

Amortisation 
expense – right-of-
use asset (18) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (18) 

Revaluation 
increments/
decrements 
including 
remeasurement (1,456) (9,051) 5,037 0 0 0 0 (5,470) 

Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying amount  
as at 30 June 2021 21,510 61,421 5,799 28 4,052 55 673 93,538 
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c) Property, plant and equipment where entity is lessor under operating leases

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment where the department is lessor under operating 
leases is set out below:

Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Infrastructure

$000

Construction 
(work in 

progress)

$000

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Computer 
Hardware

$000

Transport 
Equipment

$000

Total

$000

Carrying Amount  
as at 1 July 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions of right-of-
use assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions from 
administrative 
restructuring 192 17,316 2,051 0 0 0 0 19,559 

Additions from asset 
transfers 0 108 0 15 0 0 0 123 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Depreciation expense 
– asset owned 0 (545) (417) 0 0 0 0 (962) 

Amortisation expense 
– right-of-use asset (4) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4) 

Revaluation 
increments/
decrements including 
remeasurement 0 228 (377) 0 0 0 0 (149) 

Impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying amount  
as at 30 June 2021 188 17,107 1,257 15 0 0 0 18,567 
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Acquisitions

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised 
at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the 
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value 
of the other consideration given to acquire the asset 
at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where 
applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of other 
accounting standards.

All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost, or 
other value, equal to or greater than $10,000 are recognised 
in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. 
Items of property, plant and equipment below the $10,000 
threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition. 

The construction cost of property, plant and equipment 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Complex assets

Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of 
components that have different useful lives, are accounted 
for as separate assets. The components may be replaced 
during the useful life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs

Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent 
to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed 
performance of the asset will flow to the department 
in future years. Where these costs represent separate 
components of a complex asset, they are accounted for as 
separate assets and are separately depreciated over their 
expected useful lives.

Construction (work in progress)

As part of the financial management framework, the DIPL 
is responsible for managing general government capital 
works projects on a whole-of-government basis. Therefore 
appropriation for all department's capital works is provided 
directly to the DIPL and the cost of construction work in 
progress is recognised as an asset of that department. Once 
completed, capital works assets are transferred to the 
department.

Revaluations and impairment

Revaluation of assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the 
following classes of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of 
these assets does not differ materially from their fair value 
at reporting date: 

 – land
 – buildings; and
 – infrastructure assets
 – heritage and cultural assets

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.

For right-of-use assets, the net present value of the 
remaining lease payments is often an appropriate proxy 
for the fair value of relevant right-of-use assets at the time 
of initial recognition. Subsequently, right-of-use assets are 
stated at cost less amortisation, which is deemed to equate 
to fair value.

For right-of-use assets under leases that have significantly 
below-market terms and conditions principally to enable 
the department to further its objectives, the department 
has elected to measure the asset at cost. These right-of-use 
assets are not subject to revaluation.

The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2021 were independently 
conducted by the Colliers International (NT) Pty Limited. Refer 
to Note 24: Fair value for additional disclosures.

Impairment of assets

An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Non-current physical and intangible department assets are 
assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or 
whenever there is indication of impairment. If an indicator 
of impairment exists, the department determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of the asset’s current replacement 
cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 
is recorded as an impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the 
asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss 
is offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class 
of asset to the extent that an available balance exists in the 
asset revaluation surplus.
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In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently 
be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement as income, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal 
results in an increase in the asset revaluation surplus. Note 
23 provides additional information in relation to the asset 
revaluation surplus.

The department's property, plant and equipment assets were 
assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment 
adjustments were required as a result of this review.

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings 
but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are 
depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current 
assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and 
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are 
in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions and are 
determined as follows:

2021
Buildings 10 - 50 years

Infrastructure assets 8 - 50 years

Plant and equipment 2 - 15 years

Computer hardware 3 - 6 years

Transport equipment 2 -10 years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of 
acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held 
ready for use.

The estimated useful lives disclosed above includes the 
useful lives of right-of-use assets under AASB 16. For 
further detail, refer to Note 16.



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade104 

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

16. Agency as a lessee

The department leases land, plant and equipment, and 
vehicles. Most of these leases are short-term leases or leases 
of low-value assets.

Leases contracts for leases that are recognised on balance 
sheet, are typically made for fixed periods of 5 to 50 years, 
but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated 
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose 
any covenants. The department does not provide residual 
value guarantees in relation to leases. 

Extension and termination options are included in a number 
of property and equipment leases. These terms are used 
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing 
contracts. The majority of extension and termination 
options held are exercisable only by the department and 
not by the respective lessor. In determining the lease term, 
management considers all facts and circumstances that 
create an economic incentive to exercise an extension 

option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only 
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to 
be extended (or not terminated). 

The department has elected to recognise payments for 
short-term leases and low value leases as expenses on a 
straight-line basis, instead of recognising a right-of-use 
asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less with no purchase option. 
Low value assets are assets with a fair value of $10,000 or 
less when new and not subject to a sublease arrangement 
comprise mainly plant and equipment.

Right-of-use asset

The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the 
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at Note 15.

2021
Land

$000

Total

$000
Balance as at 1 July 2020 0 0 

Additions 0 0 

Additions from administrative restructuring 680 680 

Disposals 0 0 

Amortisation expense (22) (22) 

Revaluation increments/decrements including remeasurement 0 0 

Impairment losses 0 0 

Impairment losses reversed 0 0 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2021 658 658 

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2021 in 
respect of leases where the agency is the lessee: 2021

$000
Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets (22) 

Interest expense on lease liabilities (18) 

Expense relating to short-term leases (9) 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (4) 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 0 

Inter-governmental leases (1,584) 

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets 272 

Gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions 0 

Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement (1,365) 
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Recognition and measurement

The department assesses at contract inception whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 
a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The department recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to 
use the underlying assets, except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets.

The department recognises right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease (the date the underlying 
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially 
measured at the amount of initial measurement of the lease 
liability, adjusted by any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial 
direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and 
removing the asset or restoring the site.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets, as follows:

Land: 40 to 50 years.

Plant and equipment: 5 years.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the department 
at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise 
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the 
estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value which approximates costs except for those arising 
from leases that have significantly below-market terms and 
conditions principally to enable the department to further its 
objectives and are also subject to impairment.

The right-of-use assets are subject to remeasurement 
principles consistent with the lease liability including 
indexation and market rent review that approximates 
fair value and only revalued where a trigger or event may 
indicate their carrying amount does not equal fair value.

Inter-governmental leases

The department applies the inter-governmental leases 
recognition exemption as per the Treasurer’s Direction – 
Leases and recognise these as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. These largely relate to the lease 
of motor vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of commercial 
properties for office accommodation are centralised with 
the DCDD. Consequently all lease liabilities and right-of-use 
assets relating to these arrangements are recognised by 
DCDD and not disclosed within these financial statements.

Right-of-use assets under leases at significantly below-
market terms and conditions that are entered into 
principally to enable the department to further its 
objectives, are measured at cost.

These right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, subject to impairment. They are not 
subject to revaluation.
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2021

$000
CARRYING AMOUNT

At valuation 30 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (15) 

Written down value – 30 June 15 

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS
Carrying amount at 1 July 0 

Depreciation 0 

Additions from administrative restructuring 18 

Revaluation (decrements) (3) 

Carrying amount as at 30 June 15 

The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2021 were 
independently conducted. The valuer was Colliers. Refer to 
Note 24: Fair value measurement for additional disclosures.

Impairment of heritage and cultural assets

The department's heritage and cultural assets were 
assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment 
adjustments were required as a result of this review.

18. Payables

2021

$000
Accounts payable 2,620 
Grants payable 18,092 
Accrued expenses 3,640 
Total Payables 24,352 

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts 
payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services 
received, whether or not billed to the department. Accounts 
payable are normally settled within 20 days from receipt of 
valid of invoices under $1 million or 30 days for invoices over 
$1 million.

17. Heritage and cultural assets
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19. Borrowings and advances
2021

$000
CURRENT

Loans and advances 233 

Lease liabilities 15 

248 

NON-CURRENT
Lease liabilities 656 

656 

Total borrowings and advances 904

Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

a) Loans and advances
The advances recognised by the department relate to the 
concessional loans approved under the Farm Business 
Concessional Loans Scheme funded by the Australian 
Government. The Queensland Rural and Industry 
Development Authority (QRIDA) manages these concessional 
loans on behalf of the NTG.

b) Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease where the 
department is the lessee, the department recognises lease 
liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. Lease payments include:

 – fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate

 – amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees

 – exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to 
be exercised by the entity

 – payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the entity exercising the option to 
terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 
a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred 
to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for the department’s leases, the 
Northern Territory Treasury Corporation’s institutional bond 
rate is used as the incremental borrowing rate.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities 
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments 
(such as changes to future payments resulting from a change 
in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) 
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.
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The following table presents liabilities under leases for 2020-21.

2021

$000
Balance at 1 July 0 
Transfers from administrative restructuring 686 
Interest expenses  18 
Payments (33) 
Balance at 30 June 2021 671 

The department had total cash outflows for leases of $1.63 
million in 2020-21.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
leases not recorded as liability are as follows:

2021
Internal

$000

External

$000
Within 1 year 829 4 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,441 0 

Later than 5 years 289 0 

2,559 4 
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20. Provisions 2021

$000
CURRENT
Employee Benefits

Recreation Leave 11,114 
Leave Loading 1,380 
Airfares 91 

Other Current Provisions
Fringe benefits tax 81 
Payroll tax 828 
Superannuation 1,100 

Total Provisions 14,594

The department employed 752.88 full-time equivalent 
employees as at 30 June 2021 (includes NTMEC and  
NT Build).

Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated 
as a result of employees rendering services up to the 
reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries 
and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages 
and salaries, recreation leave and other employee benefit 
liabilities that fall due within 12 months of reporting date are 
classified as current liabilities and are measured at amounts 
expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit liabilities 
that fall due after 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at present value, calculated using the government 
long-term bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as 
the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken is less 
than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in 
respect of the following categories:

 – wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation 
leave and other leave entitlements and

 – other types of employee benefits.

As part of the financial management framework, the Central 
Holding Authority assumes the long service leave liabilities of 
government agencies, including the Department of Industry, 
Tourism and Trade and as such no long service leave liability is 
recognised in department's financial statements. 

Superannuation

Employees' superannuation entitlements are provided 
through the:

 – NTG and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme 
(NTGPASS)

 – Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS) 

 – or non-government employee nominated schemes for 
those employees commencing on or after 10 August 1999. 

The department makes superannuation contributions on 
behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority 
or non-government employee-nominated schemes. 
Superannuation liabilities related to government 
superannuation schemes are held by the Central Holding 
Authority and therefore not recognised in agency financial 
statements. 

21. Other liabilities

2021

$000
CURRENT
Unearned contract revenue 6,395 
Total Other Liabilities 6,395 

Unearned contract revenue

Unearned contract revenue relates to consideration received 
or due to receive in advance from customers in respect of 
research and services contracts. Unearned contract revenue 
balance as at 30 June 2021 is $6.395 million.

The department anticipates to recognise as revenue, any 
liabilities for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the 
reporting period in accordance with the time bands below:

2021

$000
CURRENT
Not later than 1 year 6,395 
Later than 1 year and  
not later than 5 years

0

Later than 5 years 0
Total Other Liabilities 6,395 
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22. Commitments

Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the 
amount of the future commitment can be reliably measured.

Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are 
detailed below: 

2021
Internal

$000

External

$000
(i) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments are primarily related to the construction of 
buildings and infrastructure. Capital expenditure commitments contracted for at 
balance date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 0 1,805 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0 

Later than 5 years 0 0 

Total Capital Expenditure Commitments 0 1,805 

(ii) OTHER EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as follows:

Within 1 year 22,571 52,603 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 12,393 

Later than 5 years 0 0 

Total Other Expenditure Commitments 22,571 64,996 

23. Reserves

Asset Revaluation Surplus 

(i) Nature and purpose of the asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation 
increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of 
non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be 
recognised in the asset revaluation surplus.

2021
Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Infrastructure

$000

Total

$000
(ii) MOVEMENTS IN THE ASSET REVALUATION SURPLUS  
Balance as at 1 July 0 0 0 0 

Additions from administrative 
restructuring 16,080 28,803 0 44,883 

Increment/(decrement) (1,456) (8,823) 4,660 (5,619) 

Balance as at 30 June 14,624 19,980 4,660 39,264 
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24. Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use 
takes into account the use of the asset that is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.

When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise 
the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used 
to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable 
inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are 
relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being 
valued. Observable inputs used by the department include, 
but are not limited to, published sales data for land and 
general office buildings.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments 
that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the 
characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. 
Such inputs include internal department adjustments to 
observable data to take account of particular and potentially 
unique characteristics/functionality of assets/liabilities and 
assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:

Level 1  –  inputs are quoted prices in active markets for  
 identical assets or liabilities

Level 2  –  inputs are inputs other than quoted prices  
 included within Level 1 that are observable for  
 the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3  – inputs are unobservable.

The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the 
following basis:

 – the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and 
payables approximates their carrying amount, which is 
also their amortised cost

 – the fair value of derivative financial instruments are 
derived using current market yields and exchange rates 
appropriate to the instrument

 – the fair value of other monetary financial assets and 
liabilities is based on discounting to present value the 
expected future cash flows by applying current market 
interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk 
profiles.

a) Fair value hierarchy
The department does not recognise any financial assets or 
liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at amortised 
cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their fair value. 

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at 
fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of inputs 
used to compute fair value. 

2020-2021
Level 1

$000

Level 2

$000

Level 3

$000

Total fair value

$000
ASSET CLASSES
Land (Note 15) 0 21,040 658 21,698 

Buildings (Note 15) 0 3,146 75,382 78,528 

Infrastructure (Note 15) 0 120 6,936 7,056 

Construction (work in progress) (Note 15) 0 0 43 43 

Plant and Equipment (Note 15) 0 0 4,052 4,052 

Computer Hardware (Note 15) 0 0 55 55 

Transport Equipment (Note 15) 0 0 673 673 

Heritage and cultural assets (Note 17) 0 15 0 15 

Total assets 0 24,321 87,799 112,120 

Transfers between Levels 2 or 3 were due to the independent valuation as at 30 June 2021.   
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b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2020-21 are:

2020 -2021
Level 2 techniques Level 3 techniques

ASSET CLASSES
Land Market Cost

Buildings Market Cost

Infrastructure Market Cost

Construction (work in progress) Cost

Plant and Equipment Cost

Computer Hardware Cost

Transport Equipment Cost

Heritage and cultural assets Market

There were no changes in valuation techniques during 2020-21.

Colliers provided valuations for the land, buildings, 
infrastructure and cultural assets as at 30 June 2021.

Level 2 fair values of land and buildings were based on active 
market comparison approach which seeks to determine 
the current value of an asset by referencing to recent 
comparable transactions involving sale of similar assets.

Level 3 fair values of land were assessed having regard to 
the highest and best use of the land. Level 3 fair values of 
specialised buildings and infrastructure were determined 

by computing their current replacement costs because an 
active market does not exist for such facilities. The current 
replacement cost was based on a combination of internal 
records of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for 
contemporary technology and construction approaches. 
Significant judgement was also used in assessing the 
remaining service potential of the facilities, given local 
environmental conditions, projected usage, and records of 
the current condition of the facilities.
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c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements
(i) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements of non financial assets

Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Infrastructure

$000

Construction 
(work in 

progress)

$000

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Computer 
Hardware

$000

Transport 
Equipment

$000

Heritage 
and cultural 

assets

$000

Total

$000
Fair value as at 
1 July 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions 0 0 0 0 689 10 0 0 699 

Additions from 
administrative 
restructuring 19,416 63,812 2,863 0 5,359 102 858 18 92,428 

Additions from 
asset transfers 0 25,352 0 43 0 0 0 0 25,395 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (3) 0 0 0 (3) 

Transfers from 
level 2 0 152 0 0 0 0 0 0 152 

Transfers to 
level 2 (18,736) (868) 0 0 0 0 0 (18) (19,622) 

Depreciation/
Amortisation (22) (3,598) (467) 0 (1,993) (57) (185) 0 (6,322) 

Gains/losses 
recognised 
in other 
comprehensive 
income 0 (9,468) 4,540 0 0 0 0 0 (4,928) 

Fair value as at 
30 June 2021 658 75,382 6,936 43 4,052 55 673 0 87,799 

(ii) Sensitivity Analysis

Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of 
buildings include the historical cost and the consumed 
economic benefit of each building. Given the large number 
of the department's buildings, it is not practical to compute 

a relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In 
respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in input value, 
a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and 
greater consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value.
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25. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of 1 entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the 
balance sheet when the department becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
The department’s financial instruments include cash and 
deposits; receivables; advances paid; payables; advances 
received; and borrowings.

Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory obligations 
rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities 
do not meet the definition of financial instruments as per 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include 
statutory receivables arising from taxes including GST.

The department has limited exposure to financial risks as 
discussed below.

Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit 
risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course 
of activities. The Territory Government’s investments, loans 
and placements, and borrowings are predominantly managed 
through the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation 
adopting strategies to minimise the risk. Derivative financial 
arrangements are also utilised to manage financial risks 
inherent in the management of these financial instruments. 
These arrangements include swaps, forward interest rate 
agreements and other hedging instruments to manage 
fluctuations in interest or exchange rates.

a) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the department's financial assets 
and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.

2020-21 Categories of financial instruments

Amortised cost

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000
Cash and deposits 0 152,022 152,022 

Receivables1 1,808 0 1,808 

Advances paid 234 0 234 

Total Financial Assets 2,042 152,022 154,064 

Payables1 2,620 0 2,620 

Advances received 233 0 233 

Lease liabilities 671 0 671 

Total Financial Liabilities 3,524 0 3,524 

1 Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts, prepaid expenses and accrued contract revenue.

The department’s financial instruments are classified in 
accordance with AASB 9.

Financial assets are classified under the following 
categories:

 – amortised cost

 – fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

 – fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Financial liabilities are classified under the following 
categories:

 – amortised cost

 – fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

These classifications are based on the department’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair 
value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or 
loss, or other comprehensive income. 

Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when 
the department’s business model for managing those assets 
changes.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered 
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they 
are held by the department to collect the contractual cash 
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flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment. The department’s financial 
assets categorised at amortised cost include receivables and 
advances paid.

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Financial assets are classified at fair value through 
other comprehensive income when they are held by the 
department to both collect contractual cash flows and sell 
the financial assets, and the contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

These assets are initially and subsequently recognised 
at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition 
of impairment gains or losses and interest income 
which are recognised in the operating result in the 
comprehensive operating statement. When financial assets 
are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to the comprehensive operating statement.

For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition 
of the asset. Dividends from such instruments continue to 
be recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 
as other income when the department’s right to receive 
payments is established.

The department does not have any financial assets under 
this category.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not 
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These assets 
are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value with 
gains or losses recognised in the net result for the year.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
department’s financial liabilities categorised at amortised 
cost include all accounts payable, loans and advances 
received and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit  
or loss

Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the 
liabilities are either held for trading or designated as FVTPL. 
Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are initially and 
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the net result for the year.

For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes 
in the fair value of the liability attributable to changes 
in the department’s credit risk are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, while remaining changes in the fair 
value are recognised in the net result.

The department does not have any financial liabilities under 
this category.

b) Credit risk
The department has limited credit risk exposure (risk of 
default). In respect of any dealings with organisations 
external to government, the department has adopted a 
policy of only dealing with credit worthy organisations 
and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 
financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the department’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or 
other security obtained.

Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in note 12 and 
advances paid in note 13.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the department will not be 
able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
department’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure 
that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities 
when they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that minimum 
levels of cash are held in the department's bank account to 
meet various current employee and supplier liabilities. The 
department’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. Cash 
injections are available from the Central Holding Authority in 
the event that one-off extraordinary expenditure items arise 
that deplete cash to levels that compromise the department’s 
ability to meet its financial obligations. 
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The following tables detail the department’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated 
based on undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The 
undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the 

Carrying amount

$000

Less than a year

$000

1 to 5 years

$000

More than 5 years

$000

Total

$000
LIABILITIES
Deposits held 84,447 84,447 0 0 84,447 

Payables 2,620 2,620 0 0 2,620 

Advances received 233 233 0 0 233 

Lease liabilities 671 33 129 834 996 

Total Financial Liabilities 87,971 87,333 129 834 88,296 

amounts included in the balance sheet which are based on 
discounted cash flows. 

2021 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk the fair value of future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and 
currency risk.

(i) Interest Rate Risk

The department is not exposed to interest rate risk as the 
department's financial assets and financial liabilities, with 
the exception of leases, are non interest bearing. Lease 
arrangements are established on a fixed interest rate and as 
such do not expose the department to interest rate risk. 

(ii) Price Risk

The department is not exposed to price risk as the 
department does not hold units in unit trusts.

(iii) Currency Risk

The department has limited exposure to currency risk as 
a result of transactional currency held for international 
operations. Foreign currency held is revalued on a monthly 
basis using closing monthly Reserve Bank of Australia rates.

26. Related parties 

(i) Related Parties

The department is a government administrative entity and is 
wholly owned and controlled by the NTG. Related parties of 
the department include:

 – the portfolio minister and key management personnel 
(KMP) because they have authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
department directly

 – close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP 
including spouses, children and dependants

 – all public sector entities that are controlled and 
consolidated into the whole-of-government financial 
statements

 – any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMP or the 
portfolio minister or controlled or jointly controlled by 
their close family members.

(ii) Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel of the Department of Industry, 
Tourism and Trade are those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the department. These include the Ministers for 
Industry, Tourism and Trade, the CEO, and the members of 
the BOM.
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(iii) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

The details below exclude the salaries and other benefits of  
the departments Ministers. As the Ministers remunerations 
and allowances are payable by the Department of the 
Legislative Assembly and consequently disclosed within the 
Treasurer's annual financial statements. 

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel 
of the department is set out below:

Transactions with Northern Territory  
Government controlled entities

The department's primary ongoing source of funding 
is received from the Central Holding Authority in the 
form of output and capital appropriation and on-passed 
Commonwealth NP and specific purpose payments. The 
following table provides quantitative information about 
related party transactions entered into during the year with 
all other NTG controlled entities.

2021

$000
Short-term employee benefits 2,131 
Post-employment benefits 221 
Termination benefits 0 
Total 2,352 

2021
Revenue from 
related parties

$000

Payments to  
related parties

$000

Amounts owed 
by related parties

$000

Amounts owed to 
related parties

$000
RELATED PARTY
All NTG departments 25,258 77,169 356 383 

Associates 0 0 0 0 

Subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 

Total 25,258 77,169 356 383 

Significant transactions with other government entities include $30.7 million to Northern Territory Major Events and  
$12.1 million to Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education.

Other related party transactions are as follows

Given the breadth and depth of NTG activities, related 
parties will transact with the NTPS in a manner consistent 
with other members of the public including paying stamp 
duty and other government fees and charges and therefore 

these transactions have not been disclosed. There were no 
related party transactions in excess of $10,000.
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27. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

a) Contingent liabilities
The department has entered into contracts and agreements 
which contain indemnities. The contingent liabilities arising 
from these indemnities are unquantifiable, and the likelihood 
of occurrence is considered low. For all the events that 
would give rise to potential liabilities, the department has 
comprehensive risk management strategies in place.

The department had no reportable contingent liabilities as at 
30 June 2021.

28. Events subsequent to balance date

b) Contingent assets
The department had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2021.

No events have arisen between the end of the financial year 
and the date of this report that require adjustment to, or 
disclosure in these financial statements.

29. Accountable Officer's Trust Account

In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management 
Act 1995, an AOTA has been established for the receipt of 
money to be held in trust. A summary of activity is shown 
below:

Opening Balance

1 July 2020

$000

Transfers from 
administrative 

restructuring

$000

Receipts

$000

Payments

$000

Closing Balance

30 June 2021

$000
NATURE OF TRUST MONEY
Aboriginal Land Rents 0 4,163 3,539 6,910 792 

Cash Securities 0 27,461 4,265 466 31,260 

Mining Remediation 0 41,128 9,719 583 50,264 

NT Fishing Industry 
Research and 
Development Funds 0 1,693 1,265 1,158 1,800 

Employee Award Scheme 0 51 0 51 0 

NT Seafood Council 0 87 242 125 204 

Electronic Gaming 
Machine Application 
Levy 0 100 0 100 0 

Surveyor's Board 0 73 16 1 88 

Unclaimed monies 0 9 5 1 13 

Total 0 74,765 19,051 9,395 84,421 
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30. Schedule of administered Territory items

The following Territory items are managed by the department 
on behalf of the government and are recorded in the Central 
Holding Authority (refer Note 2(d)).

Territory income and expenses

2020-2021

$000
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue

Capital 667 
Fees from regulatory services 11,175 
Royalties and rents 11,759 
Other income 348 
Total Income 23,949 

EXPENSES
Central Holding Authority income transferred 23,828 
Doubtful debts 121 
Total Expenses 23,949 
Territory Income less Expenses 0 

TERRITORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets
Central Holding Authority Receivables 878 
Total Assets 878 

Liabilities
Unearned Central Holding Authority income 878 
Total Liabilities 878 
Net Assets 0 
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31. Budgetary information 
a) Comprehensive operating statement

2020-21 
Actual

$000

2020-21 
Original budget

$000

Variance

$000 Note
INCOME
Taxation revenue  14,411 11,635 2,776 
Grants and subsidies revenue

Current  2,357 2,559 (202) 
Appropriation

Output  428,654 431,171 (2,517) 
Commonwealth  24,951 21,095 3,856 1

Sales of goods and services  7,007 10,086 (3,079) 
Goods and services received free of charge  23,052 22,424 628 
Gain on disposal of assets  10 0 10 
Other income 5,374 5,030 344 
TOTAL INCOME 505,816 504,000 1,816 

EXPENSES
Employee expenses  99,299 108,179 (8,880) 2
Administrative expenses

Property Management  3,039 2,207 832 
Purchases of goods and services  48,170 54,934 (6,764) 3
Depreciation and amortisation  6,478 5,400 1,078 
Other administrative expenses  25,956 22,425 3,531 4

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current  177,029 213,501 (36,472) 5
Capital  111,201 109,139 2,062 

Foreign exchange loss  31 0 31 
Interest expense 18 18 0 
TOTAL EXPENSES 471,221 515,803 (44,582) 

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 34,595 (11,803) 46,398 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in Asset Revaluation Reserve (5,619) 0 (5,619) 6
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (5,619) 0 (5,619) 

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 28,976 (11,803) 40,779 

Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater $3,500,000, or where multiple significant variances have occurred.
1. Commonwealth funding not incorporated in the original budget, including JobTrainer program, Skilling Australia Fund and National 
Water Infrastructure Development Fund.
2. Various employee vacancies throughout the year as the agency's structure was being finalised following MoG changes. 
3. Various internal and externally funded projects which were not fully expended and to be finalised in 2021-22.
4. Write down for completed Hermannsburg Historical Precinct upgrades which do not meet agency's capitalisation criteria as the asset 
was not controlled by the agency.
5. Timing of various grant programs which were not fully expended and to be finalised in 2021-22.
6. Revaluation of fixed assets during 2020-21. 
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b) Balance Sheet

2020-21 
Actual

$000

2020-21 
Original budget

$000

Variance

$000 Note
ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and deposits 152,022 121,255 30,767 1
Receivables 11,397 5,405 5,992 2
Advances and investments 234 1,223 (989) 

Total Current Assets 163,653 127,883 35,770 

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 112,105 93,101 19,004 3
Heritage and cultural assets 15 7 8 

Total Non-Current Assets 112,120 93,108 19,012 

TOTAL ASSETS 275,773 220,991 54,782 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Deposits held 84,447 75,039 9,408 4
Payables 24,352 4,793 19,559 5
Borrowings and advances 248 1,238 (990) 
Provisions 14,594 14,724 (130) 
Other liabilities 6,395 607 5,788 6

Total Current Liabilities 130,036 96,401 33,635 

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings and advances 656 662 (6) 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 656 662 (6) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 130,692 97,063 33,629 

NET ASSETS 145,081 123,928 21,153 

EQUITY
Capital 71,222 163,733 (92,511) 7
Reserves 39,264 44,883 (5,619) 8
Accumulated funds 34,595 (84,688) 119,283 9

TOTAL EQUITY 145,081 123,928 21,153 

Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater $3,500,000, or where multiple significant variances have occurred.
1. Increase in cash due to agency surplus resulting from programs which were not fully expended and will be finalised in 2021-22.
2. Increase in GST receivable comparable to the original budget and receivable recognised for completed performance obligations for  

NP agreements with the Commonwealth and other jurisdictions.
3. Capitalisation of numerous capital work projects completed in 2020-21.
4. Mining Levy receipts recognised during 2020-21 not incorporated in original budget.
5. Recognition of liability for various grant programs not incorporated in original budget.
6. Unearned revenue associated to projects with the Commonwealth and other external parties.
7. Agency formed in 2020-21 due to MoG changes with the former agencies accumulated surplus being reflected in capital.
8. Adjustment to revaluation reserve from the revaluation of fixed assets in 2020-21.
9. Agency formed in 2020-21 due to MoG changes and accumulated surplus reflects the 2020-21 surplus.
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c) Cash flow statement
2020-21 

Actual

$000

2020-21 
Original budget

$000

Variance

$000 Note
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Receipts

Taxes received 14,411 11,635 2,776 
Grants and subsidies received

Current 2,525 3,331 (806) 
Appropriation

Output 428,654 431,171 (2,517) 
Commonwealth 32,656 29,875 2,781 

Receipts from sales of goods and services 26,088 124,773 (98,685) 1
Total Operating Receipts  504,334 600,785 (96,451) 
Operating Payments

Payments to employees (91,185) (101,083) 9,898 2
Payments for goods and services (66,242) (170,507) 104,265 3
Grants and subsidies paid

Current (176,906) (213,041) 36,135 4
Capital (93,233) (109,139) 15,906 4

Interest paid (18) (18) 0 
Total Operating Payments (427,584) (593,788) 166,204 
Net Cash from Operating Activities  76,750 6,997 69,753 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing Receipts

Proceeds from asset sales 10 6 4 
Total Investing Receipts  10 6 4 
Investing Payments

Purchase of assets (699) (387) (312) 
Total Investing Payments (699) (387) (312) 
Net cash (used in) Investing Activities (689) (381) (308) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing Receipts

Deposits received 9,590 182 9,408 5
Equity injections

Capital appropriation 559 251 308 
Other equity injections 18,865 60,955 (42,090) 6

Total Financing Receipts  29,014 61,388 (32,374) 
Financing Payments

Finance lease payments (15) (9) (6) 
Equity withdrawals (30,439) (24,172) (6,267) 6

Total Financing Payments (30,454) (24,181) (6,273) 
Net Cash from/(used in) Financing Activities (1,440) 37,207 (38,647) 

Net increase in cash held 74,621 43,823 30,798 
Cash at beginning of financial year 77,432 77,432 0 
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance  
of cash held in foreign currencies (31) 0 (31) 

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 152,022 121,255 30,767 

Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater $3,500,000, or where multiple significant variances have occurred.
1. The original budget for GST receipts on sales and from taxation authorities was revised subsequent to the original budget and decreased 
by $66.7 million. The variance also relates to lower than anticipated GST receipts from taxation authorities.
2. Various employee vacancies throughout the year as the agency's structure was being finalised following MoG changes. 
3. The original budget total GST payments on purchases and to taxation authorities was revised subsequent to the original budget and 
decreased by $66.7 million. The variance also relates to lower than anticipated GST payment to taxation authorities and less payment for 
goods and services as impacted by Coronavirus (COVID 19).
4. Timing of various grant programs which were not fully expended and to be finalised in 2021-22.
5. Mining Levy receipts recognised during 2020-21 not incorporated in original budget.
6. MoG restructure.
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32. Budgetary information: administered Territory items

In addition to the specific departmental operations which 
are included in the financial statements, the department 
administers or manages other activities and resources 
on behalf of the Territory such as regulatory services, 
petroleum and mining rents.

The department does not gain control over assets arising 
from these collections, consequently no income is 
recognised in the department’s financial statements. The 
transactions relating to these activities are reported as 
administered items in this note.

Administered Territory Items

2020-21 
Actual

$000

2020-21 
Original budget

$000

Variance

$000 Note
TERRITORY INCOME AND EXPENSES
Income
Grants and subsidies revenue

Capital 667 667 0 
Fees from regulatory services 11,175 6,928 4,247 1
Royalties and rents 11,759 10,515 1,244 2
Other income 348 528 (180) 
Total income 23,949 18,638 5,311 

Expenses
Central Holding Authority income transferred 23,828 18,638 5,190 3
Doubtful debts 121 0 121 
Total expenses 23,949 18,638 5,311 
Territory income less expenses 0 0 0 

TERRITORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Assets
Other receivables 878 667 211 
Total assets 878 667 211 

Liabilities
Unearned Central Holding Authority income 878 667 211 
Total liabilities 878 667 211 
Net assets 0 0 0 

Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than $0.25 million.
1. The variance relates to higher than anticipated receipts from gaming, racing and occupational licence fees.
2. The variance relates to an increase in receipts from mining and petroleum annual rents.
3. The increase in receipts noted in point 1 and 2 resulted in an increase in the transfers to the Central Holding Authority.



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade124 

APPENDICES



5Appendices

Appendix A – Governance committees 126
Board of Management 126
Executive Management Group 127
Risk Management and Audit Committee 128
Work Health and Safety Management Committee 129
Information Management Committee 130
Interim Emergency Management Committee 131
People, Culture and Change Management Committee 132

Appendix B – Statutory responsibilities  133 
and legislation administered

Legislation 134

Appendix C – Statutory and non-statutory  135 
authorities and boards

Appendix D – Grants 140

Appendix E – International dignitaries engaged 145

Appendix F – Contact us 146

Appendix G – Acronyms 148



Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade126 

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Governance committees

Board of Management
PURPOSE

The BOM provides leadership and strategic 
decision-making, with a particular focus on setting 
and delivering the department’s strategic direction, 
ensuring compliance with statutory obligations and 
monitoring the department’s performance. 

 – In particular, the BOM:

 · leads the department’s delivery against the strategic plan

 · champions a service delivery culture across the 
department 

 · develops and implements a governance framework 
focused on strategy formulation, policy development, 
external accountability, and internal monitoring and 
supervision 

 · establishes and communicates the strategic priorities of 
the department and Territory Government 

 · oversees business planning, reporting against key 
performance indicators and review of performance 
against priorities and goals 

 · models the culture, values and behaviour expected of  
all employees.

Role Position Name

Chair Chief Executive Officer Shaun Drabsch

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Agriculture, Fisheries and Defence Luke Bowen

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Tourism, Services and Hospitality Andrew Hopper

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Mining and Energy Anne Tan

Member General Manager Business and Workforce Catherine White

Member Acting General Manager Strategy and Policy Scott Lovett

Member Chief Financial Officer Joanna Frankenfeld

Secretariat Acting Director, Office of the Chief Executive Officer Andrew Hurwood

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

Following the MoG changes announced in September 2020, the work of BOM has to a large 
extent focussed on the successful integration of a number of external business units into the 
new department:

 – conducted a strategic planning workshop to clearly define the focus for the new 
department

 – conducted a risk analysis workshop to ensure corporate and strategic risks were effectively 
identified and addressed

 – considered a number of strategic proposals to improve industry engagement and 
participation across the Territory as well as approved polices to ensure a comprehensive 
governance framework is in place to guide the department’s decision making

 – BOM met 6 times since the MoG and organisational structure changes. 

The BOM 
provides 

leadership 
and strategic 

decision-
making

Establishes and communicates the 
strategic priorities of the department 

and Territory Government
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The group aims to 
identify and realise 
opportunities for 
collaboration and 

innovation across the 
department

Effectively 
managed 

operational 
budgets

Executive Management Group
PURPOSE

The EMG is established as a forum for information 
sharing with the BOM and divisions to enable 
effective communication about current and 
projected issues. The group aims to identify 
and realise opportunities for collaboration and 
innovation across the department.

Membership as at 30 June 2021

Role Position Name

Chair Chief Executive Officer Shaun Drabsch

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Tourism, Services and Hospitality Andrew Hopper

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Mines and Energy Anne Tan

Member General Manager Business and Workforce Catherine White

Member Chief Finance Officer Joanna Frankenfeld

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Agriculture, Fisheries and Defence Luke Bowen

Member Acting General Manager, Strategy and Policy Scott Lovett

Member Executive Director Economic Reform Philip Chang

Member Executive Director Market Engagement Wendy Pritchard

Member Executive Director Liquor, Racing and Gaming Philip Timney

Member Executive Director Industry Development Valerie Smith

Member Executive General Manager Marketing Tony Quarmby

Member Senior Executive Director Fisheries Ian Curnow

Member Senior Executive Director Biosecurity and Animal Welfare Lorraine Corowa

Member Senior Executive Director Agriculture Phil Hausler

Member Senior Executive Director Mines Armando Padovan

Member Senior Executive Director Northern Territory Geological Survey Ian Scrimgeour

Member Senior Executive Director Energy James Pratt

Member Executive Director Sustainable Energy Jim McKay

Member Executive Director Territory Engagement and Delivery Bill Sankey

Member Executive Director Occupational Licensing and Associations Stephen Gelding

Member Executive Director Workforce and Skills Tracy Clark

Member Executive Director Business Julie Jenkins

Member Acting Executive Director Governance and Finance Ben Tuffnell

Secretariat Acting Director, Office of the Chief Executive Officer Andrew Hurwood
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Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21 

The EMG undertook the following functions and responsibilities: 

 – reviewed and endorsed departmental policies 

 – monitored annual business plans 

 – identified opportunities for collaboration and innovation both across the new department 
and broader government 

 – provided information and updates on projects, activities and the achievement of division 
objectives to improve communication and cooperation between business units 

 – identified and escalated issues for the attention of BOM 

 – effectively managed operational budgets

 – contributed to divisional and departmental planning through the strategic planning and risk 
management process

 – the EMG met 6 times since the MoG and organisational structure changes. 

Risk Management and Audit Committee
PURPOSE

The RMAC provides independent assurance 
to the CEO in the areas of statutory reporting, 
internal control systems, risk management 
systems and audit. 

Membership as at 30 June 2021

Role Position Name
Chair Governance and Risk Consultant Iain Summers

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Agriculture, Fisheries and Defence Luke Bowen

Member Executive General Manager Marketing Tony Quarmby

Member Manager Geophysics and Remote Sensing Tania Dhu

Member Senior Petroleum Engineer Mehrdad Rezazadeh

Member Librarian - NT Geological Survey Alison Wiercinski

Observer Chief Financial Officer Joanna Frankenfeld

Secretariat Manager, Risk and Audit Josie Silipo

Monitored the development 
of a strategic risk register

Established 
a RMAC 

conflict of 
interest 
register

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

 – RMAC was established on 19 January 2021 and has met 3 times

 – Established a RMAC conflict of interest register, internal audit charter  
and internal audit protocol 

 – The RMAC terms of reference was established

 – Developed an internal audit plan endorsed by BOM

 – Monitored the implementation of audit recommendations from internal and external audits, 
and development of a strategic risk register
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Work Health and Safety  
Management Committee

PURPOSE

The Work Health and Safety Management 
Committee is established to provide the CEO 
and the BOM with confidence that statutory 
obligations of the department with regards to 
work health and safety are being met.

The role of the Committee is to oversee the 
development of policies, procedures and 
strategies to manage WHS risks across the 
department and provide guidance to workplace 
committees. The Committee’s role also includes 
the monitoring of reported incidents and 
implemented controls.

Membership as at 30 June 2021

Role Position Name
Chair Deputy Chief Executive Officer Tourism, Services and Hospitality Andrew Hopper

Member Senior Executive Director Fisheries Ian Curnow

Member Senior Executive Director Agriculture Phil Hausler

Member Senior Executive Director, Biosecurity and Animal Welfare Lorraine Corowa

Member Director Strategic Policy Robert Dalton

Member Executive Director Liquor, Racing and Gaming Philip Timney

Member Executive Director Occupational Licensing and Associations Stephen Gelding 

Member Senior Executive Director Northern Territory Geological Survey Ian Scrimgeour

Member Manager Risk and Audit Josie Silipo

Secretariat Work Health and Safety Manager Nick O’Brien

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

 – committee was established in March 2021 and met 2 times during 2020-21

 – Developed and implemented the Work Health and Safety Policy which outlines the 
department’s commitment to WHS, the roles and responsibilities, and compliance with 
legislation, standards and codes of practice 

 – Developed and implemented the WHS Committee Framework which sets out the 
department’s WHS committee workflow and how the committees interact with their 
workplace and management.

The role of the 
Committee is 
to oversee the 

development of 
policies, procedures 

and strategies to 
manage WHS risks

The 
Committee’s 

role also 
includes the 
monitoring 
of reported 

incidents and 
implemented 

controls.

Developed and implemented 
the DITT Work Health and 

Safety Policy
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Information Management Committee

Membership as at 30 June 2021

Role Position Name
Chair Deputy Chief Executive Officer Mining and Energy Anne Tan

Member Senior Executive Director Northern Territory Geological Survey Ian Scrimgeour

Member Senior Executive Director Biosecurity and Welfare Lorraine Corowa

Member Chief Financial Officer Joanna Frankenfeld

Member Director Communications Mez Korbetis

Member Director Grants and Business Performance Bardia Bodaghi

Member Director Marketing Solutions Adam Boucher

Member Principal Project Officer Nathan Fanning

Member Manager Secretariat Teena Lewis

Member Director Digital Agency Business Systems – DCDD Marguerite Wall

Member Senior Director Business Connections – DCDD Zoe Malone

Secretariat Business Manager Raychael Brown

 – provide advice and recommendations to assist 
the CEO and the BOM to make informed 
decisions regarding innovation, information, 
technology and data investments

 – consider synergies across the agency and 
government, identifying opportunities for 
collaboration

 – oversee and support the performance and 
delivery of ICT initiatives in DITT.

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

 – Membership of the committee was established through nominations to BOM,  
March-April 2021 and the committee has met 1 time

 – Terms of reference established

Terms of 
reference 

established

Membership of 
the committee 

was established by 
nominations to BOM.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the Committee is to:

 – provide strategic leadership, governance, 
guidance and support for the effective 
management of the DITT ICT environment 
aligned with the agency’s strategic plan

 – support agency compliance with the Territory 
Government ICT Governance Framework and 
the Treasurer’s Directions ICT Series



Annual Report 2020-21 131 

APPENDICES

Interim Emergency Management Committee
PURPOSE

In preparation for the 2020-21 wet season an 
interim Emergency Management Committee 
(EMC) was established to prepare the Agency for 
the upcoming wet season to ensure preparedness, 
response, business continuity and recovery. 

Interim membership as at 26 February 2021

Role Position Name
Chair Senior Executive Director Fisheries Ian Curnow

Member Director Emergency Management Jessica Arnold

Member Acting Executive Director Office of the Chief Executive Officer Wendy Pritchard

Member Executive Director Territory Engagement and Delivery Bill Sankey

Member Team Leader Critical Goods and Services Graham Tribe

Member Director Media and Communications Helena Bott

Member Director Digital - DCDD Phillipe Monforte

Member / 
Secretariat

Director Strategy, Performance and Governance Amanda Nobbs–Carcuro

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

Prepared  
and implemented 

the internal 
communications 

strategy
Implemented 

functional group 
arrangements

 – Developed the DITT Agency Emergency Plan

 – Prepared and implemented the internal communications strategy

 – Implemented functional group arrangements

 – Developed terms of reference and establishment of an ongoing Emergency 
Management Committee

 – The interim EMC met 4 times 

The interim committee has been dissolved and the Emergency Management 
Committee will commence in 2021-22 to oversee the development of Emergency 
Management policies, procedures and strategies within the department.
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People, Culture and Change  
Management Committee

PURPOSE

The PCCM Committee will provide guidance to 
drive, support and enhance the internal employee 
communications, engagement and change 
management strategies of the department. 

Membership as at 30 June 2021

Role Position Name
Chair Deputy Chief Executive Officer Agriculture, Fisheries and Defence Luke Bowen

Member Senior Director, Strategy and Policy Wendy Pritchard

Member Senior Director Racing and Gaming Mel Garde

Member Regional Director Southern Angus Duguid

Member Director Mineral Titles Denise Turnbull

Member Manager Business Innovation Krissy Breed

Member Senior Policy Officer Natrisha Barnett

Member Manager Digital Services Ian Crawshaw

Member Technical Officer Lorenzo Meschiari

Member Senior Petroleum Engineer Gibson Porkime

Member Director HR Business Partner - DCDD Kia Cashman

Member /Secretariat Strategy, Performance and Governance Toni Cutler

Summary of work 
performed during 
2020-21

The 
Committee 

Terms of 
Reference was 

developed
The PCCM Committee will 

provide guidance

 – The Committee terms of reference was developed and the committee's first meeting 
was held on 10 August 2021
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Appendix B – Statutory responsibilities and legislation administered

The Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade is 
responsible for the following principal areas of government 
and for administering the legislation detailed below.

 – Alcohol Policy

 – Animal protection

 – Apprenticeships and traineeships

 – Business and industry support and development

 – Business innovation support and development

 – Business and skilled migration

 – Casino, gaming, wagering and lotteries

 – Co-operatives

 – Defence community liaison

 – Development of defence-related industries

 – Desert Knowledge Australia

 – Domestic and international air services

 – Economic regulation (energy)

 – Energy industry development

 – Energy operations regulation

 – Energy policy and industry development

 – Energy (oil and gas) pipeline operation regulation and 
pipeline title administration

 – Energy (oil, gas and geothermal) titles administration 

 – Environmental management of geothermal energy 
operations

 – Environmental management of mining operations

 – Film, television and new media

 – Financial assistance to industry associations and business

 – Fishing (including recreational fishing)

 – Horseracing, trotting and greyhound racing

 – Hygienic production of meat for human consumption

 – Incorporated associations

 – Industry and economic analysis

 – Industry engagement and participation

 – International education strategy

 – Interstate agricultural quarantine 

 – Kava and tobacco

 – Labour market analysis

 – Liquor Commission 

 – Liquor

 – Mining development

 – Mining titles administration

 – Northern Australia development policy, coordination and 
intergovernmental liaison

 – NT Build

 – Northern Territory Geological Survey

 – Northern Territory Major Events Company

 – Occupational licences relating to land use, including 
building work

 – Occupational licenses relating to the other areas of 
government allotted to the Agency

 – Petroleum industry development

 – Petroleum titles administration

 – Primary industry biosecurity

 – Primary production and industry development

 – Private security industry

 – Procurement policy and reform

 – Procurement Review Board

 – Protection of consumers of veterinary services

 – Quality of training

 – Racing Commission

 – Regulation and management of mining and energy 
operations

 – Renewables strategic policy

 – Sex work industry

 – Smoking in liquor licensed premises

 – Territory Business Centres

 – Totalisators

 – Tourism NT

 – Trade and international engagement

 – Training and employment programs and assistance 
schemes

 – Utilities market regulation (energy)

 – Veterans’ support and engagement

 – Vocational education and training administration.
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Legislation
 – Agents Licensing Act 1979

 – Agriculture and Veterinary Chemicals (Control of Use)  
Act 2004

 – Agriculture and Veterinary Chemicals  
(Northern Territory) Act 1994

 – Animal Protection Act 2018

 – Animal Welfare Act 1999

 – Architects Act 1963

 – Associations Act 2003

 – Auctioneers Act 1935

 – Biological Control Act 1986

 – Biological Resources Act 2006

 – Bonaparte Gas Pipeline (Special Provisions) Act 2007

 – Building Act 1993 (provisions relating to the regulation and 
licensing of occupations)

 – Business Names (National Uniform Legislation) 
Implementation Act 2012

 – Business Names (National Uniform Legislation)  
Request Act 2011

 – Commercial and Private Agents Licensing Act 1979

 – Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 
2005

 – Co-operatives (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2015

 – Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading Act 1990  
(Parts 10 and 14)

 – Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003

 – Electrical Workers and Contractors Act 1978

 – Electricity Reform Act 2000 (except provisions about price 
and safety regulation, and provisions about supply and 
service provision under licence)

 – Energy Pipelines Act 1981

 – Fisheries Act 1988

 – Gaming Control Act 1993  
(except provisions about taxes and levies)

 – Gaming Machine Act 1995 (except Part 8)

 – Gene Technology (Northern Territory) Act 2004

 – Geothermal Energy Act 2009

 – Hemp Industry Act 2019

 – Kava Management Act 1998

 – Licensed Surveyors Act 1983  
(provisions relating to the regulation and licensing  
of occupations)

 – Liquor Act 2019

 – Liquor Commission Act 2018

 – Livestock Act 2008

 – McArthur River Project Agreement Ratification Act 1992 
(except provisions about royalties)

 – Meat Industries Act 1996

 – Merlin Project Agreement Ratification Act 1998  
(except provisions about royalties)

 – Minerals (Acquisition) Act 1953

 – Mineral Titles Act 2010

 – Mining (Gove Peninsula Nabalco Agreement) Act 1968 
(except provisions about royalties)

 – Mining Management Act 2001

 – National Electricity (Northern Territory)  
(National Uniform Legislation) Act 2015

 – National Gas (Northern Territory) Act 2008

 – North East Gas Interconnector Pipeline  
(Special Provisions) Act 2015

 – Petroleum Act 1984 (except provisions about royalties, 
provisions relating to environmental regulation of exploration 
and production of petroleum and Part V, Division 2)

 – Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1981

 – Plant Health Act 2008

 – Plumbers and Drainers Licensing Act 1983 (provisions 
relating to the regulation and licensing of occupations)

 – Plumbers and Drainers Licensing (Validation) Act 1990

 – Poppy Regulation Act 2014

 – Private Security Act 1995

 – Procurement Act 1995

 – Racing and Betting Act 1983  
(except Part IV, Division 5 and Part IVA, Division 5)

 – Sale of NT TAB Act 2000

 – Sex Industry Act 2019

 – Soccer Football Pools Act 1978  
(except provisions about duties)

 – Tanami Exploration Agreement Ratification Act 2004

 – Tobacco Control Act 2002 (provisions about smoking in 
liquor licensed premises, licensing and enforcement)

 – Totalisator Licensing and Regulation Act 2000 (except 
provisions about wagering tax)

 – Tourism NT Act 2012

 – Training and Skills Development Act 2016

 – Trans-Territory Pipeline and Blacktip Gas Projects  
(Special Provisions) Act 2005

 – Unlawful Betting Act 1989

 – Validation (Mining Tenements) Act 1987

 – Veterinarians Act 1994 
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Appendix C – Statutory and non-statutory authorities and boards

Aboriginal Tourism Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 2020

The Aboriginal Tourism Committee plays a key role in guiding 
implementation of the Northern Territory Aboriginal Tourism 
Strategy to achieve its vision of the Northern Territory 
becoming the undeniable leader in the provision of Aboriginal 
tourism experiences in Australia. It also contributes to 
developing sustainable and prosperous Aboriginal tourism 
enterprises across the Territory, leading to positive economic 
and social outcomes for Aboriginal communities.

Agents Licensing Board
Agents Licensing Act 1979

The purpose of the Board is to administer legislation, 
and to consider applications and complaints relating to 
conveyancing, real estate and business agents and their 
representatives. The Agents Licensing Board (Real Estate) 
and Agents Licensing Board (Conveyancing) meet collectively. 
There are 3 common members and 2 industry members from 
either the real estate industry or conveyancing industry who 
participate in considerations and decision-making involving 
their respective areas.

Agents Licensing Fidelity Guarantee Fund  
of the Northern Territory
Agents Licensing Act 1979

This Fund maintains and operates the monies of the Agents 
Licensing Fidelity Guarantee Fund, comprising interest on 
licensed agents’ trust accounts, licence and registration 
fees, interest on investments, and any fines imposed by the 
Agents Licensing Board.

Alice Springs Masters Games  
Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 2018

This Advisory Committee functioned in an advisory role to the 
department, and to the Minister for Tourism and Hospitality 
for delivery of the 2018 Alice Springs Masters Games.

Alice Springs Pastoral Industry 
 Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 1988

The purpose of the Advisory Committee is to:
 – advise the Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture on 
issues facing the cattle industry in the Alice Springs region

 – advise the Minister and relevant managers in the 
department on priority areas of research, development 
and adoption, and other services that will improve the 
productive efficiency of the pastoral Industry

 – receive and review the results of pastoral research carried 
out by the department and act as a body through which 
research results may be communicated to industry

 – participate in the planning of the department's programs 
that support and service the pastoral industry.

The Advisory Committee incorporates the Alice Springs 
Regional Beef Research Committee and as such has role 
of representing the Alice Springs region on the North 
Australia Beef Research Council, and the Meat and Livestock 
Australia's National Beef Industry Council.

Animal Welfare Advisory Committee
Animal Welfare Act 1999

The purpose of the Advisory Committee is to:
 – advise the Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture in 
relation to animal welfare legislation and other matters 
relevant to animal welfare

 – investigate and report on matters relevant to animal 
welfare referred by the Minister

 – participate in the development of codes of practice and 
the review of adopted codes of practice

 – provide advice to bodies, organisations or the general 
community on programs for the improvement of 
community awareness about animal welfare

 – provide advice on any other functions prescribed by the 
Regulations.
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Aquarium Fishery Management  
Advisory Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee provides advice on the 
development of a harvest strategy and management plan for 
the aquarium fishery.

Arafura Games 2021 Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by NT Major Events Company,  
and confirmed by the Minister in 2019

The purpose of the Advisory Committee was to provide 
strategic advice and support in the planning and delivery 
of the 2021 Arafura Games which was deferred due to 
Coronavirus (COVID-19).

Architects Board
Architects Act 1963

The Board is responsible for the registration of architects, 
architectural companies and architectural partnerships; 
regulation of architectural practices within the Northern 
Territory; conducting architect practice exams as part of the 
national system; and considering complaints in relation to 
registered architects.

Barkly Research Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 1987

The purpose of the Advisory Committee is to:
 – advise the Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture on 
issues facing the cattle industry in the Barkly region

 – advise the Minister and relevant DITT managers on 
priority areas of research, development and adoption, and 
other services that will improve the productive efficiency 
of the pastoral industry

 – receive and review the results of pastoral research carried 
out by DITT in the Barkly region and act as a body through 
which research results may be communicated to industry

 – participate in the planning of DITT’s programs that 
support and service the pastoral Industry

 – The Advisory Committee incorporates the Barkly Regional 
Beef Research Committee, and as such has a role of 
representing the Barkly region on the North Australia 
Beef Research Council and the Meat and Livestock 
Australia's National Beef Industry Council.

Barramundi Fishery Management Advisory 
Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee assists the Director of Fisheries in 
providing ongoing advice in relation to the administration of 
the Barramundi Fishery Management Plan.

Building Practitioners Board
Building Act 1993

The purpose of the Board is to register building practitioners 
(builders, building certifiers, certifying plumbers and 
drainers, and certifying engineers); maintain a system 
of performance reporting on practitioners; monitor the 
compliance of practitioners in accordance with registration 
requirements; monitor the competence and profession 
conduct of practitioners; and conduct inquiries into the 
work and conduct of practitioners, and if necessary, take 
disciplinary action.

Coastal Line Fishery Management  
Advisory Committee 
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee was established to advise 
and assist the Director of Fisheries in developing a 
comprehensive management framework for the Northern 
Territory Coastal Line Fishery. The Coastal Line Fishery 
Management Advisory Committee expired in 2020, and will 
not be renewed as it has been replaced by an advisory group, 
the aim of which is to finalise the advice from the Advisory 
Committee.

Community Benefit Committee
Gaming Control Act 1993

The Committee considers applications for major grants from 
the Community Benefit Fund and makes recommendations 
to the Minister in relation to these applications.

Desert Knowledge Australia
Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003

Desert Knowledge Australia was established to provide 
direction and oversee the activities of Desert Knowledge 
Australia.

Part 3 and sections 11 to 20 of the Act establishes a Board of 
Desert Knowledge Australia. The Act is therefore the Terms 
of Reference/legislative framework for Board functions.
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Electrical Workers and Contractors  
Licensing Board
Electrical Workers and Contractors Act 1978

The Board registers electrical workers; maintains the 
register of electrical workers; conducts inquiries into the 
work and conduct of electrical workers; and if necessary, 
takes disciplinary action.

Katherine Pastoral Industry  
Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 1989

The purpose of the Advisory Committee is to:
 – provide advice on pastoral Industry issues

 – identify problems and needs that may be solved by 
research, development, education, extension and training

 – monitor the progression of research projects and 
programs in the region

 – report to the North Australia Beef Research Council on 
achievements.

The Advisory Committee incorporates the Katherine 
Regional Beef Research Committee.

Mining Board
Mining Management Act 2001

The purpose of the Board is to:
 – advise the Minister responsible for mines on matters 
relevant to mining activities and their management, 
including best practice mining activities in and outside 
Australia; consistency of legislation, guidelines and 
competencies in and outside Australia; competencies 
required by persons in respect of specified mining 
activities; and competencies required by mining officers

 – develop guidelines and other forms of assistance to 
persons involved in mining activities, and recommend to 
the Minister for approval

 – investigate and research matters relevant to mining 
activities and their management 

 – constitute a review panel for the purposes of Part 8 of the 
Act (Review of decisions).

NT Build
Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 2005

NT Build is a body corporate established pursuant to section 
53 of the Construction Industry Long Service Leave and 
Benefits Act 2005 (the Act) to administer the NT Build 
Portable Long Service Leave Scheme, and to advise and make 
recommendations to the Minister about operation of the Act.

Northern Territory Fishing Industry Research 
and Development Fund Advisory Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee provides advice to the Minister for 
Agribusiness and Aquaculture on the disbursement of funds 
from the Northern Territory Fishing Industry Research and 
Development Trust Fund.

Northern Territory Liquor Commission 
Liquor Commission Act 2018

The Commission regulates liquor licensing in the Northern 
Territory under the Act and the Liquor Act 2019.

Northern Territory Major Events  
Company Board
Northern Territory Major Events Company Pty Ltd is a 
fully-owned subsidiary of the NTG, incorporated under the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), and established in 1999.

The Northern Territory Major Events Company Board 
oversees the coordination and direction of the events portfolio. 
It inquiries into, and reports back on matters referred by the 
Chief Minister and the Minister for Major Events.

Northern Territory Mud Crab Fishery 
Management Advisory Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee provides advice to the Director 
of Fisheries on management of the Northern Territory Mud 
Crab Fishery.

Northern Territory Pearling Industry Advisory 
Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee provides advice to the Director of 
Fisheries on the management of the NT Pearl Oyster Fishery 
and Pearl Oyster Culture Industry.
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NT Veterans' Affairs Ministerial  
Advisory Council
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2016

The Advisory Council provides advice to the Northern 
Territory Minister responsible for Veterans’ Affairs on 
matters of interest and issues affecting serving and ex-
serving members of the ADF and their families in the 
Territory. 

Offshore Snapper Fisheries Management 
Advisory Committee
Fisheries Act 1988

The Advisory Committee provides high-level strategic advice 
to the Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture regarding 
the management of the Northern Territory Demersal and 
Timor Reef Fisheries. This includes (but is not limited to) 
advice regarding:

 – research, management, compliance and enforcement of 
the fisheries

 – resource sharing and access

 – optimising the economic viability of the fisheries

 – any other matter referred to the committee for 
consideration by the Minister or Director of Fisheries.

Plumbers and Drainers Licensing Board
Plumbers and Drainers Licensing Act 1983

The Board issues Advance Tradesman Licence and 
Journeyman Licence cards and investigates complaints, and 
takes disciplinary action, if necessary.

Procurement Review Board
Procurement Act 1995

The Procurement Review Board (PRB) is established 
pursuant to section 6 of the Procurement Act 1995. The 
PRB determines appeals in relation to the eligibility or 
admissibility of a quote to tender in accordance with 
the Procurement Directions; reviews or audits agencies’ 
procurement procedures or activity; and advises the 
Minister, agencies or any other person in relation to 
procurement procedures or activity in agencies.

Racing Appeals Tribunal
Racing and Betting Act 1983

The Tribunal hears and determines appeals over a certain 
threshold against penalties imposed arising from, or in 
relation to, the conduct of greyhound, trotting and horse 
racing in the Northern Territory.

Racing Commission 
Racing and Betting Act 1983

The key functions of the Commission include:
 – licensing and regulating bookmakers including sports 
bookmakers

 – resolving betting disputes

 – controlling and developing greyhound racing

 – investigating matters relating to racing in the  
Northern Territory.

Recreational Fishing Advisory Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 2013

Provides a forum for discussion and a source of advice to 
the Territory Government on matters significant to the 
recreational fishing community. An independent Chair 
is appointed by the Minister for Recreational Fishing to 
oversee the operation of Recreational Fishing Advisory 
Committee.

Screen Grants Assessment Panel 
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 2020.

Provides specialist project assessors to make 
recommendations for funding from the Screen Territory's 
grant program. Formerly known as the Screen Territory 
Advisory Panel, the name was changed in May 2020. 

Screen Industry Advisory Council
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in 2018.

Provides expert advice and feedback to the Minister, 
through the Chief Executive Officer, on matters related 
to the development and growth of the Northern Territory 
screen industry.
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Surveyors Board
Licensed Surveyors Act 1983

Maintains the Register of Licensed Surveyors and manages 
the processional training of graduates which leads to the 
licensing process. The Board provides reciprocal agreement 
between states and letters of competency for Northern 
Territory licensed surveyors; applies disciplinary action 
to licensed surveyors as appropriate; set Survey Practice 
Directions, and monitor and maintain them to current best 
practice, as well as the presentation of Survey Plan Drawing 
Standards; as soon as practicable after 1 January each year, 
and publishes a list of all surveyors.

Tourism NT Board of Commissioners
Tourism NT Act 2012

The main role of the Board of Commissioners is to determine 
Tourism NT policy and ensure that the organisation performs 
in a proper and efficient manner.

Delivers on the NT Government's commitment to revitalise 
the tourism industry through overseeing marketing the 
Territory as a desirable visitor destination and facilitating 
sustainable growth of the tourism industry in the Territory.

Veterinary Board of the Northern Territory
Veterinarians Act 1994

Purpose is to register veterinarians and promote high 
standards of professional conduct in the provision of 
veterinary services in the Northern Territory.
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Appendix D – Grants

Industry and Economic Analysis

Grant name Total ($000)

Contractor Accreditation Limited Funding  969 

Darwin Region Water Supply Work Program Funding  175 

Steel Sector Supply Chain Study  40 

Cooperative Research Centre For Developing Northern Australia Ltd  150 

Total  1,334 

Business, Innovation and Workforce

Grant name Total ($000)

NT Board of Studies Awards, Business and Enterprise Sponsorship  1 

Business Growth Program  2,418 

Smarter Business Solutions  354 

Community Based Childcare Centre Program  45 

Aboriginal Business Development Program  1,220 

Industry Support Program  5,712 

Hospitality NT Sponsorship  10 

Home Renovation Grant  5,608 

Business Security Program  8,587 

Alcohol Secure Program  189 

Welcome to the Territory Incentive  155 

Home & Business Battery Scheme  3,006 

JOBS RESCUE AND RECOVERY PLAN:

Home Improvement Scheme  64,410 

Business Improvement Grant  7,491 

Immediate Works Grant  7,821 

Small Business Survival Fund  6,083 

Business Rebound & Adaptation Grant  334 
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Grant name Total ($000)

JOBS FIRST PLAN:

Small Business Pivot Grant  714 

JobMaker Booster - Scheme 1 (Small Businesses)  1 

JobMaker Booster - Scheme 2 (Worker Attraction Campaign Grant)  15 

Financial Fitness Fund - Peak Bodies  300 

Financial Fitness Fund - Training Providers  90 

Survival Payment - Small Business  250 

Survival Payment - Not-for-Profit Tourism Attraction  35 

Small Business Customer Experience Grant  1,348 

Work Stay Play  23 

Territory Business Lockdown Payment  69 

BUSINESS INNOVATION SUPPORT INITIATIVES

Business Accelerator Program  775 

Innovator in Residence Program  30 

Business Innovation Support Initiatives  826 

Digital Partnership Program  368 

Desert Knowledge Australia  560 

Provider Training Funding  44,958 

NT Working Women's Centre  201 

Centre For Appropriate Technology  179 

Training Loan Scheme  28 

User Choice Funding  16,952 

NT Group Training Program  152 

Australian Apprenticeship Centre  1,505 

Workwear and Workgear Bonus Scheme  980 

Aboriginal Responsive Skilling Grants  1,166 

Build Skills  1,401 

Pre-Employment  50 

Aboriginal Workforce Development Grants  229 

NT Equity Training Programs  186 

Territory Workforce Programs  2,297 

Outstanding Academic Achievement in Bachelor of Science Sponsorship  1 

Industry Advice  3,183 
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Grant name Total ($000)

NT Training Awards  40 

Worldskills  11 

Higher Education Scholarships  448 

Future Skills Program  810 

Training Infrastructure Fund  1,269 

Skilling Australia Fund  4,391 

Infection Control Program  45 

JobTrainer Fund  362 

Chamber of Commerce Seasonal Worker Project  150 

Territory Jobs Hub Funding  46 

Regional Economic Development Fund  148 

Remote Aboriginal Economic Development Fund  15 

Study in the NT Scholarship  16 

International Student Wellbeing Grant  207 

Webinar Grant  7 

Student Sentiment Survey  3 

Council of International Students Australia Pilot Program  10 

Export Business Luncheon  11 

Industry Development Support Program  15 

DEFENCE COMMUNITY PROGRAMS:

Remembrance Day Commemoration 0

Anzac Day funding 2

Territory Proud Program 1

Total  200,323 

Agriculture and Fisheries

Grant name Total ($000)

Agriculture Seasonal Workers Funding  133 

On-Farm Emergency Water Infrastructure Rebate Scheme  530 

Agriculture Industry Development Grant  238 

Cooperative Research Centre For Developing Northern Australia Ltd  50 

World Fisheries Congress Sponsorship  5 
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Grant name Total ($000)

Fisheries Industry Development Grant  228 

Aboriginal Marine Rangers Grant  420 

National Biosecurity Responses Contribution  397 

Animal Welfare Grant  100 

Total  2,101

Mining and Energy

Grant name Total ($000)

Earth Sciences, Mining and Petroleum Scholarship  8 

Geophysics and Drilling Collaborations Program  591 

Geoscience Australia Gravity Funding  900 

Gas Industry Social and Environmental Research Alliance Funding  500 

Develop Centre of Excellence for Renewable Energy  1,500 

Australian Energy Market Commission Funding  50 

Energy Special Account Funding  41 

Modelling Future Solar Energy Production  79 

Total  3,669 

Licensing

Grant name Total ($000)

Thoroughbred Racing NT Operational Grant  14,404 

Darwin Greyhound Association Operational Grant  577 

Mail Order Lotteries  406 

Community Benefit Fund Minor Grant  305 

Community Benefit Fund Major Grant  605 

Community Benefit Fund Major Community Events  1,189 

Community Benefit Fund Gambling Amelioration Grant  1,744 

Community Benefit Fund Minor Capital Grant  1,220 

Community Benefit Fund Major Capital Grant  4,185 

Community Benefit Fund Vehicle Grant  194 

Total  24,829 
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Tourism, Services and Hospitality

Grant name Total ($000)

Visitor Experience Enhancement Program  1,297 

New Visitor Experience Program  82 

Roadhouse to Recovery Grant  1,839 

Aboriginal Tourism Grant  193 

NT Business Events Sponsorships, Partnership Marketing and Other Grants  457 

Territory Tourism Voucher Scheme  9,574 

Regional Tourism Organisations and Visitor Information Centres  2,305 

Industry Support  296 

Business Enterprise  150 

Book Now Digital Support Program  52 

Cooperative Marketing  5,995 

Mates Rates  1,250 

Save and Learn Program  26 

Screen Territory - Production Funding  1,246 

Screen Territory - Unreal Engine Real-Time Short Film Challenge Grant Program  20 

Screen Territory - Story Development  181 

Screen Territory - Industry Partnerships  15 

Screen Territory - Career Development  25 

Screen Territory - Travel Support  5 

Screen Territory - Audience Development  73 

Screen Territory - Business Enterprise  250 

Screen Territory - No Ordinary Black Initiative  30 

Northern Territory Major Events Company Pty Ltd  30,613 

Total  55,974 

TOTAL GRANTS  288,230
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Appendix E – International dignitaries engaged
 – Ambassador of Norway to Australia 

 – Consul-General of Japan to the Northern Territory

 – Ambassador of Korea - Republic of Korea to Australia

 – First Secretary High Commission of Singapore to Australia

 – Ambassador of Timor-Leste to Australia

 – Consul-General of the United Kingdom to the Northern Territory

 – Consul-General of Korea - Republic of Korea to the Northern Territory

 – High Commissioner of Canada to Australia 

 – Ambassador of Japan to Australia 

 – Consul-General of the United States of America to the Northern Territory

 – Ambassador of Germany to Australia 

 – Deputy Head of Mission of Denmark to Australia

 – Ambassador of Italy to Australia 

 – Consul-General of the United States of America to the Northern Territory

 – Ambassador of the European Union to Australia

 – European Union delegation of 17 trade and investment commissioners from  
14 European Union member-states: Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia,  
Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Poland, Spain

 – High Commissioner of Pakistan to Australia

 – Deputy High Commissioner of Pakistan to Australia

 – First Secretary High Commission of the United Kingdom to Australia.
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Appendix F – Contact us

Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade 

GPO Box 3200, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8982 1700

General contact: businessinfo@nt.gov.au  
Chief Executive Officer: ceo.ditt@nt.gov.au 

Territory Business Centres

T: 1800 193 111 
E: territory.businesscentre@nt.gov.au 

Top End

Territory Business Centre (Darwin)

Building 3, Darwin Corporate Park 631 Stuart Highway, 
Berrimah, NT 0828

Fisheries 

33 Vaughan Street, Berrimah NT 0828 
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8999 2144 
E: fisheries@nt.gov.au

Charles Darwin Centre

19 Smith Street Mall, Darwin NT 0800  
GPO Box 1448, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8999 6576

Beatrice Hill Farm

110 Anzac Parade, Middle Point NT 0822  
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 0427 002 804

Berrimah Farm Science Precinct  
(Darwin Regional Office)

29 Makagon Road, Berrimah NT 0828 
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8999 2006

Centrepoint Building

Paspalis Centrepoint, Smith Street Mall, Darwin NT 0800  
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8999 5511

Coastal Plains Research Farm

350 Anzac Parade, Middle Point NT 0822 
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8988 8085

Darwin Aquaculture Centre

1840 Channel Island Rd, Darwin NT 0822  
GPO Box 3000, Darwin NT 0801 
T: 08 8924 4260

Douglas Daly Research Farm

Jungawa Road, Douglas Daly NT 0822  
PMB 105, Winnellie NT 0822 
T: 08 8978 2442

Victoria River Research Station  
(Kidman Springs)

13774 Buchanan Highway, Victoria River NT 0852  
PMB 48, Katherine NT 0852 
T: 08 8975 0762
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Big Rivers Region

Katherine Research Station  
(Katherine Regional Office)

449 Stuart Highway, Katherine NT 0850 
PO Box 1346, Katherine NT 0851 
T: 08 8973 9739

Territory Business Centre

Shop 1, Randazzo Building, 18 Katherine Terrace, 
Katherine, NT 0850 
T: 1800 193 111

Central Australia

Alice Springs office

Ground Floor, The Greenwell Building, 50 Bath Street, 
Alice Springs NT 0870 
T: 08 8951 8492

Tourism NT

Level 1, Alice Plaza, Cnr Todd Mall and Parsons Street, 
Alice Springs NT 0870 
PO Box 1120, Alice Springs NT 0871  
T: 08 8951 8418

Arid Zone Research Institute  
(Alice Springs Regional Office)

519 South Stuart Highway, Alice Springs NT 0870  
GPO Box 8760, Alice Springs NT 0871 
T: 08 8951 8111

Old Man Plains Research Station

519 South Stuart Highway, Alice Springs NT 0870  
PO Box 8760, Alice Springs NT 0871 
T: 08 8951 8111

Barkly 

Territory Business Centre

Shop 2, Barkly House, Corner Davidson and Patterson 
Streets, Tennant Creek, NT 0860

Tennant Creek Regional Office

99 Paterson Street, Tennant Creek NT 0860  
PO Box 159, Tennant Creek NT 0861 
T: 08 8962 4488

Other contacts

Freedom of Information requests 

Freedom of Information DITT 
GPO Box 3200 
Darwin NT 0801 
Email: foi.ditt@nt.gov.au 
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Appendix G – Acronyms

Abbreviation Full form

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ADF Australian Defence Force 

AGES Annual Geoscience Exploration Seminar

AOTA Accountable Officers Trust Account

ATO Australian Tax Office

BDR Banned Drinker Register

BOM Board of Management

CDU Charles Darwin University

CEO Chief Executive Officer

DAGJ Department of the Attorney General and Justice

DAP Disability Action Plan

DCDD Department of Corporate and Digital Development

DEPWS Department Environment, Parks and Water Security

DIPL Department of Infrastructure Planning and Logistics 

DITT Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade

DPIR Department of Primary Industry and Resources

DTBI Department of Trade, Business and Innovation

DTSC Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture

EMG Executive Management Group

FMA Financial Management Act 1995

FOI Freedom of Information

FVOCI Fair Value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL Fair Value through Profit or Loss

GST Goods and Services Tax

ICT Information and Communications Technology

KMP Key Management Personal

MMP Mine Management Plans

MoG Machinery of Government 

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme
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Abbreviation Full form

NLC Northern Land Council

NP National partnership

NTCA Northern Territory Cattlemen’s Association 

NTG Northern Territory Government

NTMEC Northern Territory Major Events Company

NTPASS Northern Territory Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme

NTPFES Northern Territory Police, Fire and Emergency Services

NTPS Northern Territory Public Service 

OCPE Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment

PCCMC People, Culture and Change Management Committee

PSEMA Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993

QRIDA Queensland Rural and Industry Development Authority

RAAF Royal Australian Air Force

RMAC Risk Management and Audit Committee 

RSA Responsible Service of Alcohol

RTO Registered Training Organisation

TED Territory Engagement and Delivery

TERC Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission

VEEP Visitor Experience Enhancement Program

VET Vocational Education and Training

WHS Work Health and Safety
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